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UnumProvident Corporation

$575,000,000

5.997% Senior Notes due 2008

This prospectus supplement relates to the remarketing and interest rate reset of $575,000,000 aggregate principal amount of
6.00% senior notes issued by UnumProvident Corporation in May 2003, which we refer to in this prospectus supplement as the
�senior notes.� The senior notes were issued as a component of our 8.25% Adjustable Conversion-Rate Equity Security Units, which
we refer to in this prospectus supplement as the �equity security units.� Each equity security unit currently consists of (i) a contract
obligating the holder to purchase, for $25, shares of UnumProvident common stock on May 15, 2006, and (ii) a 1/40, or 2.5%,
ownership interest in a senior note of UnumProvident, with a principal amount of $1,000.

The senior notes will mature on May 15, 2008. We will make a quarterly interest payment on the senior notes in arrears on
February 15, 2006 and May 15, 2006 and, following the stock purchase date of May 15, 2006, we will make semi-annual interest
payments in arrears on each of May 15 and November 15 until maturity on May 15, 2008. The interest rate on the senior notes was
reset at 5.997% per annum, effective on and after February 15, 2006. The senior notes are issuable in denominations of $1,000
and integrable multiples of $1,000.

The senior notes are unsecured and rank equally with all of our other unsecured and unsubordinated debt. In addition, the senior
notes are structurally subordinated to any indebtedness of our subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2005, we had approximately
$2,862 million of senior debt outstanding and the aggregate amount of indebtedness of our subsidiaries (excluding intercompany
liabilities) was approximately $400 million. If a special event occurs and is continuing, we may, at our option, redeem the senior
notes in whole, but not in part, at the redemption price described in this prospectus supplement under �Description of the
Remarketed Senior Notes�Special event redemption.�
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In this remarketing, UnumProvident submitted an order to purchase $400 million in aggregate principal amount of the senior notes
and will retire all the senior notes it purchases. UnumProvident will not receive any proceeds from the remarketing. See �Use of
Proceeds� in this prospectus supplement.

Investing in the senior notes involves risks. We urge you to carefully read the � Risk Factors� section beginning on page
S-13 of this prospectus supplement before you make any decision to invest in the senior notes.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of
these senior notes or determined if this prospectus supplement or the accompanying prospectus is truthful or complete. Any
representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

Per Senior

Note Total
Price to the public (1) 100.666% $ 578,827,408
Remarketing fee to remarketing agent (2)       0.25% $ 1,443,460
(1) Plus accrued interest from and including February 15, 2006, if settlement occurs after that date.
(2) Based on remarketing fee of 0.25% of the remarketing value. A substantial portion of the remarketing fee will be rebated to UnumProvident

Corporation upon the closing of this offering.

The senior notes are not, and are not expected to be, listed on any securities exchange or included in any automated quotation
system.

The remarketing agent expects to deliver the senior notes in book-entry form only through the facilities of The Depository Trust
Company on or about February 15, 2006.

Remarketing Agent

JPMorgan
February 10, 2006
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ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT

You should read this prospectus supplement along with the prospectus that follows, and the documents incorporated by
reference in this and that document. The information contained in or incorporated by reference into this prospectus
supplement supersedes any inconsistent information contained in the accompanying prospectus. You should rely only
on the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement and, except as stated above, in
the accompanying prospectus. We and the remarketing agent have not authorized anyone to provide you with different
information. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. We and the
remarketing agent are not making an offer to sell these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer is not permitted. You
should not assume that the information contained in this prospectus supplement is accurate as of any date other than the
date of this prospectus supplement.

Unless we have indicated otherwise, or the context otherwise requires, references in this prospectus supplement and the
accompanying prospectus to �UnumProvident,� �we,� �us,� and �our� or similar terms are to UnumProvident Corporation and its
subsidiaries.
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PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT SUMMARY

This summary contains selected information about us and this offering. Because this is a summary, it may not contain all the
information that may be important to you. You should read this entire prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus
carefully, including, but not limited to, the information set forth under �Risk Factors� and our consolidated financial statements and
the schedules and related notes and Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and
the other information incorporated by reference into this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus.

UnumProvident Corporation

We are the surviving corporation in the merger on June 30, 1999, of Provident Companies Inc., the leading individual income
protection insurance provider in North America, with Unum Corporation, the leading group income protection insurance provider.
Prior to the merger, Unum Corporation acquired Unum Limited, the leading income protection insurer in the United Kingdom, in
1990, and in 1993, it merged with Colonial Companies, Inc., the parent company of Colonial Life & Accident Insurance Company, a
leader in payroll marketing of a broad line of supplemental insurance products. Also prior to the merger, Provident Companies Inc.
acquired Paul Revere Life, a leading provider of individual income protection insurance in North America. We are the parent
holding company for a group of insurance and non-insurance companies that collectively operate throughout the U.S. and the U.K.
Our principal operating subsidiaries in the U.S. are Unum Life Insurance Company of America, Provident Life and Accident
Insurance Company, The Paul Revere Life Insurance Company, and Colonial Life & Accident Insurance Company, and, in the
U.K., Unum Limited. We are the largest provider of group and individual income protection insurance products and a leading
provider of life, accident, and long-term care products in the U.S. and the U.K.

Effective July 1, 2005, we modified our reporting segments to better align our external reporting with internal management of our
business lines. We separated our U.S. business from that of our U.K subsidiary Unum Limited. We now manage and operate our
business in six different segments. Our new reporting segments are comprised of the following: U.S. Brokerage, Unum Limited,
Colonial, Individual Income Protection � Closed Block, Other and Corporate. The U.S. Brokerage segment includes insurance for
loss of income due to either sickness or injury or the loss of two or more �activities of daily living.� Included within this segment are
group income protection, comprised of long-term and short-term income protection insurance; group life, comprised of group life
insurance, accidental death and dismemberment and special risk insurance; and the supplemental and voluntary insurance
segment, comprised of individual income protection insurance, voluntary worksite benefits and group and individual long-term care
insurance. The products in our U.S. Brokerage segment are marketed primarily to employers and multi-life employee groups by our
sales force and national practice groups, working in conjunction with independent brokers and consultants. The Unum Limited
(U.K.) segment is comprised mainly of insurance for group income protection, group life and group critical illness and also includes
insurance for individual income protection. The Colonial segment includes insurance for life, income protection, accident and
sickness, cancer, and critical illness issued by Colonial Life & Accident Insurance Company and marketed primarily to employees
through our agency field sales force. The Individual Income Protection�Closed Block segment is generally
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comprised of individual income protection policies in force prior to our substantial changes in product offerings, pricing, distribution,
and underwriting that generally occurred during the period of 1994 through 1998. A minimal amount of new business continued to
be sold in this segment subsequent to these changes, but we ceased selling new policies in this segment at the beginning of 2004,
other than update features contractually allowable on existing policies. The Other segment includes disability management services
and U.S. Brokerage insured products not actively marketed (with the exception of certain individual income protection products),
including individual life and corporate-owned life insurance, reinsurance pools and management operations, group pension, health
insurance and individual annuities. The Corporate segment includes investment income on corporate assets not specifically
allocated to a line of business, corporate interest expense, and certain corporate expenses not allocated to a line of business.
There were no changes effective July 1, 2005 to our Colonial, Individual Income Protection�Closed Block, or Corporate segments.

Ratings

Standard & Poor�s Rating Services, Moody�s Investor Services, Inc., Fitch, Inc. and A.M. Best Company are among the third parties
that provide assessments of our overall financial position. Ratings from these agencies for financial strength are available for
certain of our U.S. insurance subsidiaries. Financial strength ratings are based primarily on statutory financial information for these
individual insurance companies. These debt ratings are based primarily on consolidated financial information prepared using
generally accepted accounting principles. Both financial strength ratings and debt ratings incorporate qualitative analyses by rating
agencies on an ongoing basis.

The table below reflects, as of the date of this prospectus supplement, the senior debt ratings for us and the financial strength
ratings for our U.S. insurance company subsidiaries.

AM Best Fitch Moody�s S&P
Senior Debt bbb- BBB-(Good) Ba1 BB+

(Speculative)

U.S. Insurance Subsidiaries
Provident Life & Accident A-(Excellent) A-(Strong) Baa1 BBB+(Good)

(Adequate)
Provident Life & Casualty A-(Excellent) Not Rated Not Rated Not Rated
Unum Life of America A-(Excellent) A-(Strong) Baa1 BBB+(Good)

(Adequate)
First Unum Life A-(Excellent) A-(Strong) Baa1 BBB+(Good)

(Adequate)
Colonial Life & Accident A-(Excellent) A-(Strong) Baa1 BBB+(Good)

(Adequate)
Paul Revere Life A-(Excellent) A-(Strong) Baa1 BBB+(Good)

(Adequate)
Paul Revere Variable A-(Excellent) A-(Strong) Baa1 BBB+(Good)

(Adequate)
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These ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell, or hold our securities or those of our subsidiaries. Each rating is subject to
revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating organization, and each rating should be evaluated independently of any
other rating.

See �Ratings� included in �Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations� contained in our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005 for further discussion of our ratings from these agencies.

Recent Developments

On January 30, 2006, the Company reported its results for the fourth quarter of 2005. Net income was $137.5 million ($0.43 per
diluted common share) for the fourth quarter of 2005, compared to $134.5 million ($0.45 per diluted common share) for the fourth
quarter of 2004. Included in the results for the fourth quarter of 2005 are net realized after tax investment gains of $1.5 million,
compared to net realized after tax investment gains of $16.8 million in the fourth quarter of 2004. Also included in the fourth quarter
of 2004 was a charge of $87.8 million after tax ($0.29 per diluted common share) related to the settlement of the multistate market
conduct examination and income of $51.1 million after tax ($0.17 per diluted common share) attributable to settlements with the
Internal Revenue Service.

Results by Segment

In the following discussions of the Company�s segment operating results, �operating revenue� excludes net realized investment gains
and losses. �Operating income� or �operating loss� excludes income tax and net realized investment gains and losses.

The U.S. Brokerage segment reported operating income of $103.9 million in the fourth quarter of 2005, compared to $15.7 million
in the fourth quarter of 2004. The 2004 results included a reserve charge of $80.8 million and operating expense charge of $37.6
million related to the multistate market conduct examination settlement agreements.

Within this segment, the U.S. Brokerage group income protection line of business reported operating income of $13.6 million in the
fourth quarter of 2005, compared to an operating loss of $88.6 million in the fourth quarter of 2004, which included the $80.2 million
reserve charge and $36.5 million operating expense charge related to the multistate market conduct examination settlement
agreements. The results for the fourth quarter of 2004 also included $9.9 million in increased net investment income due to the
periodic adjustment of amortization on mortgage-backed securities. The benefit ratio for group income protection was 93.9 percent
in the fourth quarter of 2005, compared to 104.7 percent in the fourth quarter of 2004. Claim recoveries and the timing of claim
decisions continued to be adversely impacted by the implementation of organizational and procedural changes. Claim incidence
trends on a submitted basis in the Company�s group long-term income protection line in the fourth quarter of 2005 were slightly
lower compared with the third quarter of 2005 and with the levels of the year ago quarter. Premium income in group income
protection declined 4.0 percent to $629.7 million in the fourth quarter of 2005, compared to $656.2 million in the fourth quarter of
2004, reflecting lower sales in recent quarters as the Company has focused on improving the profitability of the business. Sales of
fully insured group long-term income protection products in the fourth quarter of 2005 declined 14.7 percent to $68.1 million,
compared to $79.8 million in
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the year ago quarter, and sales of fully insured group short-term income protection products in the fourth quarter of 2005 increased
14.0 percent to $32.6 million, compared to $28.6 million in the year ago quarter. For both of these lines, sales in the core small and
mid-sized markets improved significantly relative to the year ago quarter while sales in the large case market declined. Premium
persistency in the group long-term income protection line of business was 84.8 percent for both the full year 2005 and 2004.

The U.S. Brokerage segment�s group life and accidental death and dismemberment lines of business reported operating income of
$43.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2005, compared to operating income of $62.1 million in the fourth quarter of 2004. The decline
in earnings primarily reflects a decline in revenue in both the group life and AD&D lines and a higher benefit ratio in the AD&D line.
The benefit ratio in the group life line in the fourth quarter of 2005 was stable relative to the fourth quarter of 2004. Premium income
for these lines of business declined 8.3 percent to $366.1 million in the fourth quarter of 2005, compared to $399.4 million in the
fourth quarter of 2004, reflecting lower sales and persistency in recent quarters as the Company has focused on improving the
profitability of the business in a competitive market environment. Sales of group life products in the fourth quarter of 2005 declined
7.8 percent to $64.2 million, compared to $69.6 million in the year ago quarter, with a decline in large case sales offsetting
increased sales in the core small and mid-sized markets. Premium persistency in the group life line of business was 78.3 percent
for the full year 2005, compared to 84.0 percent for full year 2004. The decline in persistency was due to higher terminations of
some larger cases which had been targeted for significant rate increases.

Also within this segment, the U.S. Brokerage supplemental and voluntary lines of business reported operating income of $46.8
million in the fourth quarter of 2005, compared to $42.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2004. Excluding the reserve charges of $0.6
million and operating expense charges of $1.1 million related to the multistate market conduct examination settlement agreements,
operating income in the fourth quarter of 2004 was $43.9 million. The improvement in earnings is primarily driven by improved
results in the individual income protection � recently issued and long-term care lines of business. Premium income increased 6.6
percent to $313.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2005, compared to $293.7 million in the fourth quarter of 2004. New annualized
sales in the voluntary workplace benefits line of business increased 4.2 percent and individual income protection � recently issued
sales increased 5.6 percent in the fourth quarter of 2005 relative to the fourth quarter of 2004, while long-term care sales declined
15.2 percent compared with the year ago quarter.

The Unum Limited segment reported operating income of $49.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2005, compared to $46.7 million in
the fourth quarter of 2004. Operating income in this segment benefited from strong premium growth, a slightly lower benefit ratio
resulting from favorable claims management results, and a lower expense ratio relative to the year ago quarter. Premium income
for this segment increased 12.0 percent to $198.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2005, compared to $177.0 million in the fourth
quarter of 2004. New annualized sales in this segment declined 35.0 percent to $24.9 million in the fourth quarter of 2005 from
$38.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2004 due primarily to higher sales during 2004 that resulted from the exit of a major insurer
from the U.K. market and due to the competitive environment in the U.K. for group life products and the Company�s decision to
maintain its pricing discipline.
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The Colonial segment reported operating income of $38.7 million in the fourth quarter of 2005, compared to $40.0 million in the
fourth quarter of 2004. Results in this segment in the fourth quarter of 2005 were negatively impacted by $6.8 million due to
litigation costs. Premium income for this segment increased 5.8 percent to $200.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2005, compared to
$189.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2004. New annualized sales in this segment increased 5.3 percent to $97.3 million in the
fourth quarter of 2005 from $92.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2004.

The Individual Income Protection � Closed Block segment reported operating income of $33.7 million in the fourth quarter of 2005,
compared to income of $37.8 million in the fourth quarter of 2004. Excluding the reserve charge of $3.7 million and operating
expense charge of $4.9 million related to the multistate market conduct examination settlement agreements, operating income in
the fourth quarter of 2004 was $46.4 million. The decline in income is primarily due to the periodic adjustment of amortization on
mortgage-backed securities which increased net investment income by $13.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2004. Claim incidence
trends were generally stable with the levels of the prior quarter and year ago quarter; however, claim recovery experience was
generally lower than the experience of the prior quarter and year ago quarter.

The Other segment reported operating income of $8.9 million in the fourth quarter of 2005, compared to $8.3 million in the fourth
quarter of 2004.

The Corporate segment, which includes investment earnings on corporate assets not specifically allocated to a line of business,
corporate interest expense, and certain other corporate expenses, reported a loss of $43.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2005,
compared to a loss of $31.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2004. Included in the fourth quarter of 2004 was income of $14.0 million
before tax attributable to the interest portion of settlements with the Internal Revenue Service which entitled the Company to a
refund of tax plus interest.

During the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company recorded an expense of $9.1 million before tax, or $5.9 million after tax ($0.02 per
diluted common share), reflecting a termination fee paid to exit an existing contract with an information technology provider. The
Company has entered into an agreement with a new provider which is expected to result in a significantly less costly
infrastructure. This fourth quarter expense is reflected primarily in the operating expenses of the U.S. Brokerage and Colonial
segments.

Also during the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company recognized tax benefits related to U.K. repatriated dividends and group tax
relief of $8.8 million ($0.03 per diluted common share).

The Company�s average number of shares outstanding, assuming dilution, was 318,681,427 for the fourth quarter of 2005,
compared to 302,248,001 for the fourth quarter of 2004.

Book value per common share at December 31, 2005 was $24.66, compared to $24.36 at December 31, 2004.
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Selected Earnings Data

UnumProvident Corporation

and Subsidiaries

Three Months Ended

December 31

Year Ended

December 31

($ in millions, except share data)
2005

(unaudited) 2004
2005

(unaudited) 2004
Operating Revenue by Segment $ 2,662.3 $ 2,650.8 $ 10,443.9 $ 10,435.7
Net Realized Investment Gain (Loss) 2.4 25.8 (6.7) 29.2

Total Revenue $ 2,664.7 $ 2,676.6 $ 10,437.2 $ 10,464.9

Operating Income (Loss) by Segment $ 191.5 $ 117.0 $ 716.3 $ (288.7)
Net Realized Investment Gain (Loss) 2.4 25.8 (6.7) 29.2
Income Tax (Benefit) 56.4 8.3 196.0 (67.3)

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations 137.5 134.5 513.6 (192.2)
Loss from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax �  �  �  (60.8)

Net Income (Loss) $ 137.5 $ 134.5 $ 513.6 $ (253.0)

PER SHARE INFORMATION
Assuming Dilution:
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations $ 0.43 $ 0.45 $ 1.64 $ (0.65)
Loss from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax �  �  �  (0.21)

Net Income (Loss) $ 0.43 $ 0.45 $ 1.64 $ (0.86)

Basic:
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations $ 0.46 $ 0.46 $ 1.74 $ (0.65)
Loss from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax �  �  �  (0.21)

Net Income (Loss) $ 0.46 $ 0.46 $ 1.74 $ (0.86)

Weighted Average Common Shares � Basic (000s) 296,086.4 295,369.7 295,776.4 295,224.3
Weighted Average Common Shares � Assuming Dilution
(000s) 318,681.4 302,248.0 312,512.6 295,224.3

For the Year Ended December 31, 2005

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges* 3.9

* For purposes of computing the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, earnings as adjusted consist of income (loss) from continuing operations
before income taxes and cumulative effect of accounting principle change plus fixed charges. Fixed charges consist of interest and debt
expense, interest credited to policyholders, amortization of deferred debt costs, and the estimated interest portion of rent expense.
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The Remarketing

Issuer UnumProvident Corporation

Senior notes $575 million aggregate principal amount of senior notes due May 15, 2008, remarketed on behalf
of holders of equity security units for which the senior notes serve as collateral and any holders of
senior notes held separately from the equity security units who elect to participate in the
remarketing.

Maturity date The senior notes will mature on May 15, 2008.

Interest The senior notes will bear interest at the reset rate of 5.997%. Interest on the senior notes will
accrue at the reset rate from and including February 15, 2006.

Interest payment dates February 15, 2006 and May 15, 2006 and, after the stock purchase date of May 15, 2006,
semi-annually on May 15 and November 15 of each year. The first interest payment on the
remarketed senior notes at the reset rate will be made on May 15, 2006.

Special event redemption If a special event occurs and is continuing, we may, at our option, redeem the senior notes in
whole, but not in part, at the redemption price described under �Description of the Remarketed
Senior Notes�Special event redemption� in this prospectus supplement.

Covenants The indenture governing the senior notes does not generally contain financial or operating
covenants or restrictions, such as limitations on the payments of dividends, the incurrence of
indebtedness or the issuance or repurchase of securities by us. The indenture contains no
covenants or other provisions to afford protection to holders of the senior notes in the event we are
involved in a highly leveraged transaction or other similar transaction that may adversely affect
those holders.

Listing The senior notes are not, and are not expected to be, listed on any national securities exchange or
included in any automated quotation system.

Governing law The senior notes and the indenture are governed by the laws of the State of New York.

Trustee, registrar and paying
agent

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

Risk factors An investment in the senior notes involves risk. You should carefully consider the information set
forth under �Risk Factors� beginning on page S-13 of this prospectus supplement and all of the
information
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included or incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement and the accompanying
prospectus before deciding to invest in the senior notes.

Use of proceeds We will not receive any of the proceeds from this remarketing. A substantial portion of the
remarketing fee will be rebated to us upon the closing of this offering. See �Plan of Distribution.�
Proceeds from the remarketing attributable to the senior notes that are part of the normal equity
security units that participated in the remarketing will be used as follows:

� to purchase a treasury portfolio that will then be pledged to us, on behalf of the holders of
normal equity security units, as security against the purchase contract obligations of such
holders;

� to pay to the remarketing agent a remarketing fee of not more than 0.25% of the
remarketing value attributable to the normal equity security units that participated in the
remarketing; and

� any remaining proceeds will be remitted to the holders of the normal equity security units
participating in the remarketing, on a pro rata basis.

Proceeds from the remarketing attributable to the separate notes, if any, that participated in the
remarketing will be used as follows:

� to pay to the remarketing agent a remarketing fee of not more than 0.25% of the
remarketing value attributable to the separate notes that participated in the remarketing;
and

� to pay the holders of separate notes that participated in the remarketing a portion of the
proceeds attributable to the separate notes.

The �treasury portfolio� is a portfolio of U.S. Treasury securities that will pay, on or prior to May 15,
2006, an amount of cash equal to:

� the interest payment scheduled to be payable on that date on the senior notes, assuming
for that purpose, even if not true, that the interest rate on the senior notes is the current rate
of 6.00% per annum, prior to any interest rate reset; and

� the stated principal amount of $1,000 for each remarketed senior note.

Our Participation in the
Remarketing

In this remarketing, we submitted an order to purchase $400 million in aggregate principal amount
of the senior notes available to be remarketed, and we will retire all the senior notes we purchase
in the remarketing. For a more complete discussion of the senior notes, see �Description of the
Remarketed Senior Notes.�

S-10
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Summary Selected Consolidated Financial Information

The following is our selected consolidated financial data. The financial position and statement of operations data as of and for each
of the years ended December 31, 2000 through December 31, 2004 are taken from our audited consolidated financial statements
as of the end of and for each such year and our financial position and statement of operations data as of September 30, 2005 and
2004 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and September 30, 2004 are taken from our unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements. You should read this selected consolidated financial data in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and notes that are contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 and
our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended September 30, 2005, June 30, 2005 and March 31, 2005 which are
incorporated by reference into this prospectus supplement.

At or for the
Nine Months Ended

September 30, At or for the Year Ended December 31,

(in millions
of dollars) 2005 2004 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Statement
of
Operations
Data
Revenue
Premium
Income $ 5,827.2 $ 5,875.3 $ 7,839.6 $ 7,615.7 $ 7,151.1 $ 6,797.2 $ 6,791.8
Net
Investment
Income 1,623.4 1,594.2 2,158.7 2,158.4 2,028.9 1,951.1 2,004.2
Net
Realized
Investment
Gain (Loss) (9.1) 3.4 29.2 (173.8) (309.1) (100.0) (54.6)
Other
Income

bad debt expense, interest expense, gain on an acquisition and
miscellaneous income.  Other expenses, net, for the ten months ended

October 31, 2010 increased by $59,792 (1,891%) to $62,954, compared
to $3,162 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2009.  The

increase was primarily due to a gain of $60,966 recorded for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2009 due to the acquisition by the

divisions of RFFG of the assets of AmeriTemps, Inc. on January 1,
2009 and an increase in interest expense of $3,411, offset by a decrease
of bad debt expense of $4,191 and an increase in miscellaneous income

of $394.  See footnote F of the audited financial statements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of October 31, 2010, DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland had cash and
cash equivalents of $149,581, which was a decrease of $3,599 from
December 31, 2009.

During the ten months ended October 31, 2010, net cash used by
operating activities was $255,526.  The net income for the period,
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adjusted for depreciation and other non-cash charges, was $371,056,
while working capital items used was $626,582.  Net cash used in
investing activities during the ten months ended October 31, 2010 was
$1,860 and financing activities provided an additional $253,787 from
borrowings under the line of credit agreement described below.

RFFG and two affiliated entities have a joint line of credit agreement
with a bank that allows for borrowings of up to 85% of the face amount
of each company’s acceptable accounts receivable, as defined, not to
exceed a maximum credit facility of $6,000,000.  At October 31, 2010
and December 31, 2009, interest charged on the line of credit was
8.125%.  In conjunction with the agreement, the companies assign their
receivables to the bank as collateral.  However, the companies remain
the lawful owners of and have good and undisputed title to all
accounts.  In addition, the line of credit agreement is guaranteed by
WTS Acquisition Corporation, the parent company of RFFG.  As of
October 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, the outstanding borrowings
allocated to DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland amounted to $761,413 and
$518,747, respectively.

DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland lease office facilities and equipment
under various long-term and month-to-month leases.  These leases are
accounted for as operating leases.  The following is a schedule of future
minimum payments allocated to DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland under
agreements that have initial or remaining noncancellable terms in
excess of one year as of October 31, 2010:

2011 $12,028
2012 12,460
2013 2,089

$26,577

Total rent expense for the period from January 1, 2010 to October 31,
2010 and for the year ended December 31, 2009 allocated to DMCC
and RFFG of Cleveland amounted to $21,485 and $25,317 respectively.

10
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of October 31, 2010, there were no transactions, agreements or other
contractual arrangements to which an unconsolidated entity was a party,
under which DMCC or RFFG of Cleveland (a) had any direct or
contingent obligation under a guarantee contract, derivative instrument
or variable interest in the unconsolidated entity, or (b) had a retained or
contingent interest in assets transferred to the unconsolidated entity.

Certain Risks Associated with the Issuance of Shares of Common Stock

The Company will issue to DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland 5,581,395
shares of Common Stock, as a result of which DMCC and RFFG of
Cleveland will beneficially own approximately 27.3% of the Company’s
outstanding Common Stock, and Mr. Bean, the manager of the sole
member of DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland will beneficially own
approximately 34.5% of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock.  In
addition, the Company may issue DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland
additional shares of Common Stock pursuant to certain earn-out
payment provisions under the Asset Purchase Agreement as more fully
described under “Proposal 1 -- The Issuances - Terms of the Asset
Purchase Agreement”.  This will allow Mr. Bean, as the beneficial
owners of such shares, to exercise greater influence on the Company’s
operations or the outcome of matters put to a vote of shareholders in the
future.  

In addition, the Issuances will dilute, and thereby reduce, each existing
shareholder’s proportionate ownership in the shares of Common Stock.

The Initial Issuance may result in a change in ownership as defined
under Section 382 of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended.  If a change in ownership is deemed to have occurred, the
Company’s net operating loss carryforwards that could be applied to
offset taxable income (if any) in any future year would be limited.  As
of September 30, 2010, there were approximately $8,900,000 of losses
available to reduce federal taxable income in future years through 2030,
and there were approximately $7,000,000 of losses available to reduce
state taxable income in future years, expiring from 2011 through
2030.  The Company is currently evaluating the effects of any
limitation on the Company’s use of net operating loss carryforwards that
may result from the Initial Issuance.  The Company cannot determine
what effect, if any, these factors would have on the trading price of the
Common Stock.

PROPOSAL 2 -- THE ARTICLES AMENDMENT

Vote Required and Approval of Proposal 2
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Section 10.20 of the Illinois Business Corporation Act of 1983 requires
that the Articles Amendment receive the affirmative vote of at least
two-thirds of the votes of the shares entitled to vote on the Articles
Amendment.  The Consenting Shareholders, holders of 71.8% of the
shares of Common Stock, voted in favor of Proposal 2 by resolution
dated March 24, 2011.

General

By unanimous written consent, the Board approved an amendment to
the Articles of Incorporation of the Company to increase the number of
authorized shares of capital stock from 20,100,000 shares to 50,100,000
shares and to increase the number of authorized shares of Common
Stock from 20,000,000 shares to 50,000,000 shares.

The form of the text of the proposed Articles Amendment to increase
the number of authorized shares of the Company’s capital stock is
attached to this Information Statement as Exhibit F.  The Articles
Amendment will be effective upon the filing of a Certificate of
Amendment with the Illinois Secretary of State.

Purpose of Increasing the Number of Authorized Shares of Capital
Stock

Authorization of additional shares of Common Stock is required in
order to effect the Issuances in accordance with the Asset Purchase
Agreement because the Company currently has an insufficient number
of shares of authorized Common Stock available to issue the full
number of shares provided for under the Asset Purchase
Agreement.  Accordingly, an increase in the number of authorized
shares of Common Stock by 30,000,000 will permit the Company to
effect the foregoing initiative.  In addition to the shares of Common
Stock to be issued pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement, the
increase in the number of authorized shares of Common Stock would
also provide the Company with greater flexibility to issue shares in
conjunction with potential additional public offerings or private
placements of shares of Common Stock without the delay and expense
associated with obtaining the approval or consent of shareholders to
increase the amount of authorized Common Stock at the same time the
shares are needed.

11
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Certain Risks Associated with the Increase of the Number of
Authorized Shares of Common Stock

Shareholders should consider the following factors that may affect
them, as well as the other information contained in this Information
Statement.

The additional authorized shares of Common Stock may be issued for
such consideration, cash or otherwise, at such times and in such
amounts as the Board may determine without further shareholder
approval, except to the extent that shareholder approval is required
under certain circumstances by applicable laws, rules or
regulations.  Because the Common Stock is traded on the NYSE Amex,
shareholder approval must be obtained, under applicable NYSE Amex
Rules, prior to the issuance of shares for certain purposes, including the
issuance of shares of the Company’s Common Stock equal to or greater
than twenty percent (20%) of the Company’s then outstanding shares of
Common Stock.

The authorization of additional shares of Common Stock will not, by
itself, have any effect on the rights of present shareholders.  The
Issuances contemplated by the Asset Purchase Agreement will,
however, cause substantial dilution to the interests of the current
holders of the Common Stock, as more fully described below.  The
additional 30,000,000 shares to be authorized will be a part of the
existing class of Common Stock and, if and when issued, would have
the same rights and privileges as the shares of Common Stock currently
issued and outstanding. Shareholders do not have preemptive rights to
subscribe for or purchase additional shares of Common Stock.

Dilution from Issuance of Additional Shares.  The Company is seeking
to amend its Articles of Incorporation to increase the Company’s
authorized capital stock from 20,100,000 shares, consisting of
20,000,000 shares of Common Stock and 100,000 shares of preferred
stock, to a total of 50,100,000 shares, consisting of 50,000,000 shares
of Common Stock and 100,000 shares of preferred stock, and the
interests of the holders of Common Stock could be diluted substantially
as a result.  The Issuances and any future issuance of additional
authorized shares of Common Stock will dilute future earnings per
share, book value per share and voting power of existing
shareholders.  Such issuances may reduce stockholders equity per share
and may reduce the percentage ownership of Common Stock of existing
shareholders.

Possible Anti-Takeover Effect from Future Issuances of Additional
Shares.  The Issuances and any future issuance of additional shares also
may have an anti-takeover effect by making it more difficult to engage
in a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or assumption of control of a
large voting block of Common Stock.  The Board could impede a
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takeover attempt by issuing additional shares and thereby diluting the
voting power of other outstanding shares and increasing the cost of a
takeover.  The Issuances and any future issuance of additional shares of
Common Stock could be made to render more difficult an attempt to
obtain control of the Company, even if it appears to be desirable to a
majority of shareholders, and it may be more difficult for the Company’s
shareholders to obtain an acquisition premium for their shares or to
remove incumbent management.  Although the increase in the number
of authorized shares of Common Stock may have an anti-takeover
effect, the Articles Amendment has been proposed for the reasons
stated above, and the Board has no present intention to use the increase
in the authorized shares of Common Stock as a measure aimed at
discouraging takeover efforts.

NO DISSENTER’S RIGHTS OF APPRAISAL

The Company’s shareholders do not have dissenter’s rights of appraisal
in connection with the Issuances or the Articles Amendment.

OUTSTANDING SHARES AND VOTING RIGHTS

As of April 22, 2011, the Company had 20,000,000 shares of Common
Stock authorized for issuance, 14,868,280 shares of which were

outstanding.  As of April 22, 2011, the Company’s shares of Common
Stock were held by approximately 660 shareholders of record. Each
share entitles its holder to one vote on each matter submitted to the
shareholders. The Consenting Shareholders have sufficient voting

power to approve Proposal 1 and Proposal 2 through their ownership of
the Company’s Common Stock and, therefore, no shareholder consents

will be solicited in connection with this Information Statement.
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The Company has 100,000 shares of preferred stock authorized, but no
shares of preferred stock issued or outstanding.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS
AND MANAGEMENT

Listed in the following table is information concerning persons known
to the Company to be beneficial owners, as of April 22, 2011 and based
upon 14,868,280 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of such date,
of more than five percent of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock,
and information concerning the beneficial ownership of the Company’s
outstanding Common Stock by each director, director nominee and
named executive officer, individually, and by all current directors and
executive officers as a group.  Unless noted otherwise, (i) the named
persons have sole voting and dispositive power over the shares listed
and (ii) the address of each named person is General Employment
Enterprises, Inc. One Tower Lane, Suite 2200, Oakbrook Terrace,
Illinois 60181.

Name and Address
of Beneficial Owner

Amount
and Nature

of
Beneficial
Ownership

Percent
of

Class

PSQ, LLC
370 Claggett Road
Leitchfield, Kentucky 42754 9,735,287 (1) 65.5 %

Big Red Investments Partnership Ltd.
5025 W. Lemon Street
Tampa, Florida  33609 1,476,015 (2) 9.9 %

Herbert F. Imhoff, Jr. 942,324 (3) 6.3 %

James R. Harlan — —

Dennis W. Baker 48,000 (4) *

Charles W.B. Wardell 3,000 (5) *

Thomas C. Williams 3,000 (6) *

Marilyn L. White 121,098 (7) *

Salvatore J. Zizza — —

All current directors and executive officers as
a group (7 individuals) 1,117,422 7.4 %
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*  Represents less than 1%.

(1)           Based on the Schedule 13D filed by PSQ and Gregory L.
Skaggs on December 6, 2010, Mr. Skaggs, as the sole managing
member of PSQ, may be deemed to beneficially own the shares of
Common Stock owned directly by PSQ.

(2)           Based on the Schedule 13D filed by Big Red Investments
Partnership Ltd., Bucknoletan Management, LLC and Thomas J. Bean
on June 16, 2010.  Each of Bucknoletan Management, LLC, as the
general partner of Big Red Investments Partnership Ltd., and Mr. Bean,
as the manager of Bucknoletan Management, LLC, may be deemd to
beneficially own the share of Common Stock owned directly by Big
Red Investments Partnership Ltd.
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(3)           Represents (i) 500,000 of shares of Common Stock owned
directly by Mr. Imhoff, (ii) 439,324 shares of Common Stock owned
directly by the Herbert F. Imhoff, Jr. Revocable Trust, of which Mr.
Imhoff in the sole trustee and (iii) 3,000 option shares that are currently
exercisable.

(4)           Represents (i) 30,000 shares of Common Stock and (ii)
18,000 option shares that are currently exercisable.

(5)           Represents 3,000 option shares that are currently exercisable.

(6)           Represents 3,000 option shares that are currently exercisable.

(7)           Represents option shares that are currently exercisable.

Change of Control

On November 23, 2010, the Company received notice from its
shareholder, PSQ, which owns 9,735,287 shares of Common Stock, or
approximately 65.5% of the outstanding Common Stock (the “PSQ
Shares”), that the sole member of PSQ, Stephen Pence, the Company’s
then Chairman of the Board, had sold his entire membership interest in
PSQ to Gregory L. Skaggs, effective as of November 17, 2010.  As a
result of the transaction, the Company believes that Mr. Skaggs may
now be deemed to have voting and investment control over the PSQ
Shares.  The membership interests in PSQ were sold to Mr. Skaggs in
consideration for Mr. Skaggs’ assumption of promissory notes issued by
Mr. Pence to Accredited Investor Resources, LLC in the original
principal amounts of $1,925,000 and $1,221,172.20.

The Issuances to DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland will result in a change
in control of the Company because following the Initial Issuance, PSQ,
currently the beneficial owner of approximately 65.5% of the
Company’s outstanding Common Stock, will own approximately 47.6%
of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock.

Item 2. Statement that Proxies Are Not Solicited

WE ARE NOT ASKING YOU FOR A PROXY AND YOU ARE
REQUESTED NOT TO SEND US A PROXY.

This Information Statement is being sent to you for informational
purposes only. No action is requested or required on your part.

Item 3. Interest of Certain Persons in, or in Opposition to, Matters to Be
Acted Upon

No director, officer, nominee for election as a director, or associate of
any director, officer or nominee for election as a director has any
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substantial interest, direct or indirect, by security holdings or otherwise,
in Proposal 1 or 2, which is not shared by all other shareholders as a
class.

Item 4. Proposals by Security Holders.

None.

Item 5. Delivery of Documents to Security Holders Sharing an Address.

Only one copy of this Information Statement, with attached exhibits, is
being sent to multiple shareholders sharing an address unless the
Company receives contrary instructions from any shareholder at that
address. This practice, known as “householding”, is designed to reduce
printing and postage costs. However, if any shareholder residing at such
address wishes to receive a separate copy of this Information Statement,
he or she may contact investor relations at:

Investor Relations Department
General Employment Enterprises, Inc.
Oakbrook Terrace Tower
One Tower Lane, Suite 2200
Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois 60181
E-mail: invest@genp.com,
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and the Company will deliver the Information Statement to such
shareholder promptly upon receiving the request. Any such shareholder
may also contact investor relations if he or she would like to receive
separate mailings in the future.  If a shareholder receives multiple
copies of the Company’s mailing, he or she may request householding in
the future by also contacting investor relations.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

The Company files annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy
statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”). You may read and copy any document filed at
the Public Reference Room of the SEC, 100 F Street, N.E. Washington,
D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further
information on the Public Reference Room. The Company’s SEC filings
are also available to the public from the SEC’s website at
http://www.sec.gov and the Company’s website
www.generalemployment.com.

INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

 The SEC allows the Company to “incorporate by reference” information
into this Information Statement.  This means that the Company can
disclose important information to you by referring you to those
documents.  The information incorporated by reference is considered to
be part of this Information Statement.  Any statement contained in a
document that is incorporated by reference into this Information
Statement is automatically updated and superseded if information
contained in this Information Statement, or information that the
Company later files with the SEC, modifies or replaces the
information.  The Company is incorporating by reference the following
items in documents filed by the Company with the SEC:

•Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2010;
•Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended September 30,
2010 (attached hereto as Exhibit D);

•Periodic Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
December 31, 2010 (attached hereto as Exhibit E);

•Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on September 30,
2010;

•Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on November 3,
2010;

•Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on November 29,
2010;

•Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on December 7,
2010;

•Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on December 16,
2010;

•
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Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on December 29,
2010*;

• Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on January
5, 2011;

• Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on
February 1, 2011;

• Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on
February 16, 2011;

• Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on
February 22, 2011;

• Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on March
17, 2011; and

• Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on March
29, 2011.

*  Portions of this report were furnished to the SEC under Item 2.02
(Results of Operations and Financial Condition).  Pursuant to General

Instruction B(2) of Form 8-K, the portions of this report submitted
under Item 2.02 are not deemed to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of

the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that
section.  The Company is not incorporating by reference those portions
of this report that are not deemed to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18

of the Exchange Act, and will not incorporate by reference those
portions of future filings of reports on Form 8-K into a filing under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act or into this
Information Statement that are not deemed to be “filed” for purposes of

Section 18 of the Exchange Act.
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The Company will provide to each person, including any beneficial
owner of Common Stock, to whom this Information Statement is
delivered, a free copy of any or all of the information that has been
incorporated by reference into this Information Statement but not
delivered with this Information Statement.  Please direct your written
request to: General Employment Enterprises, Inc., Oakbrook Terrace
Tower, One Tower Lane, Suite 2200, Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois 60181,
Attention: Investor Relations.  A copy of the annual report on Form
10-K for the year ended September 30, 2010 is also available on the
SEC’s Internet site at http://www.sec.gov and on and the Company’s
website www.generalemployment.com.

By Order of the Board of Directors of
General Employment Enterprises,
Inc.

By: /s/ Salvatore J. Zizza
Name:Salvatore J. Zizza
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois
April 27, 2011
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EXHIBIT A
ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

________________________________________________________

ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

________________________________________________________

BY AND AMONG

DMCC STAFFING, LLC,

RFFG OF CLEVELAND, LLC,

THOMAS J. BEAN,

GENERAL EMPLOYMENT ENTERPRISES, INC.

AND

TRIAD PERSONNEL SERVICES, INC.

Dated as of November 1, 2010

A-1
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ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”) is by and among
DMCC Staffing, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company, RFFG of
Cleveland, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company (each a “Seller” and
together, “Sellers”), Thomas J. Bean (“Mr. Bean”), General Employment
Enterprises, Inc., an Illinois corporation (“Parent”), and Triad Personnel
Services, Inc., an Illinois corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Parent (“Buyer”).  Sellers, Mr. Bean, Parent and Buyer shall be referred to
herein each as a “Party” and together as the “Parties”.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Sellers operate a services business from their offices in
Ohio that provides labor and human resource solutions, including
without limitation, provisions of temporary staffing, human resources
and payroll outsourcing services, labor and employment consulting and
workforce solutions (hereinafter referred to as the “Business”); and

WHEREAS, Sellers desire to sell, and Buyer desires to purchase, the
Purchased Assets (as defined below) upon the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth in this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the
respective representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set
forth below, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt
and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Buyer and Sellers
agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1.
DEFINITIONS

1.1           Certain Definitions.  For purposes of this Agreement, the
following terms have the following meanings:

“Adverse Claim” means any claim, condition, covenant, demand,
purchase right, lien, security interest, pledge, community property
interest, equitable interest, option, hypothecation, right of first refusal,
or charge or other right, restriction or encumbrance of any kind,
including any restriction on use, transfer, receipt of income or any other
attribute of ownership, other than those created in favor of Buyer under
this Agreement or the other documents contemplated hereby.

“Affiliate” of a specified Person, means a Person who, directly or
indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled
by, or is under common control with, such specified Person.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
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“Computer Software and Databases” means and includes all computer
software, computer programs and electronic databases, including
Internet web sites of Sellers (as such items have been updated,
corrected, enhanced, replaced and modified), and all documentation
related thereto.

“Contemplated Transactions” means all of the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement, including: (a) the sale of the Purchased Assets by
Sellers to Buyer; and (b) Buyer’s acquisition and ownership of the
Purchased Assets.

“Fair Market Value” means the last sales price reported for the shares on
the applicable date as reported on the principal national securities
exchange in the United States on which it is then traded (if the shares
are so listed), or, if not so listed, the mean between the closing bid and
asked prices of publicly traded shares in the over-the-counter market,
or, if such bid and asked prices shall not be available, as reported by
any nationally recognized quotation service selected by Parent.

“GAAP” means generally accepted United States accounting principles
consistently applied.

A-2
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“Governmental Body” means any: (a) nation, state, province, county, city,
town, village, district, or other jurisdiction of any nature; (b) federal,
state, provincial, local, municipal, foreign, or other government; (c)
governmental or quasi-governmental authority of any nature (including
any governmental agency, branch, department, official, or entity and
any court or other tribunal); (d) multinational organization or body; or
(e) body exercising, or entitled to exercise, any administrative,
executive, judicial, legislative, police, regulatory, or taxing authority or
power of any nature.

“Indebtedness” with respect to any Person, means and includes all
obligations which, in accordance with GAAP, should be classified on a
balance sheet of such Person as liabilities, and in any event shall
include (a) all indebtedness of such Person for (i) borrowed money or
(ii) the deferred purchase price of property; (b) all obligations of such
Person evidenced by notes ,  bonds,  debentures ,  guarantees ,
reimbursement agreements, or other similar instruments; (c) all
indebtedness created or arising under any conditional sale or other title
retention agreement with respect to property acquired by such Person;
(d) all obligations of such Person as lessee under leases that have been
or should be, in accordance with GAAP, recorded as capital leases and
(e) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person under
acceptance, letter of credit or similar facilities.

“Legal Requirement” means any federal, state, provincial, local,
municipal, foreign, international, multinational, or other administrative
order, constitution, law, ordinance, principle of common law,
regulation, statute, or treaty.

“Liability” means and includes any direct or indirect, primary or
secondary, liability, Indebtedness, obligation, penalty, expense
(including costs of investigation, collection and defense), claim,
deficiency, guaranty or endorsement of or by any Person (other than
endorsements of notes, bills and checks presented to banks for
collection or deposit in the Ordinary Course of Business) of any type,
whether accrued, absolute, contingent, liquidated, unliquidated,
matured, unmatured or otherwise.

“Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse change in the
financial condition, business, assets, liabilities, properties, results of
operations or prospects of the Business.

“Obligation” means any debt, Liability or obligation of any nature,
whether secured, unsecured, recourse, nonrecourse, liquidated,
unliquidated, accrued, absolute, fixed, contingent, ascertained,
unascertained, known, unknown or otherwise.

“Ordinary Course of Business” means in the ordinary course of the
Business, consistent with past practices.
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“Organizational Documents” means (a) the articles or certificate of
incorporation and the bylaws of a corporation; (b) the partnership
agreement and any statement of partnership of a general partnership;
(c) the limited partnership agreement and the certificate of limited
partnership of a limited partnership; (d) the articles of organization and
operating agreement of a limited liability company; (e) any charter or
similar document adopted or filed in connection with the creation,
formation, or organization of a Person; and (f) any amendment to any of
the foregoing.

“Party” and “Parties” shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the
Preamble.

“Permits” shall mean all licenses, permits, certificates, registrations,
authorizations and approvals of any Governmental Body.

“Person” means any individual, corporation (including any non-profit
corporation), general or limited partnership, limited liability company,
joint venture, estate, trust, association, organization, labor union, or
other entity or Governmental Body.

“SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

A-3
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“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“Tax” or “Taxes” means all taxes, charges, fees, levies or other similar
assessments or liabilities, including, without limitation, income, gross
receipts, ad valorem, premium, value-added, excise, real property,
personal property, sales, use, services, transfer, withholding,
employment, payroll and franchise taxes imposed by the United States
of America or any state, province, government, foreign taxing authority
or any agency thereof, and any interest, fines, penalties, assessments or
additions to tax resulting from, attributable to or incurred in connection
with any tax or any contest or dispute thereof.

“Tax Return” means any return (including any information return), report,
statement, schedule, notice, form, or other document or information
filed with or submitted to, or required to be filed with or submitted to,
any Governmental Body in connection with the determination,
assessment, collection, or payment of any Tax or in connection with the
administration, implementation, or enforcement of or compliance with
any Legal Requirement relating to any Tax.

ARTICLE 2.
SALE AND TRANSFER OF ASSETS; PURCHASE PRICE

2.1           Sale and Purchase of Assets.  Subject to the terms and
conditions set forth in this Agreement, Sellers hereby agree to transfer,
sell, convey, assign and deliver to Buyer, free and clear of all Adverse
Claims, and Buyer agrees to purchase from Sellers, all right, title and
interest in and to, as of the Closing (as hereinafter defined), all assets,
properties and rights of Sellers comprising the Business, wherever
located, set forth in Section 2.1(b) (collectively, the “Purchased Assets”);
provided, however, that notwithstanding anything to the contrary
herein, Buyer shall not purchase from Sellers, any assets, properties and
rights that are not included among the Purchased Assets (collectively,
the “Excluded Assets”).

(a)           Excluded Assets.  The Excluded Assets shall include, without
limitation, the following:

(i)            This Agreement.  Any rights of Sellers under this Agreement
(including any proceeds of this Agreement).

(ii)           Accounts Receivable.  Sellers’ accounts receivable arising
from the operation of the Business and services performed in
connection with the Business prior to the Closing Date (as hereinafter
defined) (whether or not billed prior to the Closing Date).

(iii)          Insurance  Policies.  Sellers’ insurance policies (including but
not limited to Sellers’ employee benefit plans and workers compensation
polices).
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(iv)          Prepaid Deposits.  Sellers’ prepaid items and deposits
(including but not limited to any and all workers compensation
deposits) arising out of or relating to the ownership or operation of the
Business by Sellers prior to the Closing Date.

(v)           Income Tax Returns.  All of Sellers’ income Tax Returns.

(vi)          Corporate Books.  Sellers’ corporate and company minute
books and stock ownership record books.

(vii)         Personnel Records.  All of Sellers’ personnel records and other
records required by law to remain in Sellers’ possession; provided,
however, that Buyer shall be provided copies of all such records.

(viii)        Tax Refunds.  All of Sellers’ claims for refund of taxes and
other governmental charges of whatever nature.

(ix)          Bank Accounts. All bank accounts of Sellers including all
funds, monies or assets of any kind contained within.
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(x)           Contracts and Agreements.  All contracts and agreements,
whether written or oral, other than the Assumed Contracts.

(b)           Purchased Assets.  The Purchased Assets shall consist of the
following:

(i)            Equipment.  The machinery and equipment, tools, tooling,
vehicles, Computer Software and Databases, supplies, desks, chairs,
tables, furniture, fixtures and all other personal property of Sellers listed
on Schedule 2.1(b)(i) hereto (the “Equipment”).

(ii)           Leases.  Sellers’ leasehold interests in the personal property
leased by Sellers and used in the operation of the Business (the
“Leases”).  Sellers’ sale, transfer and assignment of the Leases and Buyer’s
purchase and assumption of the Leases, shall be subject to any and all
approvals, notices and consents as may be required by law or otherwise.

(iii)          Contracts.  Sellers’ right, title and interest in and to the
contracts and agreements of Sellers identified on Schedule 2.1(b)(iii)
(such identified contracts being the “Assumed Contracts”).  Sellers’ sale,
transfer and assignment of the Assumed Contracts and Buyer’s purchase
and assumption of the Assumed Contracts, shall be subject to any and
all approvals, notices and consents as may be required by law or
otherwise.

(iv)          Intellectual Property/General Intangibles.  Sellers’ (a) trade
name; (b) telephone numbers, telecopy numbers and email; (c) patents,
patent applications and inventions and discoveries that may be
patentable; (d) trademarks, service marks, trade names, fictional
business names, service marks, trade dress and domain names, together
with the goodwill associated therewith; (e) copyrights, including
copyrights in computer software; (f) all rights in mask works; (g)
confidential and proprietary information, including trade secrets,
know-how, customer lists, software, technical information, data,
process technology, plans, drawings, and blue prints; (h) registrations
and applications for registration of the foregoing and (i) all causes of
action, if any, for infringement, conversion or misuse of any of the
foregoing, and all rights of recovery related thereto, including but not
limited to those listed on Schedule 2.1(b)(iv) hereto (collectively, the
“Intellectual Property”).

(v)           Business Records and Customer Lists.  All books, records,
files and papers that contain information relating, directly or indirectly,
to the Business and the Purchased Assets, including without limitation,
all lists of customers and clients served by Sellers and the rights to do
business with the clients and customers of Sellers relating to the
Business and all personnel records, including without limitation those
listed on Schedule 2.1(b)(v).
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(vi)          Goodwill. All goodwill of the Business.

2.2           Assumed Liabilities.  Buyer shall, at the Closing, assume, and
hold Sellers harmless from, only the liabilities of Sellers arising in the
Ordinary Course on and after Closing under the Assumed Contracts
(collectively, the “Assumed Liabilities”), except to the extent those
liabilities were due prior to Closing or result from a breach of an
Assumed Contract by Sellers prior to or at Closing.

2.3           Liabilities and Obligations Not Assumed.  Notwithstanding
any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, Buyer shall not
assume any Liabilities or Obligations of Sellers other than the Assumed
Liabilities, including, without limitation, any Liabilities or Obligations
for Taxes, debts, liabilities or under any benefit plan or any Liabilities
or Obligations arising under the Assets Purchase Agreement, by and
between Extinct Temps, Inc. (f/k/a AmeriTemps, Inc). and WTS
Acquisition Corp., dated as of December 18, 2008, or any and all
Liabilities or Obligations related to assessments, claims, premiums, fees
or other governmental charges of any nature whatsoever, whether
disputed or not, together with any interest, penalties or additional
amounts with respect to Sellers’ participation in the Ohio Bureau of
Workers’ Compensation (BWC) “Retro Program”.  Sellers shall retain,
and shall timely and faithfully pay, perform and discharge all of its
Liabilities and Obligations other than Assumed Liabilities.
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2.4           Certain Required Consents.  If an attempted assignment or
transfer of the Assumed Contracts, the Leases, any Permits or any claim
or right of any benefit arising thereunder or resulting therefrom, without

the consent, approval or waiver of a third party, would constitute a
breach thereof or in any way adversely affect the rights of Sellers or

Buyer thereunder, unless and until any such required consent, approval
or waiver has been obtained and is in full force and effect such

Assumed Contract, Lease, Permit or other claim, right or benefit shall
not be deemed assigned or transferred.  To the extent that Buyer shall
have determined to close under this Agreement prior to receipt of any

consent, approval or waiver necessary to transfer the rights and benefits
of any Assumed Contract, Lease or Permit to Buyer, then for six

months following the Closing Date, the Parties hereto will cooperate to,
and the Parties shall continue to use their best efforts to, obtain as
promptly as practicable all such consents, approvals and waivers

required by third parties to transfer to Buyer such Assumed Contracts,
Leases or Permits in a manner that will avoid any default, conflict, or
termination of rights thereunder.  Pending such transfer, the Parties
shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide the benefits of

such Assumed Contracts, Leases or Permits to Buyer in a manner that
would as nearly as practicable reflect the purpose and intention of this

Agreement.

2.5           Purchase Price and Payment.

(a)           The purchase price for the Purchased Assets shall be
$4,800,000, subject to adjustment as provided in Section 2.5(c) below
(the “Purchase Price”).  The Purchase Price shall be payable as follows:
$2,400,000 of the Purchase Price shall be payable in shares of Parent’s
common stock (the “Stock Consideration”), as provided in Section 2.5(b)
below, and $2,400,000 of the Purchase Price, subject to adjustment,
shall be payable in cash (the “Cash Consideration”), as provided in
Section 2.5(c) below.

(b)           As soon as reasonably practicable following Parent and
Buyer’s receipt of Stockholder Approval and NYSE Amex Final
Approval (each as hereinafter defined), as more fully described in
Section 6.2, Parent shall deliver, in respect of the Stock Consideration,
that number of shares of Parent’s common stock that is equal to
$2,400,000 divided by the average Fair Market Value of Parent’s
common stock for the 20 consecutive trading days prior to the second
trading day prior to the Closing.

(c)            ( i )  The  Cash  Cons idera t ion  sha l l  be  payable  as
follows.  During the period of four years commencing on January 1,
2011 and ending on December 31, 2014 (the “Earnout Period”), Buyer
shall pay to Sellers the Earnout Payment (as hereinafter defined) in
respect of each of the three-, six-, nine- and twelve-month periods in
each fiscal year of the Earnout Period (each, a “Test Period”) with respect
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to which the aggregate EBITDA (as hereinafter defined) of the
Business for the relevant Test Period (the “Test Period EBITDA”) equals
or exceeds the relevant EBITDA Target (as hereinafter defined) for
such Test Period; provided, however, that in the event that the relevant
EBITDA Target for a Test Period is not met, the Earnout Payment in
respect of such Test Period shall be reduced proportionately.

Each Earnout Payment shall be payable in three equal monthly
installments on the fifteenth day of each of the three months following
the end of the relevant Test Period.

For the fiscal year ending December 31, 2011, the EBITDA Target for
each Test Period shall be based on a pro rated projected $1,200,000
aggregate annual EBITDA for the Business and, therefore, for the fiscal
year ending December 31, 2011, “EBTIDA Target” means $300,000 with
respect to the first Test Period (i.e., January 1 through March 31, 2011),
$600,000 with respect to the second Test Period (i.e., January 1 through
June 30, 2011), $900,000 with respect to the third Test Period (i.e.,
January 1 through September 30, 2011) and $1,200,000 with respect to
the fourth Test Period (i.e., January 1 through December 31, 2011).  For
each of the three subsequent fiscal years during the Earnout Period, the
EBITDA Target for each Test Period shall  be adjusted from
$1,200,000, up or down, based upon the pro rata, aggregate EBITDA of
the Business for the twelve-month period ending on December 31st of
the most recently completed fiscal year.  $1,200,000, in the case of the
fiscal year ending December 31, 2011, and the aggregate EBITDA of
the Business for the twelve-month period ending on December 31st of
the most recently completed fiscal year, in the case of the fiscal years
ending December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, shall each be referred to
herein as an “Annual EBITDA Target”.

With respect to each fiscal year during the Earnout Period, “Earnout
Payment” means that amount, subject to downward adjustment as

provided in Section 2.5(c)(i) above, obtained by dividing 50% of the
Annual EBITDA Target for such fiscal year by four (4).

A-6

Edgar Filing: UNUMPROVIDENT CORP - Form 424B5

Table of Contents 39



By way of example, if the Test Period EBITDA for the three months
ending March 31, 2011 equals $500,000, then Buyer shall pay Sellers

an Earnout Payment of $150,000, payable in three equal monthly
installments starting on April 15, 2011.  If, however, the Test Period

EBITDA for the three months ending March 31, 2011 equals $200,000,
then Buyer shall pay Sellers an Earnout Payment of $100,000

(($200,000 / $300,000) x $150,000) in three equal monthly installments
starting on April 15, 2011. If the aggregate EBITDA for the Business

for the twelve-month period ending December 31, 2011 equals
$2,000,000, then the Annual EBITDA Target for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2012 shall equal $2,000,000, the EBITDA Target for the

four Test Periods of the fiscal year ending December 31, 2012 shall
equal $500,000 (1 x ($2,000,000 / 4), $1,000,000 (2 x ($2,000,000 / 4),
$1,500,000 (3 x ($2,000,000 / 4) and $2,000,000 (4 x ($2,000,000 / 4),
respectively, and each Earnout Payment during the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2012 shall equal $250,000 ((50% x $2,000,000) / 4),

subject to downward adjustment for failure to meet the relevant
EBITDA Target in the relevant Test Period. In addition, in accordance
with Section 2.5(d) below, in this example, Buyer shall also pay Sellers

$800,000 ($2,000,000 - $1,200,000), payable $400,000 in cash and
$400,000 in stock, as described below.

(d)           At the end of each fiscal year during the Earnout Period, if the
aggregate EBITDA of the Business for the 12-month period then ended
is greater than the Annual EBITDA Target for such year, then Buyer
shall pay to Sellers the amount of such excess, 50% in cash (the
“Additional Cash Consideration”) and 50% in shares of Parent’s common
stock (the “Additional Stock Consideration”).  The number of shares to be
issued to Sellers in respect of the Additional Stock Consideration shall
be determined by dividing the total dollar amount of the Additional
Stock Consideration by the average Fair Market Value of Parent’s
common stock for the 20 consecutive trading days prior to the last day
of the relevant fiscal year.  Any issuance of Additional Stock
Consideration shall be subject to stockholder approval and the approval
of the principal national securities exchange in the United States on
which Parent’s common stock is then traded (if the shares are so listed),
if necessary, as determined by Parent in its sole discretion.  To the
extent that Parent determines that obtaining any such approvals is not
reasonably practicable or if such approvals are not obtained, then Parent
shall issue the amount of the Additional Stock Consideration to Sellers
in cash.

2.6           EBITDA.  (a)(i) For purposes hereof, “EBITDA” shall mean the
Business’s earnings, including Management Fees (as defined in the
Management Agreement) paid to Buyer under the Management
Agreement (as hereinafter defined), before (A) state, federal and local
income taxes, (B) cumulative effect of accounting changes, (C)
extraordinary items, (D) amortization expense, (E) depreciation
expense, and (F) acquisition related costs, each determined consistent
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with the Business’s accounting practices prior to the Closing.

The EBITDA calculation will not include as a Business expense, (a) an
in t e re s t  f ac to r  on  advances  f rom Buyer  o r  i t s  Af f i l i a t e s ;
(b)  management and corporate overhead allocations to Buyer from
Parent; (c) additional operating costs incurred by Buyer in connection
with, or as a result of, the financing of Buyer’s purchase of the
Purchased Assets, by way of example and not limitation, additional
insurance expenses for increased coverage on assets or on the life of
Buyer personnel or (d) costs incurred by Buyer, nor the net income or
net loss realized by Buyer, as a result of new business activities of
Buyer (i.e., the sale of services which were not offered by Sellers prior
to the Closing) unless Sellers agree the EBITDA calculation shall, and
then it shall, include both such costs, income and loss.

(i)           The EBITDA calculation will include as a Business expense
(a) any interest charges or program fees with respect to the financing of
Buyer’s account receivables; and (b) items that represent costs incurred,
directly or indirectly, by Buyer which are reasonably intended to
enhance the Business’s EBITDA during the Earnout  Period.

(b)           Buyer shall deliver a statement (the “EBITDA Statement”) (i)
within 30 days following the end of each fiscal year during the Earnout
Period showing the aggregate EBITDA of the Business for the
twelve-month period ending December 31st of the most recently
completed fiscal year and (ii) within 60 days following the conclusion
of the Earnout Period showing the aggregate EBITDA of the Business
for the Earnout Period.  Sellers shall, at their request, be provided
access to the information reasonably required to evaluate the EBITDA
Statement.  If Sellers do not object in writing to the EBITDA Statement
within thirty (30) days of said EBITDA Statement’s submission to it,
such EBITDA Statement shall be deemed to be accepted.  If Sellers
object to any item on the EBITDA Statement and Buyer and Sellers
cannot resolve any such objection within twenty (20) days following
receipt of notice of such objection, the dispute shall be referred to the
independent accountants of Buyer and Sellers.  In such case, the cost of
the services of Sellers’ accounting firm shall be borne by Sellers and the
cost of the services of Buyer’s accounting firm shall be borne by Buyer.
If such accountants cannot agree as to the proper resolution of the
objection within twenty (20) days after such referral, it shall be referred
to a third accounting firm acceptable to Sellers and Buyer, which firm
shall render a binding determination of the disputed items.  If Sellers
and Buyer cannot agree on an acceptable accounting firm, Buyer shall
designate three such accounting firms (none of which is the accountant
for either Buyer, Parent or Sellers) to Sellers and Sellers shall select the
accounting firm from the three (3) listed (or one thereafter from the
three (3) listed if the prior choice declines to serve).  The accounting
firm so designated shall, if possible, render its binding determination of
the disputed items within forty-five (45) days after the dispute has been
referred to it.  Buyer and Sellers shall cooperate fully with such
accounting firm in furnishing all necessary information.  The cost of the
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services of such accounting firm shall be borne equally by Sellers and
Buyer.
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(c)           Buyer shall deliver to Sellers interim EBITDA Statements not
later than January 15 of each year during the Earnout Period, in give

Sellers reasonable access to Buyer’s and Parent’s books and records and
accounting personnel to confirm such interim EBITDA Statements.

2.7          Conduct of Business.  Parent and Buyer shall exercise
commercially reasonable efforts to maximize the Business’s EBITDA
through the Earnout Period.

2.8           Transfer Taxes.  Sellers shall pay all sales, use, transfer or
recording Taxes levied in connection with the transfer of the Purchased
Assets.

2.9           Purchase Price Allocation.  The Purchase Price (including, for
this purpose, Assumed Liabilities, if any) shall be allocated among the
Purchased Assets as specified in a schedule to be prepared and
delivered by Buyer to Sellers within 180 days after the Closing
Date.  Such allocation shall be mutually agreed upon between Buyer
and Sellers, and be prepared in accordance with section 1060 of the
Code and the regulations implementing that section, as reasonably
determined by Buyer.  Each of Buyer and Sellers agrees to complete
IRS Form 8594 consistently with such allocation and, if requested by
the other Party hereto, to furnish such Party with a copy of such form
prepared in draft form no less than 45 days prior to the filing due date
of such form.  Neither Buyer nor Sellers shall file any Tax Return or
take a position with any taxing authority or in connection with any
Tax-related action or audit that is inconsistent with this Section 2.9.

ARTICLE 3.
CLOSING

3.1           Time and Place. The closing of the Contemplated
Transactions (the “Closing”) will take place at 10:00 a.m. at the offices of
Olshan Grundman Frome Rosenzweig & Wolosky LLP, Park Avenue
Tower, 65 East 55th Street, New York, NY, 10022, on a date to be
specified by the parties, which shall be not later than the second
business day after the satisfaction or, if permissible, waiver of the
conditions set forth in this Article 3 (other than those that by their terms
are to be satisfied or waived at the Closing) (the “Closing Date”), or at
such other time and place or at such other date, time and place as may
be mutually agreed upon in writing by the Parties hereto.

3.2           Conditions to the Obligations of Parent and Buyer.  The
obligations of Parent and Buyer to consummate the Contemplated
Transactions shall be subject to the satisfaction or waiver (where
permiss ib le ) ,  a t  o r  p r io r  to  the  Clos ing ,  o f  the  fo l lowing
conditions.  Sellers shall have delivered to Buyer:
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Consents.  Written consents or approvals in the form and substance
satisfactory to Buyer of each person or entity whose consent or
approval is required to consummate the Contemplated Transactions.

Title Certificates.  Title documents for all Purchased Assets constituting
vehicles or otherwise where applicable and all keys, pass cards or other
access devices for vehicles, leased real estate and, as applicable, any
Equipment.
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Registration Rights Agreement.  A registration rights agreement dated
the Closing Date (the “Registration Rights Agreement”) and duly

executed by Sellers, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit
A.

Intellectual Property Assignment.  Such instruments and documents as
Buyer or Buyer’s counsel may reasonably request for the conveyance,
assignment or transfer to Buyer of the Intellectual Property that forms
part of the Purchased Assets.

Management and Services Agreement.  A management and services
agreement dated the Closing Date (the “Management Agreement”) for the
management of the businesses of certain of Sellers’ and Mr. Bean’s
Affiliates duly executed by such Affiliates.

Capital TempsFund/Wells Fargo. Evidence satisfactory to Buyer of the
release of the security interest held by Capital TempsFund and/or Wells
Fargo in the Purchased Assets.

Additional Documents.  All such further instruments and documents as
Buyer or Buyer’s counsel may reasonably request for the more effective
conveyance, assignment or transfer to Buyer of any of the Purchased
Assets and the transactions contemplated hereby.

3.3           Conditions to the Obligations of Sellers.  The obligations of
Sellers and Mr. Bean to consummate the Contemplated Transactions
shall be subject to the satisfaction or waiver (where permissible), at or
prior to the Closing, of the following conditions.  Buyer shall have
delivered to Sellers:

Registration Rights Agreement.  The Registration Rights Agreement
dated the Closing Date and duly executed by Buyer and Parent.

Additional Documents.  All such further instruments and documents as
Sellers or Sellers’ counsel may reasonably request for the more effective
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

ARTICLE 4.
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLERS

As an inducement to Buyer and Parent to enter into this Agreement and
to consummate the Contemplated Transactions, Sellers and Mr. Bean
hereby represent and warrant to Buyer and Parent, as of the date hereof
and as of the Closing Date, as follows:

4.1           Organization and Qualification; Due Authorization;
Subsidiaries.  Each Seller is a limited liability company duly organized,
validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of
Ohio.  Sellers do not conduct business outside the State of Ohio and,
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therefore, Sellers are not required to be qualified and in good standing
to do business in any jurisdiction other than the State of Ohio. Each
Seller has the requisite company power and authority to own, operate or
lease the properties that it purports to own, operate or lease and to carry
on the Business as it is now being conducted.  Each Seller has the full
power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the
other documents contemplated hereby to which it is a party and to
consummate the Contemplated Transactions.  The execution and
delivery of this Agreement and the other documents contemplated
hereby to which each Seller is a party and the performance and
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby by
Sellers have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate actions on
the part of Sellers.  Upon execution and delivery by Sellers of this
Agreement and the other documents contemplated hereby to which
Sellers are a party and, subject to the due authorization, execution and
delivery of such agreements by the other parties thereto, each of this
Agreement and the other documents contemplated hereby will
constitute valid and binding obligations of Sellers, enforceable against
Sellers in accordance with their terms, except as enforceability may be
limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and
other similar laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally and
by general  equitable principles (regardless of whether such
enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).  Sellers
do not have any subsidiaries.
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4.2           No Violation; Consents and Approvals.  Neither the
execution and delivery by each Seller of this Agreement or the other

documents contemplated hereby to which it is a party nor the
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions nor compliance by it
with any of the provisions hereof or thereof:  (a) conflict with or result
in a violation of (i) the Organizational Documents of such Seller or (ii)
any judgment, order, writ, injunction, decree, statute, law, ordinance,

rule or regulation binding upon such Seller in connection with the
Business or the Purchased Assets in any material respect, or (b) except
as set forth in Schedule 4.2 hereto, (A) require consent under, violate,

conflict with, or result in a breach of any of the terms of, or constitute a
default under, or give rise to any right of termination, modification,
cancellation or acceleration, or result in the creation or imposition of
any Adverse Claim on the Purchased Assets under, any note, bond,

mortgage, indenture, deed of trust, contract, commitment, arrangement,
license, agreement, lease or other instrument or obligation to which

such Seller is a party or by which such Seller may be bound or to which
any of the Purchased Assets may be subject or affected, or (B) require
any Permit, consent, order or approval of, or registration, declaration or

filings with, any Governmental Body.

4.3           Financial Statements; Undisclosed Liabilities; Absence of
Certain Changes.

(a)           Each Seller has delivered to Buyer, as Schedule 4.3, (a) the
RFFG, LLC consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2009 and
September 30, 2010 (the balance sheets as of September 30, 2010 are
collectively referred to herein as the “Balance Sheet” and September 30,
2010 is referred to herein as the “Balance Sheet Date”) and the RFFG,

LLC profit and loss statements for the twelve-month period from
January 1, 2009 through December 31, 2009 and the nine-month period
from January 1, 2010 through September 30, 2010 (all such financial

statements and any notes thereto are hereinafter collectively referred to
as the “Financial Statements”).

(b)           Except as set forth in Schedule 4.3, the Financial
Statements:  (i) present fairly in all material respects the financial

position of RFFG, LLC, which includes the Business, as of the dates
thereof and the results of operations of RFFG, LLC, which includes the

Business, for the periods covered thereby; (ii) are consistent in all
material respects with the books and records of RFFG, LLC, which

includes the Business; and (iii) have been prepared in accordance with
GAAP throughout the periods indicated (except as may be indicated
therein), except that any interim Financial Statements are subject to

normal and recurring year-end adjustments, none of which is expected
to be material individually or in the aggregate.

(c)           Except as set forth in Schedule 4.3, Sellers have no material
liabilities of any nature, whether accrued, absolute, contingent or
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otherwise, and whether due or to become due, other than (i) liabilities
reflected on the Balance Sheet, or (ii) liabilities incurred subsequent to

the Balance Sheet Date in the Ordinary Course of Business.  At the
Balance Sheet Date, there were no material loss contingencies (as such

term is used in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5
issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board in March 1975)

that will not be adequately provided for in the Balance Sheet as
required by said Statement No. 5.

(d)           Except as set forth in Schedule 4.3 or as otherwise
contemplated by this Agreement, there has not occurred any Material
Adverse Effect and since December 31, 2009, Sellers have conducted

the Business in the Ordinary Course of Business.

4.4           Title to Assets; Leased Personal Property.

(a)           Sellers are the sole owners of the Purchased Assets.  Except as
set forth on Schedule 4.4(a), Sellers have good and valid title to all the
Purchased Assets, free and clear of all Adverse Claims except those
related to the Assumed Liabilities, and at the Closing will convey good
and valid title to all of such Purchased Assets to Buyer, free and clear of
all Adverse Claims.  Except as set forth on Schedule 4.4(a) hereto: (i)
the Purchased Assets constitute all of the assets which are required to
carry on the Business as presently conducted and (ii) without limiting
the foregoing, none of the Excluded Assets are used in or needed for
operation of the Business as presently conducted.

(b)           Schedule 4.4(b) hereto sets forth a list of every lease
agreement to which any Seller is a party relating to any item of
Equipment which (i) entails payments of not less than $12,000 per
annum or (ii) is otherwise material to the Business (“Equipment
Leases”).  Except as set forth on Schedule 4.4(b), each Seller has good
and valid title, free and clear of all Adverse Claims to its leasehold
interest in all items of personal property subject to the Equipment
Leases except those claims related to the Assumed Liabilities.  Each
Seller has made available to Buyer a complete and accurate copy of
each Equipment Lease, including all amendments and exhibits
thereto.  No Seller has received any written notice of any event of
default under any of the Equipment Leases.  All personal property
leased pursuant to the Equipment Leases is in all material respects in
the condition required of such property by the terms of the Equipment
Lease applicable thereto.
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4.5           Intellectual Property.

(a)           Schedule 4.5(a) hereto sets forth all of the Intellectual
Property owned by or licensed to or by Sellers.  The Intellectual
Property set forth on Schedule 4.5(a) hereto, constitutes all of the
Intellectual Property which is used in the conduct of the Business as
presently conducted. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.5(a), (i) with
respect to any Intellectual Property owned by Sellers (as opposed to
Intellectual Property of which a Seller is a licensee), Each Seller has all
right, title and interest to all Intellectual Property owned by it, without
any conflict known to such Seller with the rights of others, (ii) no
Person other than Sellers have the right to use the Intellectual Property
owned by Sellers, and (iii) Sellers have the valid right to use, pursuant
to a license, sublicense or other agreement, any Intellectual Property
used in the Business that is owned by a party other than Sellers.

(b)           Except as set forth on Schedule 4.5(b) hereto, Sellers own or
license or otherwise have the full right to use, free from any Adverse
Claims, and without payment to any other party, the Intellectual
Property, and the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions
hereby will not alter or impair such rights (other than that all such rights
will be assigned to Buyer).

4.6           Litigation.  Except as set forth in Schedule 4.6 hereto, there is
no private or governmental claim, action, lawsuit, or proceeding
pending, nor, to the knowledge of Sellers, threatened against or
affecting Sellers relating to the Purchased Assets, the Business or the
Contemplated Transactions or the other documents contemplated
hereby, at  law, in equity or otherwise,  in,  before,  or by any
Governmental  Body that  could result  in a Material  Adverse
Effect.  Except as set forth in Schedule 4.6 hereto, there is no judgment,
order, injunction, decision, award or decree of any Governmental Body
applicable to the Business or the Purchased Assets.

4.7           Taxes.  Except as set forth on Schedule 4.7, there are no
Adverse Claims for Taxes upon any of the Purchased Assets and there
are no audits  or  other proceedings or  invest igat ions by any
Governmental Body, or of any position taken on a Tax Return of
Sellers, which could reasonably be expected to give rise to an Adverse
Claims with respect to any of the Purchased Assets and/or the
Business.  All Tax Returns relating to the Business required to be filed
by Sellers have been filed with the appropriate Governmental Bodies in
all jurisdictions in which such Tax Returns are required to be filed, and
such Tax Returns are accurate; all Taxes relating to the Business
whether or not shown on a Tax Return have been fully paid.

4.8           Contracts. Except for the Assumed Contracts or as set forth
on Schedule 4.8(a) hereto, no Seller is a party to or bound by any
agreement, contract, arrangement, lease, license, understanding,
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commitment or instrument, whether oral or written, that is material to
the Business or the Purchased Assets.  Each of the Assumed Contracts,
including the Leases, is valid, binding and in full force and effect,
enforceable by Sellers in accordance with its terms, and there has not
been any cancellation or, to the knowledge of Sellers, threatened
cancellation of any such Assumed Contract or Leases, nor any pending
or, to the knowledge of Sellers, threatened material disputes
thereunder.  Except as set forth in Schedule 4.8(b) hereto, Sellers have
paid all payments and sums due and payable under each applicable
Assumed Contract and Lease to which it is a party and has performed
any obligations required to be performed by it to date under such
Assumed Contract and Lease and is not in breach or default thereunder
and, to the knowledge of Sellers, no other party to any of the Assumed
Contracts and Leases is in breach or default thereunder.

4.9           Compliance With Laws, Permits, Licenses, etc.  Sellers are in
compliance with all Legal Requirements in connection with the
Purchased Assets and the Business.  No written communication,
whether from a Governmental Body, citizens group, employee or
otherwise, has been received by Sellers and, to the knowledge of
Sellers, investigation or review is pending or threatened by any
Governmental Body with respect to (i) any alleged violation by Sellers
of any Permit, law, ordinance, regulation, requirement or order of any
Governmental Body (including, without limitation, any applicable
health, sanitation, fire, safety, zoning or building permit law, ordinance,
regulation, requirement or order) relating to the operations conducted
by Sellers in connection with the Business or (ii) any alleged failure to
have all Permits required in connection with the operations conducted
by Sellers in connection with the Business.  Schedule 4.9 lists the
material Permits required in connection with the operation of the
Business as it is now being operated and conducted by Sellers.  Sellers
hold all Permits necessary to operate or conduct the Business, and all
Permits held by Sellers are valid, effective and in good standing as of
the date hereof, except where the non-validity or non-effectiveness of
the same could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect.
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4.10         Brokers.  No Person is or will become entitled to receive any
brokerage or finder’s fee, financial advisory fee or other similar payment
in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement by

virtue of having been engaged by or acted on behalf of any Sellers.

4.11         Employees. Set forth on Schedule 4.11(a) hereto is a list of all
employees of Sellers and the Business as of the date hereof and their
respective (i) employer, (ii) position and (iii) salary.  Set forth on
Schedule 4.11(b) hereto is a list of each employment, severance,
retention or similar agreement or contract as of the date hereof,
individually or collectively, with employees of Sellers or the Business.

4.12         Real Estate. Except for as set forth on Schedule 4.12, Sellers
neither own nor lease any real estate used in the Business.

4.13         Insurance.  Schedule 4.13 hereto contains a list of the
currently effective insurance policies of Sellers with respect to the
Business or Purchased Assets.

4.14         Labor Matters. Sellers have never been a party to any
collective bargaining agreement, and, with respect to the Business (a)
Sellers are in compliance in all respects with all federal, state, foreign
or other applicable laws respecting employment and employment
practices, terms and conditions of employment, wages and hours and
occupational safety and health, and are not engaged in any unfair labor
practices; (b) no unfair labor practice complaint or other labor-related
claim or charge against either Sellers is pending before the National
Labor Relations Board or any other federal, state or local agencies; (c)
there has been no labor strike, dispute, slowdown or stoppage in the
past three years, nor is any such event pending or threatened against or
involving either Seller; (d) there are no union organization efforts
presently being made involving either Seller or any of their respective
employees; (e) there are no material controversies or grievances
pending or threatened between either Seller and any of their respective
employees, former employees or organization representing either; (f)
neither Seller has experienced any material labor difficulty during the
last three years; and (g) no collective bargaining agreement is currently
being negotiated by either Seller.  There has not been and there will not
be any material adverse change in relations with employees of either
Seller engaged in the Business as a result of any announcement or
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions.  None of the
employees of either Seller engaged in the Business is obligated under
any contract or other agreement, or subject to any judgment, decree or
order of any court or agency, which materially conflicts with Sellers’
Business as presently or proposed to be conducted.  No key employee
of either Seller engaged in the Business has notified such Seller he or
she is planning to terminate his or her employment.
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4.15        Employee Benefit Plans.  Schedule 4.15 sets forth a true and
complete list of the employee benefit plans (as defined in Section 3(3)
of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended
(“ERISA”)) currently maintained, sponsored or contributed to by a Seller
or any entity that would be deemed a “single employer” with either Seller
within the meaning of Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code, and
all material bonus, stock option, stock purchase, stock appreciation
right, incentive, deferred compensation, supplemental retirement,
post-retirement or post-termination health or welfare benefit, severance,
welfare, medical, life, vacation, sickness, change in control, death
benefit and other similar fringe and employee benefit plans, programs,
policies and arrangements, and all employment and consulting
agreements, in each case for the benefit of, or relating to, any employee
or former employee of either Seller (including their beneficiaries)
(collectively, the “Seller Employee Plans”). For purposes of the preceding
sentence, “material” means any program, plan, benefit, policy or
arrangement involving either more than five (5) persons or aggregate
liability in excess of $250,000.  Except as set forth in Schedule 4.15 and
except as would not have an Material Adverse Effect, with respect to
any of the Seller Employee Plans, (i) each Seller Employee Plan (other
than a Multiemployer Plan(as hereinafter defined)) intended to qualify
under Section 401(a) of the Code is so qualified and has received a
favorable determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service (the
“IRS”) or, pursuant to Revenue Proceeding 2005-16, may rely upon an
opinion or advisory letter; (ii) no such Seller Employee Plan is a
“multiemployer plan” within the meaning of Section 3(37) or 4001(a)(3)
of ERISA or Section 414(f) of the Code (a “Multiemployer Plan”) or a
single employer pension plan within the meaning of Section
4001(a)(15) of ERISA that is subject to Sections 4063 and 4064 of
ERISA (a “Multiple Employer Plan”), and no withdrawal liability exists
with respect to any Multiemployer Plan or Multiple Employer Plan; (iii)
there has been no “prohibited transaction” within the meaning of Section
4975(c) of the Code or Section 406 of ERISA, involving the assets of
any of the Seller Employee Plans; (iv) no “accumulated funding
deficiency” (within the meaning of Section 412 of the Code and Section
302 of ERISA) has been incurred, and no excise or other Taxes have
been incurred or are due and owing by Sellers with respect to any of the
Seller Employee Plans because of any failure to comply with the
minimum funding standards of the Code and ERISA; (v) no private or
governmental action, suit, proceeding, litigation, arbitration or
investigation has been instituted or is threatened against or with respect
to any Seller Employee Plan (other than routine claims for benefits and
appeals of such claims); (vi) each Seller Employee Plan (other than a
Multiemployer Plan) complies and has been maintained and operated in
accordance with its terms and applicable Legal Requirements,
including, without limitation, ERISA and the Code; (vii) no Seller
Employee Plan (other than a Multiemployer Plan) is under audit or
investigation by the IRS, U.S. Department of Labor or any other
Governmental Body; (viii) except as required by Section 4980B(f) of
the Code, no Seller Employee Plan provides medical, death or welfare
benefits (whether or not insured) with respect to current or former
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employees of either Seller beyond their retirement or other termination
of employment; and (ix) the consummation of the Contemplated
Transactions (either alone or in conjunction with any other event) will
not entitle any current or former employee of either Seller to any
payment (whether of severance pay, unemployment compensation,
golden parachute, bonus or otherwise) or increase the amount of
compensation due to any employee of either Seller.  Notwithstanding
the foregoing, the representations and warranties contained in this
Section 4.15 (other than the representations and warranties contained in
subsections (ii), (iii) and (viii)) are qualified such that to the extent that
any such representation or warranty applies to a Seller Employee Plan
that is a Multiemployer Plan, such representation or warranty shall be
deemed to be to the knowledge of Sellers.
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4.16         Purchased Assets.  As to each Seller, the Purchased Assets do
not constitute substantially all of the properties of such Seller within the

meaning of Section 368(a)(1)(C) of the Code.

4.17         Representations True and Correct. Neither the Financial
Statements, this Agreement nor the other documents contemplated
hereby nor any certificate or other information or document furnished
or to be furnished by Sellers to Buyer contains or will contain any
untrue statement of a material fact or omits or will omit to state a
material fact required to be stated herein or therein or necessary to
make the statements herein or therein not misleading.  There is no fact
known to either Seller which materially and adversely affects the
Purchased Assets, the Business or its properties or assets, which has not
been set forth in this Agreement, the Financial Statements, any
Schedule, Exhibit or certificate attached hereto or delivered in
accordance with the terms hereof.

ARTICLE 5.
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER

As an inducement to Sellers to enter into this Agreement and to
consummate the Contemplated Transactions, Buyer hereby represents

and warrants to Sellers, as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date,
as follows:

5.1           Organization and Good Standing.  Buyer is a corporation duly
incorporated, validly existing, and in good standing under the laws of
the State of Illinois.

5.2          Authority; No Conflict.

(a)           Buyer has the full power and authority to execute and deliver
this Agreement and the other documents contemplated hereby to which
it is a party and to consummate the Contemplated Transactions.  The
execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other documents
contemplated hereby to which Buyer is a party and the performance and
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby by
Buyer have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate actions on
the part of Buyer.  Upon execution and delivery by Buyer of this
Agreement and the other documents contemplated hereby to which
Buyer is a party and, subject to the due authorization, execution and
delivery of such agreements by the other parties thereto, each of this
Agreement and the other documents contemplated hereby will
constitute valid and binding obligations of Buyer, enforceable against
Buyer in accordance with their terms, except as enforceability may be
limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and
other similar laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally and
by general  equitable principles (regardless of whether such
enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).
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(b)           Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by
Buyer nor the consummation or performance of any of the

Contemplated Transactions by Buyer will give any Person the right to
prevent, delay, or otherwise interfere with any of the Contemplated
Transactions pursuant to: any provision of Buyer’s Organizational

Documents; any resolution adopted by the board of directors or the
stockholders of Buyer; any Legal Requirement or order to which Buyer
may be subject; or any contract to which Buyer is a party or by which

Buyer may be bound.

5.3           Consents.  Except for the consent of Crestmark Bank and
such consents as may be obtained prior to Closing, Buyer is not and

will not be required to obtain any consent from any Person in
connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the

consummation or performance of any of the Contemplated
Transactions.

5.4           Certain Proceedings.  As of the date hereof, there is no
pending proceeding that has been commenced against Buyer and that
challenges, or may have the effect of preventing, delaying, making

illegal, or otherwise interfering with, any of the Contemplated
Transactions.  To Buyer’s knowledge, no such proceeding has been

threatened as of the date hereof.

5.5           Brokers or Finders.  Buyer and its officers and agents have
incurred no liability for brokerage or finders’ fees or agents’

commissions or other similar payment in connection with this
Agreement.

5.6           SEC Reports.  Parent’s reports (and financial statements
included therein) filed with the SEC (“SEC Reports”) from January 1,

2010 through the date hereof (the “Reporting Period”) are accurate in all
material respects and comply in all material respects with the SEC’s

information reporting requirements with respect to such reports.  Parent
has filed all SEC Reports due during the Reporting Period.  There has

been no material adverse change in Parent’s financial condition,
business or prospects since the filing of its most recent Form 10-Q,

other than such changes due to circumstances affecting the staffing and
human resources services industry generally.  The financial statements
contained in the SEC Reports fairly present the consolidated financial
condition and results of operations of Parent as at and for the periods

therein specified in accordance with GAAP, all as more particularly set
forth in such financial statements and the notes thereto.  The SEC

Reports do not contain any untrue statements of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements contained

therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading.

Edgar Filing: UNUMPROVIDENT CORP - Form 424B5

Table of Contents 56



5.7           Issuance of Shares.  The shares of Parent’s common stock
anticipated to be issued to Sellers under Section 2.5(b) hereof, when

issued in accordance with this Agreement, will be validly issued, fully
paid and non-assessable, free from all taxes, liens, claims,

encumbrances and charges with respect to the issue thereof, will not be
subject to preemptive rights or other similar rights of shareholders of
Parent, and will not impose personal liability on the holders thereof.

ARTICLE 6.
COVENANTS

6.1           Covenant Not to Compete.  From and after Closing, each
Seller and Mr. Bean covenants and agrees as follows:
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(a)           Each of the Sellers and Mr. Bean hereby acknowledges that it
is familiar with the Business and the trade secrets and with other
confidential information related to the Business.  Each of the Sellers
and Mr. Bean acknowledges and agrees that Parent and Buyer would be
irreparably damaged if either of the Sellers, Mr. Bean or any of their
respective Affiliates, were to provide services to or otherwise
participate in the business of any Person competing with the Business
in a similar business (other than as contemplated by the Management
Agreement) and that any such competition by either of the Sellers
and/or Mr. Bean would result in a significant loss of goodwill by Parent
and Buyer.  Each of the Sellers and Mr. Bean further acknowledges and
agrees that the covenants and agreements set forth in this Section 6.1
were good and sufficient consideration for each of the Sellers and Mr.
Bean and were a material inducement to Parent and Buyer to enter into
this Agreement and to perform their respective obligations hereunder,
and that Parent and Buyer would not obtain the benefit of the bargain
set forth in this Agreement as specifically negotiated by the Parties
hereto if either of the Sellers and/or Mr. Bean breached the provisions
of this Section 6.1.  Therefore, each of the Sellers and Mr. Bean agrees,
in further consideration of the Purchased Assets and the goodwill of the
Business sold by Sellers and Mr. Bean, that during the five (5) year
period after the Closing Date (the “Restricted Period”), each of the Seller
and Mr. Bean shall not (and shall cause their respective Affiliates not
to) directly or indirectly own any interest in, manage, control,
participate in (whether as an owner, officer, director, manager,
employee, partner, agent, representative or otherwise), consult with,
render services for, or in any other manner engage anywhere where the
Business is presently conducted or presently proposed to be conducted
in any business engaged directly or indirectly relating to the Business or
the business engaged in by Buyer; other than as contemplated by the
Management Agreement.   Each of the Sellers and Mr.  Bean
acknowledges that the geographic restrictions and time periods, as well
as all other restrictions and covenants contained in Section 6.1 are
reasonable and necessary, and supported by good and valuable
consideration, to protect the goodwill of Buyer’s business and the
Business being sold by Sellers and Mr. Bean pursuant to this
Agreement.

(b)           Until an employee has been separated from employment by
Buyer (or its Affiliate) for at least one year, each of the Sellers and Mr.

Bean agrees that it shall not (and shall cause its Affiliates not to)
directly, or indirectly through another Person during the two (2) year

period after the Closing Date, (i) induce or attempt to induce any
employee of the Business, or any of their Affiliates to leave the employ
of the Business, Buyer or any of their Affiliates, or in any way interfere

with the relationship between the Business, Buyer or any of their
Affiliates and any employee thereof, (ii) hire any person who was an
employee of the Business, Buyer or any of their Affiliates at any time

during the twelve-month period immediately prior to the date on which
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such hiring would take place (it being conclusively presumed by the
Parties so as to avoid any disputes under this Section 6.1 that any such

hiring within such twelve-month period is in violation of clause (i)
above).

(c)           Each of the Sellers and Mr. Bean agrees that it shall not (and
shall cause its Affiliates not to) directly, or indirectly through another
Person during the Restricted Period, call on, solicit or service any
client, customer, supplier, licensee, licensor or other business relation of
Buyer, the Business, or any of their Affiliates (including any Person
that was a client, customer, supplier or other potential business relation
of Buyer, the Business, or any of their Affiliates at any time during the
twelve month period immediately prior to such call, solicit or service),
induce or attempt to induce such Person to cease doing business with
the Business, Buyer or any of their Affiliates, or in any way interfere
with the relationship between any such customer, supplier, licensee,
licensor or business relation and the Business, Buyer or any of their
Af f i l i a t e s  ( i nc lud ing  mak ing  any  nega t ive  s t a t emen t s  o r
communicat ions  about  the  Business ,  Buyer  or  any of  thei r
Affiliates).  After the Closing, neither Mr. Bean nor either of the Sellers
shall make any negative statements or communications about Parent or
Buyer, the Business, the Purchased Assets or any of their Affiliates’
businesses.

(d)           If, at the time of enforcement of the covenants contained in
this Section 6.1 (the “Restrictive Covenants”), a court shall hold that the
duration, scope or area restrictions stated herein are unreasonable under
circumstances then existing, the Parties agree that the maximum
duration, scope or area reasonable under such circumstances shall be
substituted for the stated duration, scope or area and that the court shall
be allowed and directed to revise the restrictions contained herein to
cover the maximum period, scope and area permitted by law.  Each of
the Sellers and Mr. Bean has consulted with legal counsel regarding the
Restrictive Covenants and based on such consultation has determined
and hereby acknowledges that the Restrictive Covenants are reasonable
in terms of duration, scope and area restrictions and are necessary to
protect the goodwill of the Business, Buyer’s business and the
substantial investment in the Business made by Parent and Buyer
hereunder.

(e)           If either of the Sellers, Mr. Bean or any of their respective
Affiliates breaches, or threatens to commit a breach of, any of the
Restrictive Covenants, Parent and Buyer shall have the following rights
and remedies, each of which rights and remedies shall be independent
of the others and severally enforceable, and each of which is in addition
to, and not in lieu of, any other rights and remedies available to Parent
and Buyer at law or in equity: (i) the right and remedy to have the
Restrictive Covenants specifically enforced by any court of competent
jurisdiction, it being agreed that any breach or threatened breach of the
Restrictive Covenants would cause irreparable injury to the Business
and Parent and Buyer and that money damages would not provide an
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adequate remedy to Buyer and that a bond of no more than $250 is
sufficient to any action by Parent and Buyer for temporary or injunctive
relief; and (ii) the right and remedy to require either or both of the
Sellers and/or Mr. Bean to account for and pay over to Parent and
Buyer any profits, monies, accruals, increments or other benefits
derived or received by such Person as the result of any transactions
constituting a breach of the Restrictive Covenants.
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(f)            In the event of any breach or violation by a Seller and/or Mr.
Bean of any of the Restrictive Covenants, the time period of such
covenant shall be tolled until such breach or violation is resolved.

(g)           Nothing contained in this Agreement shall prohibit either of
the Sellers or Mr. Bean, from (i) collecting any receivables of Sellers
arising from the operation of the Business prior to the Closing, or (ii)
winding down the business of Sellers (other than the Business and the

Purchased Assets).

6.2           Increase in Authorized Common Stock; Stockholder
Approval, Additional Listing Application and Issuance of Shares.

Parent covenants and agrees as follows:

(a)            As promptly as possible following the Closing, Parent agrees
to submit the issuance of the shares representing the Stock

Consideration to a vote of its stockholders, (i) as required by Section
712 of the NYSE Amex Stock Exchange Company Guide and (ii) to
approve an amendment to its Articles of Incorporation to increase the
number of shares of its common stock authorized for issuance in order
to have authorized but unissued shares of common stock equal to at

least 100% of the aggregate number of shares of common stock issuable
to Sellers under Section 2.5(b) hereof.

(b)           If Parent receives the required approval of its stockholders for
the issuance of the shares representing the Stock Consideration (the
“Stockholder Approval”), then, as promptly as possible following such

Stockholder Approval, Parent agrees to prepare and submit to the
NYSE Amex Stock Exchange, an additional listing application for the
shares of Parent’s common stock representing the Stock Consideration

(the “Additional Listing Application”).

(c)           If the Additional Listing Application receives final approval
from the NYSE Amex Stock Exchange (“NYSE Amex Final Approval”),
then, in accordance with Section 2.5(b), Parent shall issue or cause to be
issued to Sellers, the shares of Parent’s common stock representing the

Stock Consideration.

6.3           Further Assurances.  The Parties agree (a) to furnish upon
request to each other such further information, (b) to execute and

deliver to each other such other documents, and (c) to do such other
acts and things, all as the other Party may reasonably request for the

purpose of carrying out the intent of this Agreement and the documents
referred to in this Agreement, including without limitation, furnishing
any information necessary for the submission of the Additional Listing
Application and any subsequent additional listing applications to the

NYSE Amex Stock Exchange or the principal national securities
exchange in the United States on which Parent’s shares of common

stock is then traded.
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6.4          Employees of the Business.  Buyer shall have no obligation to
hire any employee of either Seller.  Any employee of a Seller who

accepts an offer of employment from Buyer shall become an employee
of Buyer on the date such person reports to work for Buyer.

6.5           Final Payroll.  Sellers shall pay the amount of salaries, wages
and benefits earned through the Closing Date by each of their respective
employees who may become an employee of Buyer on the Closing Date

on such Seller’s next regularly scheduled pay date for that employee.

6.6           Stock Consideration.

(a)           The Stock Consideration shall be subject to the Registration
Rights Agreement. Sellers acknowledge that such Stock Consideration
shall be issued to Sellers pursuant to applicable exemptions from
registration requirements under the Securities Act and applicable
exemptions from the securities qualification requirements of state law.
Sellers acknowledge that the Stock Consideration may not be resold or
transferred unless an exemption from such registration and qualification
requirements is available.  Sellers further understand and acknowledge
that the Stock Consideration may not be resold pursuant to Rule 144, as
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the
Securities Act, unless all of the conditions of such Rule 144 are
met.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Seller agrees not to effect
any transfer or resale of the Stock Consideration unless and until such
Seller shall have notified Parent of the proposed disposition of such
shares and provided a written summary of the terms and conditions of
the proposed disposition and such Seller shall have provided Parent
with written assurances, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory
Parent, that the proposed disposition does not require registration of
such shares under the Securities Act or qualification under state
securities laws of any applicable state, or all appropriate action
necessary for compliance with the registration requirements of the
Securities Act or of any exemption from registration under the
Securities Act, and of qualification under applicable state law or
exemption therefrom, has been taken.
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(b)           Sellers further acknowledge that Parent shall not be required
to transfer on its books any of the Stock Consideration that has been
sold or transferred in violation of the provisions of this Agreement or
treat as the owner of any such Stock Consideration, or otherwise to

accord voting or dividend rights, to any transferee to whom any of such
Stock Consideration has been transferred in violation of this

Agreement.

6.7           Use of Name.  As promptly as possible following the Closing,
Sellers shall file all documents and take all actions necessary to enable
Buyer to utilize the mark “AmeriTemps” and as a dba, assumed name,
trade name or otherwise with respect to the operations of the
Business.  After the Closing Date, neither Sellers nor any of their
respective Affiliates (except as expressly provided in the Management
Agreement), shall transact business as, or use in the conduct of its
businesses or otherwise, the name used by it as of the date hereof,
AmeriTemps, DMCC Staffing, RFFG of Cleveland, or any other
similar name.  From and after the Closing, each Seller covenants and
agrees not to and to cause their  respective Affiliates not to use (except
as expressly provided in the Management Agreement) or otherwise
employ the trade name, corporate name, dba or similar Intellectual
Property rights utilized by Sellers in the conduct of the Business prior
to the Closing, which rights are included in the Purchased Assets
purchased hereunder.

6.8           Collection of Post-Closing Receivables. To the extent that
either of the Sellers or any of their respective Affiliates shall receive
any payment, collection and proceeds in respect of any post-Closing
accounts receivable, Sellers or their respective Affiliates, as the case
may be, shall be deemed to have received such payments, collections or
proceeds in trust for Buyer and shall immediately transfer and return to,
or in accordance with the written direction of, Buyer, at such account or
other place as Buyer may so instruct, and in the form received (subject
to endorsement where appropriate).

6.9           Conduct of the Business Pending the Closing.  Between the
date of this Agreement and the Closing Date, except as specifically
required by another provision of this Agreement, Sellers and Mr. Bean
shall, and shall cause their Affiliates to, (i) conduct the Business in, and
not take any action  except in, the Ordinary Course of Business; and (ii)
use reasonable best efforts to preserve substantially intact the  business
organization of the Sellers and the Affiliates, to keep available the
services of the current officers, employees and consultants of the
Business, and to preserve, in all material respects, the current
relationships of the Business with customers, franchisees, licensees,
suppliers and other persons with which Sellers and its Affiliates have
business relations.

ARTICLE 7.
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INDEMNIFICATION

7.1           Sellers’ Indemnity.  Each of the Sellers and Mr. Bean agree to
indemnify, defend and hold Buyer (and Buyer’s officers, representatives,
directors, employees, successors, Affiliates and permitted assigns)
harmless from and against any and all loss, Liability, obligation, claim,
demand, lawsuit, action, assessment, damage (including punitive,
exemplary, consequential, lost profits and business interruption), or
expenses whatsoever (including interest, penalties, fines, attorneys’ fees
and expenses ( including those incurred to enforce r ights  to
indemnification hereunder, and consultant’s fees and other costs of
defense or investigation), and interest on amounts payable as a result of
any of the foregoing (“Damages”) which may be asserted against,
imposed upon or incurred by any of them by reason of, resulting from,
or in connection (directly or indirectly) with the following:

(i)            any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty
of Sellers or Mr. Bean contained in or made pursuant to this
Agreement, provided, however, that  the determination of whether such
an inaccuracy or breach has occurred will disregard (I) materiality
qualifiers (including those relating to yielding a “Material Adverse
Effect”), (II) knowledge qualifiers (other than those involving
knowledge of contemplated or threatened acts or omissions of third
parties) and (III) time limitations that limit disclosure in any
representation and warranty to acts or omissions or facts or
circumstances after a specified date.
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(ii)           any breach of any covenant or agreement contained in, made,
or to be performed by Sellers pursuant to this Agreement.

(iii)          the operation of the Business prior to the Closing Date
(including but not limited to Damages arising by reason of (A) goods
and services provided and sold by Sellers prior to the Closing Date; (B)
acts or omissions of Sellers and their employees occurring prior to the
Closing Date; and (C) Damages arising with respect to the litigation
disclosed in Schedule 4.6); and

(iv)          the Assets Purchase Agreement, by and between Extinct
Temps, Inc. (f/k/a AmeriTemps, Inc). and WTS Acquisition Corp.,
dated as of December 18, 2008.

7.2           Buyer’s Indemnity. Buyer agrees to indemnify, defend and
hold Sellers harmless from and against any and all losses, liabilities,
damages, costs and expenses (including court costs and reasonable
attorneys’ fees) incurred by Sellers to the extent arising from or
attributable to: (a) the breach of any representation or warranty of
Buyer contained in this Agreement; (b) any breach of any covenant or
agreement of Buyer contained in this Agreement; and (c) the operation
of the Business after the Closing Date (including but not limited to
those arising by reason of (A) goods and services provided and sold by
Buyer after the Closing Date; and (B) acts or omissions of Buyer and its
employees occurring after the Closing Date).

7.3           Right of Set Off. Buyer may, but shall not be obligated to,
deduct the amount of any Damages from any Cash Consideration,
Additional Cash Consideration or Additional Stock Consideration that
may be due Sellers under Section 2.5.

7.4           Survival.  All representations and warranties of any Party
contained in this Agreement shall survive the execution and delivery of
this  Agreement and the consummation of the Contemplated
Transactions, but shall be extinguished and be of no further force or
effect five (5) years after the Closing Date.

7.5           Procedure for Indemnification.

(a)           Promptly after receipt by an indemnified party of notice of the
commencement of any proceeding against it by a third party, such
indemnified party will ,  i f  a claim is to be made against  any
indemnifying party with respect to such action, give notice to the
indemnifying party of the commencement of such claim.

(b)           The indemnifying party will be entitled to participate in such
proceeding and, to the extent that it wishes to assume the defense of
such proceeding with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified
party and, after notice from the indemnifying party to the indemnified
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party of its election to assume the defense of such proceeding, the
indemnifying party will not, as long as it diligently conducts such
defense, be liable to the indemnified party for any fees of other counsel
or any other expenses with respect to the defense of such proceeding
subsequently incurred by the indemnified party in connection with the
defense of such proceeding.  In connection with any indemnification,
the indemnified party will cooperate with all reasonable requests of the
indemnifying party. A claim for indemnification for any matter not
involving a third party claim may be asserted by prompt written notice
to the party from whom indemnification is sought, subject to any
limitations contained in this Article 7.

(c)           The indemnifying party shall have 10 days to object to any
notice of claim or loss made by an indemnified party.  If the
indemnifying party objects to such notice of claim or loss, or fails to
respond in such time period, the Parties shall endeavor in good faith to
settle the dispute through negotiation.  If the dispute cannot be resolved
through negotiation, or another mutually agreeable dispute resolution
mechanism, either of the Parties has the right to request non-binding
mediation.  If mediation fails to resolve the dispute, the Parties agree to
submit the matter in dispute to binding arbitration.  Written notice of
the intent to submit a matter to arbitration shall be given by the party
requesting the same.  The arbitration proceedings shall be conducted in
accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American
Arbitration Association, or, if the Parties so agree, the relevant rules of
another arbitration entity or organization agreed upon by the Parties.  In
any case, regardless of any rules of the selected arbitration organization
to the contrary, only one (1) arbitrator shall be used to decide the
outcome of the arbitration.  Such arbitration shall be held in the State of
Florida, or if the Parties agree upon another location, that other
location.  The arbitrator shall prepare and serve a written decision
which shall state the bases of the award and include detailed findings of
fact and conclusions of law and designating the party against whom the
decision is rendered.  The award may be vacated, modified or corrected
based upon any grounds referred to in the Federal Arbitration Act,
where the arbitrators’ findings of fact are not supported by substantial
evidence, or where the arbitrators’ conclusions of law are erroneous. 
The costs of the arbitration shall be shared equally by the Parties,
provided that the fees, costs, and expenses of the prevailing party (as
reasonably determined by the arbitrator(s)), including arbitrators’ and
reasonable attorney fees incurred in connection with any such
arbitration, shall be paid by the losing party in the event the arbitrator(s)
determine the proceeding was brought or defended in bad faith by the
losing party.   The costs and expenses of the prevailing party in
collecting any such award shall be paid by the non-prevailing party.
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ARTICLE 8.
GENERAL PROVISIONS

8.1           Notices. Notices and other communications required by this
Agreement will be in writing and delivered by hand against receipt or

sent by recognized overnight delivery service, by certified or registered
mail, postage prepaid, with return receipt requested or by facsimile.  All

notices will be addressed as follows:

If to Sellers and/or Mr. Bean:

RFFG, LLC
5025 West Lemon Street
Suite 200
Tampa, Florida  33609
Telephone: (813) 637-2140
Facsimile: (813) 637-2222
Attention: Thomas Bean

If to Buyer and/or Parent:

General Employment Enterprises, Inc.
One Tower Lane, Suite 2200
Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois  60181
Telephone: (630) 954-0400
Facsimile: (630) 954-0595
Attention: General Counsel

with a copy to:

Olshan Grundman Frome Rosenzweig & Wolosky LLP
Park Avenue Tower
65 East 55th Street
New York, New York  10022
Telephone: (212) 451-2300
Facsimile: (212) 451-2222
Attention:  Robert H. Friedman, Esq.

or such address as shall be furnished by such notice to the other Parties
or to such other addresses as may be designated by a proper
notice.  Notices will be deemed to be effective upon receipt (or refusal
thereof) if personally delivered or sent by recognized overnight delivery
service, upon three (3) days following the date of mailing if sent by
certified mail or upon electronically verified transmission, if such
delivery is by facsimile, provided that any such facsimile transmittal is
confirmed by sending, within twenty-four (24) hours, a copy of such
transmittal by overnight delivery service.
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8.2           Confidentiality.  The Parties will maintain in confidence, and
will cause their respective officers, employees, agents, and advisors to
maintain in confidence, any written, oral, or other information obtained
in confidence from another party in connection with this Agreement or
the Contemplated Transactions, unless (a) such information is already
known to such party or to others not bound by a duty of confidentiality
or such information becomes publicly available through no fault of such

party, (b) the use of such information is necessary or appropriate in
making any filing in connection with or obtaining any consent or

approval required for the consummation of the Contemplated
Transactions, or (c) the furnishing or use of such information is

required by legal proceedings.  If the Contemplated Transactions are
not consummated, each Party will return or destroy as much of such

written information as the other Party may reasonably request.

8.3           Binding Agreement; Assignment.  This Agreement and the
right of the Parties hereunder shall be binding upon and inure to the
benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective successors, assigns,
heirs, estates and legal representatives.  This Agreement shall not be
assigned by any Party without the express written consent of the other
Parties, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed,
provided that Buyer may assign its purchase rights to an Affiliate
without consent of Sellers or Mr. Bean, whereupon such Affiliate shall
be “Buyer” for all purposes hereunder.

8.4           Entire Agreement; Amendment.  This Agreement, and the
Exhibits and Schedules attached hereto, constitute the entire Agreement
and understanding among the Parties hereto and supersedes and revokes
any prior agreement or understanding relating to the subject matter of
this Agreement.  No change, amendment, termination or attempted
waiver of any of the provisions hereof shall be binding upon the other
Party unless reduced to writing and signed by both Parties.

8.5           Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or
more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of
which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  Receipt of
faxed or scanned and emailed signature pages shall have the same legal
effect as the receipt of original signature pages.

8.6           Expenses. The Parties hereto will each pay their own
attorneys’ and accountant fees, expenses and disbursements in
connection with the negotiation and preparation of this Agreement and
the other Contemplated Transactions and, unless otherwise set forth in
this Agreement, all other costs and expenses incurred in performing and
complying with all conditions to be performed under this Agreement
and the other Contemplated Transactions.

8.7           Further Assurances.  Upon reasonable request from time to
time, the Parties hereto will deliver and/or execute such further
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instruments as are necessary or appropriate to the consummation of the
Contemplated Transactions.

8.8           Construction.  Within this Agreement, the singular shall
include the plural and the plural shall include the singular, and any
gender shall include the other genders, all as the meaning in the context
of this Agreement shall require.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be
construed against the draftsperson solely on the basis of drafting alone,
given that both Parties fully reviewed and negotiated this Agreement
with their counsel. The captions used in this Agreement are inserted for
convenience only and shall not constitute a part hereof.

8.9            Exhibits and Schedules.  All Exhibits and Schedules attached
to this Agreement are by this reference incorporated herein and made an
essential part hereof.

8.10         Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction.  This Agreement
shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the
State of New York applicable to contracts executed in and to be
performed entirely in that State, without regard to conflicts of laws
principles thereof to the extent that the general application of the laws
of another jurisdiction would be required thereby.  The Parties hereto
hereby irrevocably submit to the jurisdiction of any state or federal
court sitting in the County of New York, State of New York, in any
action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement, and
the Parties hereby irrevocably agree that all claims in respect of such
action or proceeding may be heard and determined exclusively in such
state or federal court.  The Parties hereto hereby irrevocably waive, to
the fullest extent permitted by law, any objection which they or any of
them may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such
action or proceeding brought in any such court, and any claim that any
such action or proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in
an inconvenient forum.

A-20

Edgar Filing: UNUMPROVIDENT CORP - Form 424B5

Table of Contents 70



8.11         No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement is not
intended, and shall not be deemed, to confer upon or give any Person

except the Parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns any
remedy, claim, Liability, reimbursement, cause of action or other right

under or by reason of this Agreement.

8.12         Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence for this Agreement.

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed and delivered this
Agreement as of the date first set forth above.

SELLERS:

DMCC STAFFING, LLC

By: /s/ Thomas J. Bean
Name: Thomas J. Bean
Title: Manager

RFFG OF CLEVELAND, LLC

By: Thomas J. Bean
Name: Thomas J. Bean
Title: Manager

BUYER:

TRIAD PERSONNEL SERVICES, INC.

By: /s/ Salvatore J. Zizza
Name:
Title:

PARENT:

GENERAL EMPLOYMENT
ENTERPRISES, INC.

By: /s/ Salvatore J. Zizza
Name:
Title:

/s/ Thomas J. Bean
THOMAS J. BEAN
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EXHIBIT B
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

[SS&G LETTERHEAD]

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Parent Company
Cleveland, Ohio

We have audited the accompanying carve-out balance sheets of RFFG
of Cleveland, LLC and DMCC Staffing, LLC (components of RFFG,
LLC; collectively, the Divisions) as of October 31, 2010 and December
31, 2009, and the related carve-out statements of income and due from
parent and cash flows for the period from January 1, 2010 to October
31, 2010 and for the year ended December 31, 2009.  These carve-out
financial  s tatements are the responsibil i ty of  the Divisions’
management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
carve-out financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America.  Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the carve-out financial statements are free of
material misstatement.  An audit includes consideration of internal
control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Divisions’
internal control over financial reporting.  Accordingly, we express no
such opinion.  An audit also includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the carve-out
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall carve-out financial statement presentation.  We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

The carve-out financial statements referred to in the first paragraph
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Divisions as of October 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, and the
results of its operations and cash flows for the period from January 1,
2010 to October 31, 2010 and for the year ended December 31, 2009, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

/s/ SS&G Financial Services

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

January 28, 2011
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RFFG OF CLEVELAND, LLC AND DMCC STAFFING, LLC
CARVE-OUT FINANCIAL BALANCE SHEETS 

OCTOBER 31,
2010

DECEMBER 31,
2009

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash $ 149,581 $ 153,180
Accounts receivable – trade, net of
allowance for doubtful accounts of
$25,054 and $13,132 at October 31,
2010 and December 31, 2009,
respectively 1,131,753 819,661
Accounts receivable – related parties 53,873 50,000
Prepaid expenses 1,530 1,198

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,336,737 1,024,039

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net 5,316 5,629

OTHER ASSETS
Customer lists, net of accumulated
amortization of $73,353and $40,011 at
October 31, 2010 and December 31,
2009, respectively 126,701 160,043
Trade name 205,056 205,056

331,757 365,099
$ 1,673,810 $ 1,394,767

LIABILITIES AND DUE FROM
PARENT

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bank overdraft $ 57,933 $ -
Line of credit 761,413 518,747
Accounts payable and accrued
expenses 148,576 169,619
Accrued workers’ compensation 130,359 115,923
Current portion of contingent
consideration 159,820 79,459
Related part payables 900,808 1,192,437

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 2,158,909 2,076,185

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION,
net of current portion 27,411 95,730
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DUE FROM PARENT (512,510 ) (777,148 )

$ 1,673,810 $ 1,394,767

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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RFFG OF CLEVELAND, LLC AND DMCC STAFFING, LLC

CARVE-OUT STATEMENTS OF INCOME DUE FROM PARENT 

FOR THE
PERIOD
FROM

JANUARY 1,
2010 TO ,

OCTOBER 31,
2010

FOR THE
YEAR
ENDED

DECEMBER 31,
2009

REVENUES $ 5,923,929 $ 4,778,483

COST OF OPERATIONS
Payroll 4,369,322 3,481,850
Payroll taxes 458,956 393,022
Workers’ compensation 247,308 192,463
Other 34,591 75,952

5,110,177 4,143,287

GROSS PROFIT 813,752 635,196

GENERAL AND
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 439,348 624,769

OTHER EXPENSE, net
Bad debt expense (12,049 ) (16,240 )
Interest expense (53,349 ) (48,938 )
Gain on acquisition - 60,966
Miscellaneous income 1,444 1,050

(62,954 ) (3,162 )

NET INCOME 311,450 7,265

DUE FROM PARENT, beginning of
the period/year (777,148 ) -

NET CASH TRANSFERRED FROM
PARENT (46,812 ) (784,413 )

DUE FROM PARENT, end of the
period/year $ (512,510 ) $ (777,148 )

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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RFFG OF CLEVELAND, LLC AND DMCC STAFFING, LLC

CARVE-OUT STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 

FOR THE
PERIOD
FROM

JANUARY 1,
2010 TO ,

OCTOBER 31,
2010

FOR THE
YEAR
ENDED

DECEMBER 31,
2009

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 311,450 $ 7,265
Adjustments to reconcile net income
to net cash (used in) provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 35,515 42,082
Amortization of imputed interest 12,042 14,282
Bad debt expense 12,049 16,240
Gain on acquisition - (60,966 )
(Increase) decrease in:
Accounts receivable - trade (324,141 ) (835,901 )
Accounts receivable – related parties (3,873 ) (50,000 )
Prepaid expenses (332 ) (1,198 )
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable, accrued workers’
compensation and other accrued
expenses (6,607 ) 285,542
Related party payables (291,629 ) 1,192,437

NET CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED
BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES (255,526 ) 609,783

CASH FLOWS FORM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions of property and
equipment (1,860 ) -

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES (1,860 ) -

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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RFFG OF CLEVELAND, LLC AND DMCC STAFFING, LLC

CARVE-OUT STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 

FOR THE
PERIOD
FROM

JANUARY 1,
2010 TO ,

OCTOBER 31,
2010

FOR THE
YEAR
ENDED

DECEMBER 31,
2009

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Net borrowings on line of credit $ 242,666 $ 518,747
Repayment of note payable - (125,033 )
Repayment of contingent consideration - (65,904 )
Increase in bank overdraft 57,933 -
Change in due to parent 46,812 (784,413 )

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED
IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 253,787 (456,603 )

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN
CASH (3,599 ) 153,180

CASH, beginning of period/year 153,180 -

CASH, end of period/year $ 149,581 $ 153,180

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES
OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash paid during the period/year for:
Interest $ 40,307 $ 34,656

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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RFFG OF CLEVELAND, LLC AND DMCC STAFFING, LLC

NOTES TO CARVE-OUT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE A – Nature of operations and summary of significant accounting
policies

Nature of operations
RFFG of Cleveland, LLC (RFFG) and DMCC Staffing, LLC (DMCC)
supply the office, industrial and technical trade markets in northeast
Ohio with temporary help.

Basis of presentation
The accompanying carve-out financial statements include the accounts
of RFFG and DMCC (the Divisions), which are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of RFFG, LLC (the Parent).  The carve-out financial
statements include all expenses incurred by the Parent on the Divisions’
behalf.  All other operations of the Parent have been excluded herein,
including the operations of RFFG’s 80%-owned subsidiary, Premier
Healthcare Professionals, Inc. (PHP), which was purchased in March
2009 and sold in March 2010.

Concentrations of credit risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Divisions to
concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and accounts
receivable.  The Divisions place its temporary cash investments with
financial institutions and, at times during the period from January 1,
2010 to October 31, 2010 and for the year ended December 31, 2009,
they had invested amounts in excess of federal insurance limits.  In
addition, at October 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, the Divisions
had accounts receivable from three customers and two customers that
amounted to 75% and 77% of total accounts receivable, respectively. In
addition, for the period from January 1, 2010 to October 31, 2010 and
for the year ended December 31, 2009, the Divisions had sales to two
and three customers that represented 69% and 80% of total sales for the
period or year, respectively.  At October 31, 2010 and December 31,
2009, the Divisions had no other concentrations of credit risk.

Accounts receivable - trade
The  D iv i s i on s  r epo r t  t r ade  r e ce i vab l e s  a t  n e t  r e a l i z ab l e
value.  Management determines the allowance for doubtful accounts
based on historical losses and current economic conditions.  On a
continuing basis, management analyzes delinquent receivables and,
once these receivables are determined to be uncollectible, they are
written off through a charge against an existing allowance account or
against earnings.

Property and equipment
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Property and equipment are recorded at cost.  Depreciation is calculated
using the straight line method over the following estimated useful lives
of the assets:

Office equipment 7 years
Computer equipment 3 – 5 years

Routine expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensed as
incurred.
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RFFG OF CLEVELAND, LLC AND DMCC STAFFING, LLC

NOTES TO CARVE-OUT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE A – Nature of operations and summary of significant accounting
policies, continued

Customer lists and trade name
The Divisions account for intangible assets in accordance with the
Intangibles – Goodwill and Other Topic of the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) Codification.  As a result, the customer lists
are amortized over their finite life on a straight-line basis.  For the
period from January 1, 2010 to October 31, 2010 and for the year ended
December 31, 2009, amortization expense was $33,342 and $40,011,
respectively.  Estimated future amortization expense at October 31,
2010 is as follows:

From November 1, 2010 to
December 31, 2011 $6,669

For the Years Ending
December 31:
2011 40,011
2012 40,011
2013 40,010

$126,701

In addition, the trade name is not being amortized but rather is
measured annually for impairment.  As of October 31, 2010 and
December 31, 2009, management has determined that there is no
impairment of the trade name.

Revenue recognition
The Divisions recognize revenue when services are rendered to
customers.

Advertising costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.  Advertising expense was
$863 and $1,280 for the period from January 1, 2010 to October 31,
2010 and for the year ended December 31, 2009, respectively.

Income taxes
The Divisions operate as limited liability companies and pass all
income and loss to its Parent, which is also a limited liability
company.  Accordingly, no provision for federal and state local income
taxes has been made in these carve-out financial statements.

Edgar Filing: UNUMPROVIDENT CORP - Form 424B5

Table of Contents 84



As of October 31, 2010, the Divisions had no uncertain tax positions
that qualify for either recognition or disclosure in the carve-out
financial statements.  Tax years that remain subject to examination are
the period from January 1, 2010 to October 31, 2010 and the year ended
December 31, 2009.

Taxes collected from customers
The Divisions collect sales tax from its customers on certain sales
which is remitted to various state governmental authorities when
due.  The Divisions’ policy is to record taxes collected from customers
as a component of other current liabilities on its balance sheet and not
in its statement of income.

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates
and  assumpt ions  tha t  a f fec t  cer ta in  repor ted  amounts  and
disclosures.  Accordingly, actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Events occurring after the reporting date
The Divisions’ management has evaluated events and transactions that
occurred between October 31, 2010 and January 28, 2011, which is the
date that the carve-out financial statements were available to be issued,
for possible recognition or disclosure in the carve-out financial
statements.
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RFFG OF CLEVELAND, LLC AND DMCC STAFFING, LLC

NOTES TO CARVE-OUT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE B – Property and equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following at October 31, 2010
and December 31, 2009:

2010 2009

Office equipment $1,550 $1,550
Computer equipment 8,010 6,150

9,560 7,700
Less: accumulated depreciation (4,244) (2,071)

$5,316 $5,629

For the period from January 1, 2010 to October 31, 2010 and for the
year ended December 31, 2009, depreciation expense amounted to
$2,173 and $2,071, respectively.

NOTE C – Line of credit

The Parent and two affiliated entities have a joint line of credit
agreement with a bank that allows for borrowings of up to 85% of the
face amount of each company’s acceptable accounts receivable, as
defined, not to exceed a maximum credit facility of $6,000,000.  At
October 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, interest charged on the line
of credit was 8.125%.  In conjunction with the agreement, the
companies assign their receivables to the bank as collateral.  However,
the companies remain the lawful owners of and have good and
undisputed title to all accounts.  In addition, the line of credit agreement
is guaranteed by WTS Acquisition Corporation, the parent company of
the Parent.

As of October 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, the outstanding
borrowings allocated to the Divisions amounted to $761,413 and
$518,747, respectively.

NOTE D – Related party transactions

The Divisions are related to other enti t ies through common
ownership.  For the period from January 1, 2010 to October 31, 2010
and for the year ended December 31, 2009, the Divisions loaned and
received funds for operations.
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At October 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, accounts receivable –
related parties is comprised of the following:

2010 2009

Onsite $3,873 $-
Trinity 50,000 50,000

$53,873 $50,000
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RFFG OF CLEVELAND, LLC AND DMCC STAFFING, LLC

NOTES TO CARVE-OUT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE D – Related party transactions, continued

Accounts payable – related parties is comprised of the following at
October 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009:

2010 2009

Workers’ Temporary Staffing, Inc. $869,808 $857,906
WTS Risk, LLC 21,000 21,000
WTS Space Coast, LLC 10,000 10,000
Oxygen - 303,531

$900,808 $1,192,437

The accompanying carve-out financial statements do not necessarily
reflect what the Divisions’ financial position, results of its operations
and cash flows would have been had the Divisions operated without its
association with the Parent.  The Parent incurred certain corporate
expenses that have been allocated to the Divisions based on net
sales.  For the period from January 1, 2010 to October 31, 2010 and for
the year ended December 31, 2009, the Parent has allocated $142,950
and $136,173, respectively, in such expenses to the Divisions.

NOTE E – Leases

The Divisions lease office facilities and equipment under various
long-term and month to month leases.  These leases are accounted for
as operating leases.  Following is a schedule of future minimum
payments allocated to the Divisions under agreements that have initial
or remaining noncancellable terms in excess of one year as of October
31, 2010:

2011 $12,028
2012 12,460
2013 2,089

$26,577

Total rent expense for the period from January 1, 2010 to October 31,
2010 and for the year ended December 31, 2009 allocated to the
Divisions amounted to $21,485 and $25,317 respectively.

NOTE F – Acquisition
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On January 1,  2009,  WTS Acquisi t ion Corporat ion,  and i ts
wholly-owned subsidiary, the Parent (collectively, WTS), purchased
certain assets of the Ohio operations of AmeriTemps, Inc. (the Ohio
Operations).  WTS subsequently divided the Ohio Operations into six
who l l y - owned  s u b s i d i a r i e s ,  wh i c h  i n c l u d e d  RFFG  a nd
DMCC.  Consideration paid by WTS for the entire Ohio Operations
amounted to $1,000,000 in cash and up to $2,750,000 in contingent
consideration based upon the Ohio Operations meeting certain gross
billing amounts, as defined.

The transaction was accounted for in accordance with the Business
Combinations Topic of the FASB Codification.  The assignment of
total consideration on the date of acquisition was based upon fair
values.  The allocation of the intangible assets and contingent
consideration to RFFG and DMCC was based upon the Divisions’
anticipated gross billings to the total anticipated gross billings of the
entire Ohio Operations, and was as follows:

B-9
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RFFG OF CLEVELAND, LLC AND DMCC STAFFING, LLC

NOTES TO CARVE-OUT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE F – Acquisition, continued

ASSETS
Office and computer equipment $ 7,700
Customer list 200,054
Trade name 205,056

$ 412,810

LIABILITIES
Note payable $ 125,033
Contingent consideration 226,811

$ 351,844

Fair value methods used for the identifiable net assets and liabilities
acquired in the acquisition make use of quoted market prices in active
markets and discounted cash flows using current interest rates.

As a result of the acquisition, the Divisions recognized a gain of
$60,966 for the year ended December 31, 2009.  This amount is
included as a separate line item in other expense, net,  in the
accompanying carve-out statements of income.

NOTE G – Commitments and contingencies

In conjunction with WTS’s acquisition of the Ohio Operations (see Note
F), the contract of sale included a provision that AmeriTemps, Inc. (the
Seller) would be responsible for workers’ compensation liabilities
related to retrospectively rated workers’ compensation programs entered
into by the Seller over a nine-year period of time.  The claims in the
programs have continued to mature, and, currently, the monies owed by
the Seller, of which the Divisions were a component, exceed
$2,800,000.

The Ohio Bureau of Workers’ Compensation (OBWC) reviewed the
transaction and ruled that WTS’s acquisition of the Ohio Operations
constituted a transfer in whole of the Ohio Operations.  Accordingly,
OBWC is holding WTS responsible for the retrospective rating charges
should the Seller be unable to pay.  In the event that WTS would pay
the retrospective rating charges, the Divisions could potentially be
responsible for a portion of the total retrospective rating bill.  The
amount allocated to the Divisions would be based upon claim and
payroll transfer.  In addition, WTS will deduct any such amounts paid
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related to the OBWC from the remaining contingent consideration
owed to the Seller.  Accordingly, WTS has not paid the seller any
contingent consideration since November 2009.

While the results of litigation proceedings cannot be predicted with
certainty, the Divisions believe that the disposition of these matters will
not have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the
Divisions.

NOTE H – Subsequent events

Effective November 1, 2010, General Employment Enterprises, Inc.
and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Triad Personnel Services, Inc.
(collectively, General Employment) entered into an asset purchase
agreement with RFFG and DMCC for the purchase of certain assets of
RFFG and DMCC for $2,400,000 of General Employment’s stock and
contingent consideration of up to another $2,400,000 in cash based
upon the Divisions’ meeting certain earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) targets, as defined, during
2011 to 2014.  The closing of the asset purchase agreement was subject
to certain conditions, including entry into a definitive management and
services agreement by General Employment of the business of certain
affiliates of RFFG and DMCC.  General Employment executed that
management agreement on November 30, 2010, with an effective date
of November 1, 2010.
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EXHIBIT C

PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The General Employment Enterprises, Inc. (“GEE”) unaudited pro forma
condensed combined financial statements set forth below are based on
the Company’s historical financial statements and the assumption that
business combination between GEE, On-Site and DMCC & RFFG of
Cleveland occurred as of October 1, 2009:

•An unaudited pro forma balance sheet is not included in the
following financial statements as the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2010, which was disclosed in the
Company’s 10Q filing, includes the acquired entities.

•The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of
operations for the three months ended December 31, 2010, combines
the December 31, 2010 historical statement of operations for GEE,
which includes three months of operations of On-Site and two
months of operations of DMCC & RFFG of Cleveland and one
month of the October 31, 2010 historical statement of operations for
DMCC & RFFG of Cleveland; and

•The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of
operations for the twelve months ended September 30, 2010,
combines the September 30, 2010 historical statement of operations
for GEE, which includes four months of operation of On-Site and the
September 30, 2010 historical statement of operations for DMCC &
RFFG of Cleveland and eight months of the historical statements of
operations for On-Site; and

•The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements
are presented for informational purposes only, and are based on
certain assumptions that we believe are reasonable and do not purport
to represent our financial condition or our results of operations had
the business combination occurred on or as of the dates noted above
or to project the results for any future date or period.  In the opinion
of management, all adjustments have been made that are necessary to
present fairly the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
information; and

•The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements
do not reflect any benefits from potential cost savings or expense
synergies resulting from this business combination.
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The acquisition of On-Site was treated as a purchase of a business for
accounting purposes, and On-Site's assets acquired and liabilities
assumed have been recorded at their fair value on the acquisition date
of June 1, 2010.

In connection with the business combination, GEE acquired
substantially all of On-Site's intangible assets, including its customer
list for 1,476,015 shares of GEE common stock, valued at $487,000
based on the quoted market price of the GEE's common stock on the
date of the closing of the transaction. In addition, the On-Site
shareholder can receive additional consideration of up to $1,020,000
through a combination of cash and GEE's common stock if On-Site
achieves certain revenue and earnings goals through 2014. The fair
value of this contingent consideration has been initially assessed at
zero, as it is not anticipated On-Site will meet the required financial
performance targets. In the event the estimated fair value of this
contingent consideration changes in future periods, the change in fair
value will be recorded in the statement of operations.

Effective November 1, 2010, GEE and its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Triad Personnel Services, Inc., entered into an asset purchase
agreement, with DMCC Staffing, LLC, (“DMCC”), RFFG of Cleveland,
LLC, (“RFFG of Cleveland”), and Thomas J. Bean (the “Asset Purchase
Agreement”), for the purchase of certain assets of DMCC and RFFG of
Cleveland, including customer lists, comprising DMCC and RFFG of
Cleveland’s services business.

The assets purchased related to RFFG of Cleveland and DMCC
constitute businesses and as such the acquisition of these assets was
accounted for as a business combination.  The assets acquired and
liabilities assumed have been recorded at their fair value on the
acquisition date of November 1, 2010. Pursuant to the Asset Purchase
Agreement, GEE will issue $2,400,000 in shares of its common stock
(5,581,395 shares based on the December 30, 2010 closing date) to
DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland upon receipt of (a) stockholder
approval of the transaction and of an increase to GEE’s authorized
common stock and (b) approval of an additional listing application by
the NYSE Amex Stock Exchange.
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In addition, commencing in 2011, if the aggregate EBITDA of the
business acquired, including any management fees earned by GEE
under the Management Agreement, meets certain targets (each, an

“EBITDA Target”) over a four-year period ending December 31, 2014
(the “Earnout Period”), GEE will be required to make earn-out payments

to DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland, each payable in three equal
installments.   In the event that an EBITDA Target for a certain period

is not met, the earn-out payment in respect of such period will be
reduced proportionately.  The EBITDA Targets will be $300,000,

$600,000, $900,000 and $1,200,000 for each of the three-, six-, nine-
and twelve-month periods, respectively, in the fiscal year ending

December 31, 2011, and earn-out payments will consist of quarterly
payments of $150,000, payable in three equal monthly installments, if

the relevant EBITDA Targets are met.  Starting in the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2012, the EBITDA Targets will be adjusted annually to
reflect the EBITDA for the twelve-month period ending on December

31st of the most recently completed fiscal year (each, an “Annual
EBITDA Target”) and earn-out payments for the year will be adjusted to
equal 50% of the relevant Annual EBITDA Target divided by four. At
the end of each fiscal year during the Earn-out Period, if the aggregate
EBITDA for the 12-month period then ended is greater than the Annual
EBITDA Target for such year, GEE will pay to DMCC and RFFG of

Cleveland the amount of such excess, 50% in cash and 50% in shares of
common stock.  The estimated fair value of the earn-out to be paid

under this agreement approximates $2,200,000.

In conjunction with the purchase agreement, effective November 1,
2010, GEE entered into a management agreement with RFFG, LLC (the
previous parent company of RFFG of Cleveland and DMCC Staffing,
LLC) to provide services to RFFG to operate its day-to-day business,

including services related to accounting, sales, finance, workers
compensation, benefits, physical locations, IT, and employees.

In consideration of the services provided under the management
agreement, RFFG will pay the GEE approximately 6% of its gross
revenues.  Gross revenues of RFFG are expected to approximate
$18,000,000 on an annual basis, resulting in an expected management
fee of approximately $1,000,000 per year.  GEE will need to add
employees to provide the services required under the management
agreement.

We have not completed a final assessment of the fair values of assets
and liabilities of DMCC/RFFG of Cleveland. Accordingly, to the extent
such assessments indicate different fair values as presented herein, such
adjustments will be made but are not expected to be material.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations

Twelve months ended September 30, 2010

(In Thousands,
Except Per Share
Data) GEE

DMCC/
RFFG
of

Cleveland OnSite

Pro
forma

adjustments Proforma

Net revenues:
Contract services $9,020 $ 5,332 $8,736 $ - $ 23,088
Placement services 2,897 - - - $ 2,897
Management Fees - - - 1,041  a $ 1,041
Net revenues 11,917 5,332 8,736 1,041 27,026

Operating
expenses:
Cost of contract
services 7,111 4,505 8,303 - $ 19,919
Selling, general
and administrative
expenses 6,126 527 286 141 $ 7,080
Amortization of
intangibles 191 - 132 581  b $ 904
Goodwill
impairment loss - - 280 (280 )c $ -
Total operating
expenses 13,428 5,032 9,001 442 $ 27,903

Income (loss) from
operations (1,511 ) 300 (265 ) 599 (877 )

Other income
(loss) (45 ) (212 ) (3 ) 6  d $ (254 )

Net loss (1,556 ) 88 (268 ) 605 (1,131 )

Diluted loss per
share $(0.11 ) $- $ - $ (0.06 )
Weighted average
common shares
outstanding 13,874 0 - 7,057  e 20,437

See notes to unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of
operations.

  Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of
Operations

(a) 
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To record the revenue and expenses for the services provided under
the management agreement for RFFG's companies.  The estimated
revenue , based on unaudited historical financial information, for
the twelve months ending September 30, 2010 is $1,041 less
estimated expenses for management labor and misc expense of $141
for a net of $900

(b) To record amortization on identifiable intangibles in the 2010
Statement of Operations and eight months of amortization expense
related to OnSite's and twelve months of amortization expense
related to the DMCC/RFFG of Cleveland  identifiable intangible
assets assuming the business combination occurred as of October 1,
2009.

(c) To reverse impairment loss on pre-acquisition goodwill of OnSite

(d) The adjustment for a change in the interest expense because a
reduction in the interest rate

(e) Represents shares of General Employment common stock to be
issued as consideration to the seller of OnSite and DMCC and
RFFG of Cleveland.

C-3
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Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations

Three months ended December 31, 2010

(In Thousands, Except
Per Share Data) GEE

DMCC/
RFFG
of

Cleveland

Pro
forma

adjustments Proforma

Net revenues:
Contract services $ 4,887 $ 591 $ - $ 5,478
Placement services 923 - - $ 923
Management Fees 162 153 a $ 315
Net revenues 5,972 591 153 6,716

Operating expenses:
Cost of contract services 4,115 503 - $ 4,618
Selling, general and
administrative expenses 1,735 44 12 $ 1,791
Amortization of
intangibles 94 - 43 b $ 137
Total operating expenses 5,944 - 547 - 55 $ 6,546

Income (loss) from
operations 28 - 44 - 98 170

Other income (loss) (13 ) (3 ) 1 c $ (15 )

Net loss 15 - 41 - 99 155

Diluted income per share $ 0.00 $ 0.01
Weighted average
common shares
outstanding 14,921 5,581 d 20,441

See notes to unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of
operations.

Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of
Operations

(a) To record the revenue and expenses for the services provided under
the management agreement for RFFG's companies.  The estimated
revenue, based on unaudited historical financial information, for the
one month of October 31, 2010 is $ 153 less estimated expenses for
management labor and misc expense of $12 for a net of $141

(b) To record amortization on identifiable intangibles in the 2010
Statement of Operations and to record one month of amortization
expense related to DMCC/RFFG of Cleveland identifiable
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intangible assets assuming the business combination occurred as of
October 1, 2010.  

(c) The adjustment for a change in the interest expense because a
reduction in the interest rate--

(d) Represents shares of General Employment common stock to be
issued as consideration to the seller DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland

C-4

Edgar Filing: UNUMPROVIDENT CORP - Form 424B5

Table of Contents 98



EXHIBIT D
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K/A FOR THE FISCAL YEAR

ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, DC 20549

FORM 10-K/A
Amendment No. 1

xAnnual Report Under Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010

oTransition Report Under Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934

Commission File Number 1-05707

GENERAL EMPLOYMENT ENTERPRISES, INC
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Illinois 36-6097429
 (State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

 (I.R.S. Employer Identification
Number)

One Tower Lane, Suite 2200,
Oakbrook Terrace, IL 60181

(Address of principal executive
offices) (Zip Code) 

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (630) 954-0400

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which
registered

Common Stock, no par value NYSE Amex

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned
issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.

Yes o No x

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports
pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.
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Yes o No x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports
required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period
that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been

subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.
 Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted
electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every

Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to
Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (Section 232.405 of this chapter) during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was

required to submit and post such files).
Yes o No o

D-i
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Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to
Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be

contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or
information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this

Form 10-K or any amendment to the Form 10-K. o

Indicate by checkmark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer,
an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting

company.  See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer”
and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act

(check one):

Large accelerated
filer

o Accelerated filer o

Non-accelerated
filer

o Smaller reporting
company

x

Indicate by checkmark whether the registrant is a shell company (as
defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Yes o No x

The aggregate market value of the common stock held by non-affiliates
computed by reference to the price at which the common stock was last

sold as of March 31, 2009 was $1,698,000.

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant’s common stock as of
September 30, 2010 was 14,856,000.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the General Employment Enterprises, Inc. Proxy Statement
for the annual meeting of shareholders held on February 10, 2011 are

incorporated by reference into Part III of this Form 10-K/A.
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EXPLANATORY PARAGRAPH

The purpose of this Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A (the
“Amendment”) is to amend General Employment Enterprises, Inc.’s
previously filed Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2010, filed with the Securities Exchange Commission on
December 28, 2010 (the “Original Form 10-K”), to include (a) a
conformed electronic signature of BDO USA, LLP to the Report of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm; (b) dates to the
signatures on the “Signatures” page; and (c) dated certifications as
Exhibits 31,01, 31.02, 32.01 and 32.02. The conformed electronic
signature of BDO USA, LLP to the Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm and the dates on the “Signatures” page and
certifications were each inadvertently omitted from the Original Form
10-K.

For the convenience of the reader, this Amendment sets forth the
Original 10-K in its entirety and includes the amendments described
above. This Amendment does not reflect events occurring after the
filing of the Original Form 10-K, nor does it modify or update
disclosures therein in any way other than as required to reflect the
amendments described above. Among other things, forward-looking
statements made in the Original Form 10-K have not been revised to
reflect events that occurred or facts that became known after the filing
of the Original Form 10-K, and such forward-looking statements should
be read in their historical context.

D-iii
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PART I

Item 1, Business.

General

General Employment Enterprises, Inc. (the Company”) was incorporated
in the State of Illinois in 1962 and is the successor to employment
offices doing business since 1893. In 1987 the Company established
Triad Personnel Services, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary, incorporated
in the State of Illinois. In June 2010 the Company purchased certain
assets of On-Site services, a temporary staffing agricultural business.
The principal executive office of the Company is located at One Tower
Lane, Suite 2200, Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois.

Services Provided

The Company provides the following distinctive services: (a) placement
services (b) temporary professional staffing services in the fields of
information technology, engineering, & accounting and (c ) temporary
staffing in the agricultural industry.

The Company’s placement services include placing candidates into
regular, full-time jobs with client-employers. The Company’s contract
services include placing its professional employees on temporary
assignments, under contracts with client companies. Professional
contract workers are employees of the Company, typically working at
the client location and at the direction of client personnel for periods of
three months to one year. Management believes that the combination of
these two services provides a strong marketing opportunity, because it
offers customers a variety of staffing alternatives that includes direct
hire, temporary staffing and a contract-to-hire approach to hiring. The
Company’s temporary staffing in the agricultural industry provides
agricultural workers for farms and groves located in Florida, Georgia,
Indiana, and Alabama.  Most of the workers will migrate from location
to location because the work is seasonal depending on the type of
crop.  The percentage of revenues derived from the Company’s services
is as follows:

Year Ended
September 30
2010 2009

Professional contract services 53 % 60 %
Placement services 24 % 40 %
Agricultural contract services 23 % —

Marketing
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The Company markets its services using the trade names General
Employment Enterprises, Omni One, Business Management Personnel,
Triad Personnel Services, Generation Technologies and On-Site
Services. As of September 30, 2010, it operated eleven branch offices
located in downtown or suburban areas of major U.S. cities in eight
states. The offices were located in Arizona, California (2), Florida (2),
Illinois, Indiana, Massachusetts, North Carolina and Ohio (2).

The Company markets its professional staffing services to prospective
clients primarily through telephone marketing by its recruiting and sales
consultants, and through emailing of employment bulletins listing
candidates available for placement and contract employees available for
assignment.  The Company’s agricultural staffing services are marketed
directly through contacts and relationships built and maintained by the
division’s general manager.

The portion of consolidated net revenues derived from the Company’s
two largest customers together was approximately 17 % in fiscal 2010
and 21% in fiscal 2009, and no other customer accounted for more than
7% of net revenues during either year.

D-1
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Competition

The staffing industry is highly competitive. There are relatively few
barriers to entry by firms offering placement services, while significant
amounts of working capital typically are required for firms offering
contract services. The Company’s competitors include a large number of
sole-proprietorship operations, as well as regional and national
organizations. Many of them are large corporations with substantially
greater resources than the Company.

Because the Company focuses its attention on professional staffing
positions, it competes by providing highly qualified candidates who are
well matched for the position, by responding quickly to client requests,
and by establishing offices in convenient locations. As part of its
service, the Company provides for professional reference checking,
scrutiny of candidates’ work experience and optional background
checks. In general, pricing is considered to be secondary to quality of
service as a competitive factor. During slow hiring periods, however,
competition can put pressure on the Company’s pricing.

The agricultural staffing industry is considered a niche business that
requires a high capital reserve to cover the weekly payroll.  There are
few businesses in this market and the Company does not anticipate a
significant change in the pricing for the next year.

Recruiting

The success of the Company’s professional staffing services is highly
dependent on its ability to obtain qualified candidates. Prospective
employment candidates are generally recruited through telephone
contact by the Company’s employment consultants or through postings
on the Internet. For Internet postings, the Company maintains its own
web page at www.generalemployment.com and uses other Internet job
posting bulletin board services. The Company maintains database
records of applicants’ skills to assist in matching them with job
openings. The Company screens and interviews applicants who are
presented to its clients.  The Company’s agricultural service employees
are generally seasonal migrant workers, which are typically recurring
workers or are directly recruited by the customers.

Employees

As of September 30, 2010, the Company had approximately 68 regular
employees and 103 contract service employees.

Item 1A, Risk Factors.

Not applicable.
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Item 1B, Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.

Item 2, Properties.

The Company’s policy is to lease commercial office space for all of its
offices. The Company’s headquarters are located in a modern 31-story
building near Chicago, Illinois. The Company leases 8,200 square feet
of space at that location under a lease that will expire in 2015. The lease
may be cancelled by the Company in 2012 under certain conditions.

The Company’s staffing offices are located in downtown and suburban
business centers in eight states. Established offices are operated from

leased space ranging from 800 to 2,000 square feet, generally for initial
lease periods of three to five years, with cancellation clauses after

certain periods of occupancy in some cases. Management believes that
existing facilities are adequate for the Company’s current needs and that
its leasing strategies provide the Company with sufficient flexibility to

open or close offices to accommodate business needs.

D-2
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Item 3, Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, the Company is subject to various legal proceedings
and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. As of September
30, 2010, there were no material legal proceedings pending against the
Company.

Item 4, Reserved

Not applicable.

PART II

Item 5, Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder
Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

The Company’s common stock is listed on the NYSE Amex stock
exchange and is traded under the symbol JOB. The following table sets
forth the quarterly high and low sales prices per share of the Company’s
common stock on the consolidated market for each quarter within the
last two fiscal years.

Fourth
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Second
Quarter

First
Quarter

Fiscal 2010:
   High $ .41 $ .67 $ .77 $ .84
   Low .22 .25 .51 .50

Fiscal 2009:
   High $ 1.47 $ .58 $ .52 $ .54
   Low .46 .36 .19 .30

There were 661 holders of record on September 30, 2010.

No dividends were declared or paid during the three month period
ended September 30, 2010.  We do not anticipate paying any cash
dividends for the foreseeable future.

Information concerning securities authorized for issuance under equity
compensation plans is presented in Item 12 of this annual report.

During the three months ended September 30, 2010, no equity
securities of the Company were purchased by the Company.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Not Applicable.
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Item 6, Selected Financial Data.

Not Applicable.

Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations.

Overview

The Company provides contract and placement staffing services for
business and industry, primarily specializing in the placement of
information technology, engineering and accounting
professionals.  With the acquisition of On-Site Services, Inc. (On-Site)
in June 2010, the Company also began to provide contract staffing
services for the agricultural industry. On June 1, 2010, the Company
entered into an asset purchase agreement to purchase certain assets of
On-Site Services, Inc. which qualified as a business combination. This
business is located in Florida and provides labor and human resource
solutions, including temporary staffing, to the agricultural industry. The
results of operations of On-Site are included in the Company’s statement
of operations from the date of the acquisition. As of September 30,
2010, the Company operated twelve offices located in eight states.

The Company’s professional staffing services business is highly
dependent on national employment trends in general and on the demand
for professional staff in particular.  As an indicator of employment
conditions, the national unemployment rate was 9.6% in September
2010 and 9.8% in September 2009.  This indicates a trend toward a
relatively flat level of unemployment in the United States during the
last twelve months.

During the year ended September 30, 2010, the U.S. economy
experienced a period of continued uncertainty stemming from problems
in the housing and credit markets.  According to the U.S. Department of
Labor, the national employment level declined by approximately six
million jobs during the period.  Management believes that employers
have remained extremely cautious about hiring during the period.  As a
result, the Company experienced sharp declines in both the number of
billable contract hours and the number of placements.

Consolidated net revenues for the year ended September 30, 2010
increased 14.6% compared with the prior year due to the acquisition of
On-Site.  Contract service revenues, including On-Site, increased by
43.6%, while placement service revenues decreased by 29.6%.  Due to
the restructuring of its corporate and field operations during the third
quarter of fiscal 2009, and the Company’s efforts to reduce selling,
general, and administrative expenses, the Company was able to lower
its loss from operations from $4,228,000 in the prior year to $1,556,000
in the current year.
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Results of Operations

Net Revenues
Consolidated net revenues are comprised of the following:

Year Ended
September 30

(In Thousands) 2010 2009
$ $

Placement Services 2,897 4,114
Professional Contract Services 6,127 6,280
Agricultural Contract Services 2,803 —

Consolidated Net Revenues $11,917 $10,394

Consolidated net revenues increased by $1,523,000 (14.6%) from the
prior year and was primarily due to the acquisition of On-Site in June
2010, which contributed $2,803,000 in revenue for fiscal 2010.  The
increase was offset by lower professional contract and permanent
placement services.  Professional contract and placement services
decreased by $63,000 (1%) and $1,217,000 (29.6%) from the prior

year, respectively.  As a result of the weaker economic conditions that
prevailed during the year ended September 30, 2010, the Company

experienced less demand for these services.
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Cost of Contract Services
The cost of contract services includes wages and the related payroll
taxes and employee benefits of the Company’s employees while they
work on contract assignments.  The cost of contract services for the
year ended September 30, 2010 increased by $2,737,000 (63%) due to
the acquisition of On-Site in June 2010.  Due to competitive pricing
pressures during the period, the gross profit margin on the professional
contract services business decreased from 30.4% in the prior year to
29.1% in the current year.  The gross profit margin of the On-Site
business was 3.5% for the four months ended September 30, 2010.  The
lower margin of the On-Site business was the primary reason for the
decrease in the consolidated contract service gross profit margin from
30.4% in the prior year to 21.1% in the current year.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses include the following
categories:

• Compensation in the operating divisions, which includes
commissions earned by the Company’s employment
consultants and branch managers on permanent and
temporary placements.  It also includes salaries, wages,
unrecovered advances against commissions, payroll taxes
and employee benefits associated with the management
and operation of the Company’s staffing offices.

•Administrative compensation, which includes salaries, wages, payroll
taxes and employee benefits associated with general management and
the operation of the finance, legal, human resources and information
technology functions.

•Occupancy costs, which includes office rent, depreciation and
amortization, and other office operating expenses.

•Recruitment advertising, which includes the cost of identifying job
applicants.

•Other selling, general and administrative expenses, which includes
travel, bad debt expense, fees for outside professional services and
other corporate-level expenses such as business insurance and taxes.

The Company’s largest selling, general and administrative expense is for
compensation in the operating divisions.  Most of the Company’s
employment consultants are paid on a commission basis and receive
advances against future commissions.  Advances are expensed when
paid.  When commissions are earned, prior advances are applied against
them and the consultant is paid the net amount.  At that time, the
Company recognizes the full amount as commission expense, and
advance expense is reduced by the amount recovered.  Thus, the
Company’s advance expense represents the net amount of advances
paid, less amounts applied against commissions.
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Selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended
September 30, 2010 decreased $3,881,000 (38.1%).  Compensation in
the operating divisions decreased by $955,000 (46.5%), reflecting lower
commission expense on the lower volume of placement
business.  Administrative compensation decreased by $1,491,000
(65.9)%, reflecting executive pay reductions, staff reductions and lower
deferred compensation expense.  Additionally, in fiscal 2009, the
Company recorded an administrative compensation provision of
$1,070,000 for a consulting agreement signed with its former Chief
Executive Officer (see Liquidity section below).  No additional
provisions have been recorded in fiscal 2010 related to this agreement,
as the obligation is getting paid out ratably over the next five
years.  Branch occupancy costs decreased by $664,000 (55.9%) for the
period because of operating fewer branch offices than last
year.  Recruitment advertising also decreased $508,000 (57.9)% due to
lower utilization of job board posting services.  The fiscal 2010 results
also include a 70.4% increase in professional fees.  Legal and
accounting fees increased by $256,000 over the prior year due to
professional fees incurred related to both the On-Site acquisition &
other acquisition targets that were considered during the year.

Other
Interest income for the year ended September 30, 2010 was down
$37,000 from last year due to a combination of lower funds available
for investment and a lower average rate of return on investments.

There were no credits for income taxes as a result of the pretax losses
incurred during the periods because there was not sufficient assurance
that future tax benefits would be realized.
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Interest expense has increased $26,000 in 2010 primarily due to a full
year of interest expense recorded for the accretion of the discount

recorded on the liability for the former CEO’s consulting agreement as
more fully described below.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of September 30, 2010 the Company had cash and cash equivalents
of $945,000, which was a decrease of $1,865,000 from September 30,
2009.  Net working capital at September 30, 2010 was $1,209,000,
which was a decrease of $1,400,000 from September 30, 2009 and the
current ratio was 1.9 to 1.  Shareholders’ equity as of September 30,
2010 was $1,592,000 which represented 46.9% of total assets.

During the year ended September 30, 2010, net cash used by operating
activities was $1,865,000.  The net loss for the period, adjusted for
depreciation and other non-cash charges, used $1,256,000, while
working capital items used $609,000. During the year ended September
30, 2009, net cash used by operating activities was $2,695,000. The net
loss for fiscal 2009 adjusted for depreciation and other non-cash
charges, used $3,591,000, while working capital items provided
$896,000. Overall, the decrease in cash used in operations during fiscal
2010 is due to the decrease in the net loss. The decrease in the net loss
is primarily attributable to a restructuring of corporate and field
operations which occurred during the third quarter of fiscal 2009,
resulting in significant cost reductions. Working capital consumed cash
of $609,000 in fiscal 2010 due primarily to an increase in accounts
receivable of $382,000 because of the acquisition of On-Site and the
timing of payment of accounts payable.

There was no cash used in investing activities during fiscal 2010. The
Company does not expect any significant use of cash for capital
expenditures in fiscal 2011. During fiscal 2010, the Company acquired
certain assets of On-Site Services, Inc through the issuance of
1,476,015 shares of its common stock. Additionally, the former owner
of On-Site is entitled to earn-out payments over the next four years
totaling up to $1,020,000; $600,000 of which is payable in cash and
$420,000 of which is payable in either cash or common stock or any
combination  thereof, in the Company’s sole discretion, upon the
attainment of certain aggregate performance targets. The Company has
determined that the fair value of the contingent consideration that could
be paid under this earn-out agreement is zero based on the estimated
probability of any payment being made.

In November 2010, the Company purchased certain assets of RFFG of
Cleveland and DMCC Staffing, LLC (“DMCC”) and entered into a
management agreement with RFFG, LLC (the previous parent company
of RFFG of Cleveland and DMCC Staffing, LLC) to provide services to
RFFG to operate its day-to-day business, including services related to
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accounting, sales, finance, workers compensation, benefits, physical
locations, IT, and employees. Thomas J. Bean, a 10% shareholder of
the Company (prior to consideration of common shares issued in this
transaction), is the owner of RFFG.

In consideration of the services provided under the management
agreement, RFFG will pay the Company approximately 6% of its gross
revenues. Gross revenues of RFFG are expected to approximate $18
million on an annual basis, resulting in an expected management fee of
approximately $1 million per year. The Company will need to add
employees to provide the services required under the management
agreement. The assets purchased related to RFFG of Cleveland and
DMCC Staffing , LLC constitute businesses and as such the acquisition
of these assets will be accounted for as a business combination. In
consideration for the assets acquired and the rights under the
management contract, the Company paid $2.4 million through the
issuance of its common stock. In addition, the purchase agreement
requires the Company to make additional payments of up to $2.4
million over the next four years if certain performance targets are
achieved. These earn-out payments will be paid 50% in cash and 50%
through the issuance of the Company’s common stock. Under the terms
of the agreement, the maximum amount payable under the earn-out
agreement for fiscal 2011 is $350,000.

All of the Company’s office facilities are leased.  As of September 30,
2010, future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable lease
commitments having initial terms in excess of one year, including
closed offices, totaled $1,674,000.  At that date, the Company also had
contractual obligations to purchase approximately $446,000 of
recruitment advertising through December 2011.
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In fiscal 2009, to improve liquidity, the Company completed the sale of
7,700,000 shares of common stock to PSQ and raised net cash proceeds
of $1,384,000.

In connection with the completion of the sale of shares of common
stock to PSQ in the prior year, the Company’s Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer and President (the “former CEO”) resigned from those
positions and his employment agreement with the Company was
replaced by a new consulting agreement.  Under the consulting
agreement, the Company became obligated to pay an annual consulting
fee of $180,000 over a five-year period and to issue 500,000 shares of
common stock to the former CEO for no additional consideration, and
the Company recorded a liability for the net present value of the future
fee payments in the amount of $790,000.  As of September 30, 2010,
$611,000 remains payable under this agreement and is included in
accrued expenses on the Company’s balance sheet.

During fiscal 2010, the Company had a loan and security agreement
with Crestmark Bank for financing of its accounts receivable.  Under
the terms, the Company was allowed to borrow up to 85% of its eligible
accounts receivable, not to exceed $3,500,000. The loan was secured by
accounts receivable and other property of the Company.  Interest was
charged at the rate of 1%above the prime rate.  In addition, the
agreement requires a service fee of $3,500 per month and an annual fee
equal to 1% of the total maximum borrowing under the facility. The
term was for three years (twenty six months remaining as of September
30, 2010) or earlier upon demand by Crestmark, and will be renewed
automatically for consecutive two year terms unless terminated by
either party.  As of September 30, 2010, there were no outstanding
borrowings under the line of credit.

The loan and security agreement with Crestmark Bank included
financial covenants which require compliance until termination of the
agreement.  As of September 30, 2010, the Company was in
compliance with all such covenants.  The borrowing base availability
under this agreement was approximately $610,000 as of September 30,
2010.

In December 2010, the Company terminated its agreement with
Crestmark Bank & entered into a 2 year $3 million account purchase
agreement (“AR Credit Facility”) with Wells Fargo Bank N.A. (“Wells
Fargo”). The AR Credit Facility provides for borrowings on a revolving
basis, of up to 85% of the Company’s eligible accounts receivable less
than 90 days old and bears interest at a rate equal to the three month
LIBOR plus 5.25%. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions in the
agreement, Wells Fargo may determine which receivables are eligible
receivables, may determine the amount it will advance on any such
receivables, and may require the Company to repay advances made on
receivables and thereby repay amounts outstanding under the AR Credit
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Facility. Wells Fargo also has the right to require the Company to
repurchase receivables that remain outstanding 90 days past their
invoice date. The Company continues to be responsible for the
servicing and administration of the receivables purchased. The
Company will carry the receivables and any outstanding borrowings on
its consolidated balance sheet.

The Company believes that the borrowing availability under the Wells
Fargo agreement will be adequate to fund the increase in working
capital needs resulting from the acquisitions of On-Site, RFFG of
Cleveland, and DMCC Staffing.

In recent years, the Company has incurred significant losses and
negative cash flows from operations. Management has implemented a
strategy which included cost reduction efforts as well as identifying
strategic acquisitions, financed primarily through the issuance of
common stock, to improve the overall profitability and cash flows of
the Company. In addition, as discussed above, the Company entered
into an AR Credit Facility with Wells Fargo to provide working capital
financing. In the event Wells Fargo elects not to advance us funds on
our accounts receivable balance or the performance of the acquired
entities does not meet our expectations, we could experience liquidity
constraints.

As of September 30, 2010, there were approximately $8,900,000 of
losses available to reduce federal taxable income in future years
through 2029, and there were approximately $7,000,000 of losses
available to reduce state taxable income in future years, expiring from
2010 through 2029.  Due to the sale of shares of common stock to PSQ
during fiscal 2009, it is likely that the Company will be limited by
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code as to the amount of net
operating losses that may be used in future years.  The Company is
currently evaluating the effects of any such limitation.  Future
realization of the tax benefits of net operating loss carryforwards
ultimately depends on the existence of sufficient taxable income within
the carryforward period.  Based on the weight of available evidence, the
Company determined that it is more likely than not that all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. Accordingly, the Company
maintained a full valuation allowance as of September 30, 2010.

D-7

Edgar Filing: UNUMPROVIDENT CORP - Form 424B5

Table of Contents 118



Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of September 30, 2010, and during the year then ended, there were
no transactions, agreements or other contractual arrangements to which
an unconsolidated entity was a party, under which the Company (a) had
any direct or contingent obligation under a guarantee contract,
derivative instrument or variable interest in the unconsolidated entity,
or (b) had a retained or contingent interest in assets transferred to the
unconsolidated entity.

Critical Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America and the rules of the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Management makes estimates and assumptions that can affect the
amounts of assets and liabilities reported as of the date of the financial
statements, as well as the amounts of reported revenues and expenses
during the periods presented. Those estimates and assumptions
typically involve expectations about events to occur subsequent to the
balance sheet date, and it is possible that actual results could ultimately
differ from the estimates. If differences were to occur in a subsequent
period, the Company would recognize those differences when they
became known. Significant matters requiring the use of estimates and
assumptions include deferred income tax valuation allowances and
accounts receivable allowances. Management believes that its estimates
and assumptions are reasonable, based on information that is available
at the time they are made.

The following accounting policies are considered by management to be
“critical” because of the judgments and uncertainties involved, and
because different amounts would be reported under different conditions
or using different assumptions.

Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences
between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities,
and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that are expected
to be in effect when the differences reverse. A valuation allowance is
recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely
than not to be realized as a tax benefit in the future. If the Company
were to change its determination about the future realization of tax
benefits, the valuation allowance would be adjusted as a provision or
credit to income taxes in the period in which the determination is made.
Judgment is required in assessing the likelihood that tax assets will be
realized. These judgments are based on estimates about future taxable
income, which is inherently uncertain.
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Accounts Receivable Allowances
An allowance for placement falloffs is recorded, as a reduction of
revenues, for estimated losses due to applicants not remaining
employed for the Company’s guarantee period. An allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded, as a charge to bad debt expense, where
collection is considered to be doubtful due to credit issues. These
allowances reflect management’s estimate of potential losses inherent in
the accounts receivable balances, based on historical loss statistics and
known current factors impacting its customers.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of the net
assets acquired in the June 1, 2010 acquisition of On-Site Services, Inc.
Goodwill is assessed for impairment at least annually in the absence of
an indicator of possible impairment and immediately upon an indicator
of possible impairment. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit
exceeds its fair value, the Company measures the possible goodwill
impairment based upon an allocation of the estimated fair value of the
underlying assets and liabilities of the reporting unit, as if the
acquisition had occurred currently. The excess of the fair value of the
reporting unit over the amounts assigned to its assets and liabilities is
the implied fair value of goodwill. An impairment loss would be
recognized to the extent the carrying value of goodwill exceeds its
implied fair value.
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Intangible Assets
Customer lists and non-compete agreements were recorded at their
estimated fair value and are amortized over their estimated useful lives
ranging from two to five years using accelerated and straight-line
methods, respectively.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets
The Company records impairment on long-lived assets (including
amortizable intangible assets) used in operations, other than goodwill,
when events or circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired
and the estimated undiscounted cash flows to be generated by those
assets over their remaining lives are less than the carrying amount of
those items. The net carrying value of assets not recoverable is reduced
to fair value, which is typically calculated using the discounted cash
flow method.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2007, the FASB issued guidance on business
combinations.  Under this guidance, an entity is required to recognize
the assets acquired, liabilities assumed, contractual contingencies, and
contingent consideration at their fair value on the acquisition date. It
further requires that acquisition-related costs be recognized separately
from the acquisition and expensed as incurred, restructuring costs
generally be expensed in periods subsequent to the acquisition date, and
changes in accounting for deferred tax asset valuation allowances and
acquired income tax uncertainties after the measurement period impact
income tax expense. The Company adopted this guidance on October 1,
2009.  The Company’s acquisition of On-Site Services, Inc. on June 1,
2010 was accounted for under this guidance – refer to the Acquisition
Footnote of our consolidated financial statements.

In June 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance which amended
the existing guidance for the consolidation of variable interest entities,
to address the elimination of the concept of a qualifying special purpose
entity. The guidance also replaces the quantitative-based risks and
rewards calculation for determining which enterprise has a controlling
financial interest in a variable interest entity with an approach focused
on identifying which enterprise has the power to direct the activities of
a variable interest entity, and the obligation to absorb losses of the
entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity. Additionally, the
guidance requires any enterprise that holds a variable interest in a
variable interest entity to provide enhanced disclosures that will provide
users of financial statements with more transparent information about
an enterprise's involvement in a variable interest entity. The guidance is
effective for the Company commencing October 1, 2010. The Company
is currently evaluating the impact, if any, the guidance will have on its
consolidated financial statements.
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In January 2010, the FASB issued guidance which amends the
disclosures regarding fair value guidance.  This guidance was issued in
response to requests from financial statement users for additional
information about fair value measurements.  Under the new guidance,

A reporting entity is now required to disclose separately the amounts of,
and reasons for, significant transfers (1) between Level 1 and Level 2 of
the fair value hierarchy and (2) into and out of Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy for the reconciliation of Level 3 measurements.

A reporting entity is no longer permitted to adopt a policy recognizing
transfers into Level 3 as of the beginning of the reporting period and
transfers out of Level 3 as of the end of the reporting period.  Rather, an
entity must disclose and follow a consistent policy for determining
when transfers between levels are recognized.

This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31,
2009, except for the required disclosures regarding the Level 3
investments, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 31, 2010.  The Company does not expect this guidance to
have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Forward-Looking Statements

As a matter of policy, the Company does not provide forecasts of future
financial performance.  The statements made in this Form 10-K/A
Annual Report which are not historical facts are forward-looking
statements.  Such forward-looking statements often contain or are
prefaced by words such as “will” and “expect.” As a result of a number of
factors, our actual results could differ materially from those set forth in
the forward-looking statements. Certain factors that might cause our
actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking
statements include, without limitation, general business conditions, the
demand for the Company’s services, competitive market pressures, the
ability of the Company to attract and retain qualified personnel for
regular full-time placement and contract assignments, the possibility of
incurring liability for the Company’s business activities, including the
activities of its contract employees and events affecting its contract
employees on client premises, and the ability to attract and retain
qualified corporate and branch management.  The Company is under no
obligation to (and expressly disclaims any such obligation to) and does
not intend to update or alter its forward-looking statements whether as a
result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

GENERAL EMPLOYMENT ENTERPRISES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of September 30
(In Thousands) 2010 2009

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 945 $ 2,810
Accounts receivable, less allowances (2010 -
$86; 2009 - $76) 1,419 1,038
Other current assets 216 249

Total current assets 2,580 4,097
Property and equipment, net 383 570
Goodwill 172 —
Intangible assets, net 259 —

Total assets $ 3,394 $ 4,667

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 107 $ 348
Accrued compensation 769 666
Other 495 474

Total current liabilities 1,371 1,488

Long-term obligations 431 575

Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock; authorized - 100 shares;
issued and outstanding - none — —
Common stock, no-par value; authorized -
20,000 shares; issued and outstanding – 14,856
shares in 2010 and 13,380 shares in 2009 7,287 6,743
Accumulated deficit (5,695) (4,139)

Total shareholders’ equity 1,592 2,604

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 3,394 $ 4,667

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL EMPLOYMENT ENTERPRISES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended
September 30

(In Thousands, Except Per Share) 2010 2009

Net revenues:
Contract services $9,020 $6,280
Placement services 2,897 4,114

Net revenues 11,917 10,394
Cost of contract services 7,111 4,374
Selling, general and administrative expenses 6,317 10,188

Loss from operations (1,511 )) (4,168 )
Interest expense (36 ) (10 )
Investment loss (9 ) (50 )

Net loss $(1,556 ) $(4,228 )

Weighted average number of shares -basic and
diluted 13,874 7,232

Net loss per share -basic and diluted $(.11 ) $(.58 )

Cash dividends declared per share $— $—

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL EMPLOYMENT ENTERPRISES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended September
30

(In Thousands) 2010 2009

Operating activities:
Net loss $ (1,556) $ (4,228)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
used in operating activities -
Depreciation and amortization 243 260
Loss on disposal of fixed assets — 9
Stock compensation expense 11 368
Compensation paid by majority shareholder 46 —
Changes in current assets and current
liabilities -
Accounts receivable (382 ) 276
Accounts payable (241 ) 264
Accrued compensation 103 (335 )
Other current items, net 55 116
Long-term obligation (144 ) 575

Net cash used by operating activities (1,865) (2,695)

Investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment — (48 )

Financing activities:
Exercises of stock options — 4
Issuance of common stock — 1,925
Stock issuance costs — (541 )

Net cash provided by financing activities — 1,388

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,865) (1,355)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
year 2,810 4,165

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 945 $ 2,810

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow
Information: $ 36 $ 10

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-cash investing activities:
In June 2010, the Company purchased certain assets of On-Site
Services, Inc through the issuance of 1,476 shares of common
stock.  See notes to the consolidated financial statements for further
discussion.
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See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL EMPLOYMENT ENTERPRISES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Year Ended
September 30

(In Thousands) 2010 2009

Common shares outstanding:
Number at beginning of year 13,380 5,165
Issuance of common stock — 8,200
Issuance of common stock for acquisition 1,476 —
Exercises of stock options — 15

Number at end of year 14,856 13,380

Common stock:
Balance at beginning of year $6,743 $4,987
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs of
$541 — 1,384
Issuance of common stock for acquisition 487 —
Compensation paid by majority shareholder 46 —
Stock compensation expense 11 368
Exercises of stock options — 4

Balance at end of year $7,287 $6,743

Retained earnings (accumulated deficit):
Balance at beginning of year $(4,139 ) $89
Net loss (1,556 ) (4,228

Balance at end of year $(5,695 ) $(4,139

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL EMPLOYMENT ENTERPRISES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Description of Business

General Employment Enterprises, Inc. (the “Company”) provides staffing
services through a network of branch offices located in major
metropolitan areas throughout the United States. The Company’s
professional staffing services provide information technology,
engineering and accounting professionals to clients on either a regular
placement basis or a temporary contract basis. The Company’s
agricultural staffing services provide agricultural workers for farms and
groves. The portion of consolidated net revenues derived from the
Company’s two largest customers together was approximately 17% in
fiscal 2010 and 21% in fiscal 2009, and no other customer accounted
for more than 7% of net revenues during either year.

In recent years the Company has incurred significant losses and
negative cash flows from operations. Management has implemented a
strategy which included cost reduction efforts as well as identifying
strategic acquisitions , financed primarily through the issuance of stock,
to improve the overall profitability and cash flows of the Company. In
addition, in December 2010, the Company entered into an account
purchase agreement with Wells Fargo Business Credit to provide
working capital financing. The account purchase agreement allows
Wells Fargo to advance the Company funds on accounts receivable at
its sole discretion. In the event Wells elects not to advance us funds on
our accounts receivable balance or the performance of the acquired
entities does not meet our expectations, the Company could experience
liquidity constraints.

Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America and the rules of the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts and
transactions of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary. All
significant intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in
consolidation.

Estimates and Assumptions
Management makes estimates and assumptions that can affect the
amounts of assets and liabilities reported as of the date of the financial
statements, as well as the amounts of reported revenues and expenses
during the periods presented. Those estimates and assumptions
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typically involve expectations about events to occur subsequent to the
balance sheet date, and it is possible that actual results could ultimately
differ from the estimates. If differences were to occur in a subsequent
period, the Company would recognize those differences when they
became known. Significant matters requiring the use of estimates and
assumptions include deferred income tax valuation allowances and
accounts receivable allowances. Management believes that its estimates
and assumptions are reasonable, based on information that is available
at the time they are made.

Revenue Recognition
Placement service revenues are recognized when applicants accept
offers of employment, less a provision for estimated losses due to
applicants not remaining employed for the Company’s guarantee period.
Contract service revenues are recognized when services are rendered.

Cost of Contract Services
The cost of contract services includes the wages and the related payroll
taxes and employee benefits of the Company’s employees while they
work on contract assignments.

Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences
between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities,
and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that are expected
to be in effect when the differences reverse. A valuation allowance is
recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely
than not to be realized as a tax benefit in the future.
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Income or Loss Per Share
Basic income or loss per share is based on the average number of
common shares outstanding. Diluted income per share is based on the
average number of common shares and the dilutive effect of stock
options. Stock options are not considered to be dilutive during loss
periods.  The diluted net loss per share does not include the effect of
388,000 stock options in fiscal 2010 and 630,000 stock options in fiscal
2009, because including them would have had an anti-dilutive effect.

Cash Equivalents
Highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when
purchased are considered to be cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable Allowances
An allowance for placement falloffs is recorded, as a reduction of
revenues, for estimated losses due to applicants not remaining
employed for the Company’s guarantee period. An allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded, as a charge to bad debt expense, where
collection is considered to be doubtful due to credit issues. These
allowances together reflect management’s estimate of the potential
losses inherent in the accounts receivable balances, based on historical
loss statistics and known factors impacting its customers.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation expense is
calculated on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives of five
years for computer equipment and two to ten years for office
equipment, furniture and fixtures. The Company capitalizes computer
software purchased or developed for internal use and amortizes it over
an estimated useful life of five years. The carrying value of property
and equipment is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that it may not be recoverable. If the carrying
amount of an asset group is greater than its estimated future
undiscounted cash flows, the carrying value is written down to the
estimated fair value.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of the net
assets acquired in the June 1, 2010 acquisition of On-Site Services, Inc.
Goodwill is assessed for impairment at least annually in the absence of
an indicator of possible impairment and immediately upon an indicator
of possible impairment. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit
exceeds its fair value, the Company measures the possible goodwill
impairment based upon an allocation of the estimated fair value of the
underlying assets and liabilities of the reporting unit, as if the
acquisition had occurred currently. The excess of the fair value of the
reporting unit over the amounts assigned to its assets and liabilities is
the implied fair value of goodwill. An impairment loss would be
recognized to the extent the carrying value of goodwill exceeds its
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implied fair value.

Intangible Assets
Customer lists and non-compete agreements were recorded at their
estimated fair value at the date of acquisition  and are amortized over
their estimated useful lives ranging from two to five years using
accelerated and straight-line methods, respectively.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets
The Company records impairment on long-lived assets used in
operations, other than goodwill, when events or circumstances indicate
that the asset might be impaired and the estimated undiscounted cash
flows to be generated by those assets over their remaining lives are less
than the carrying amount of those items. The net carrying value of
assets not recoverable is reduced to fair value, which is typically
calculated using the discounted cash flow method.

Stock-Based Compensation
Compensation expense is recorded for the fair value of stock options
issued to directors and employees. The expense is measured as the
estimated fair value of the stock options on the date of grant and is
amortized over the vesting periods.
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Advertising
The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred.  Advertising costs
were $370,000 and $878,000 for the years ended September 30, 2010
and 2009, respectively.

Reclassifications
Certain fiscal 2009 amounts have been reclassified to conform with the
fiscal 2010 presentation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2007, the FASB issued guidance on business
combinations.  Under this guidance, an entity is required to recognize
the assets acquired, liabilities assumed, contractual contingencies, and
contingent consideration at their fair value on the acquisition date. It
further requires that acquisition-related costs be recognized separately
from the acquisition and expensed as incurred, restructuring costs
generally be expensed in periods subsequent to the acquisition date, and
changes in accounting for deferred tax asset valuation allowances and
acquired income tax uncertainties after the measurement period impact
income tax expense. The Company adopted this guidance on October 1,
2009.  The Company’s acquisition of On-Site Services, Inc. on June 1,
2010 was accounted for under this guidance – refer to the Acquisition
footnote below.

In June 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance which amended
the existing guidance for the consolidation of variable interest entities,
to address the elimination of the concept of a qualifying special purpose
entity. The guidance also replaces the quantitative-based risks and
rewards calculation for determining which enterprise has a controlling
financial interest in a variable interest entity with an approach focused
on identifying which enterprise has the power to direct the activities of
a variable interest entity, and the obligation to absorb losses of the
entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity. Additionally, the
guidance requires any enterprise that holds a variable interest in a
variable interest entity to provide enhanced disclosures that will provide
users of financial statements with more transparent information about
an enterprise's involvement in a variable interest entity. The guidance is
effective for the Company commencing October 1, 2010. The Company
is currently evaluating the impact, if any, the guidance will have on its
consolidated financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued guidance which amends the
disclosures regarding fair value guidance.  This guidance was issued in
response to requests from financial statement users for additional
information about fair value measurements.  Under the new guidance,

A reporting entity is now required to disclose separately the amounts of,
and reasons for, significant transfers (1) between Level 1 and Level 2 of
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the fair value hierarchy and (2) into and out of Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy for the reconciliation of Level 3 measurements.

A reporting entity is no longer permitted to adopt a policy recognizing
transfers into Level 3 as of the beginning of the reporting period and
transfers out of Level 3 as of the end of the reporting period.  Rather, an
entity must disclose and follow a consistent policy for determining
when transfers between levels are recognized.

This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31,
2009, except for the required disclosures regarding the Level 3
investments, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 31, 2010.  The Company does not expect this guidance to
have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Acquisition

On June 1, 2010, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary
Triad Personnel Services, Inc., entered into an Asset Purchase
Agreement (Agreement) with On-Site Services, Inc. (On-Site).  On-Site
is located in Florida and provides labor and human resource solutions,
including temporary staffing, human resources and labor and
employment consulting and workforce solutions to the agricultural
industry. Pursuant to the Agreement, the Company issued  1,476,015
shares of its common stock (no par value) to the seller of On-Site
(based on a stated value of $600,000  divided by the average share price
of the 20 consecutive trading days prior to the second trading day prior
to the closing of the Agreement).  For accounting purposes, the
common shares issued were valued at approximately $487,000 based on
the quoted market price on the closing date.  Additionally, the former
owner of On-Site is entitled to earn-out payments over the next four
years totaling up to $1,020,000; $600,000 of which is payable in cash
and $420,000 in cash or common stock, or any combination thereof, in
the Company's sole discretion upon the attainment of certain
aggregate financial performance targets. The Company has determined
the fair value of the contingent consideration that could be paid under
this earn-out agreement is zero based on the estimated probability of
any payment being made.  Therefore, at the date of the acquisition, no
value has been assigned to the contingent consideration. Any
subsequent changes in the estimated fair value of this contingent
consideration will be recorded in the Company’s statement of
operations.  In addition, The Company also provided the seller of
On-Site a non-interest bearing advance of $300,000 on June 1, 2010
which was fully repaid by June 30, 2010.
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The following table summarizes the approximate fair value of the assets
acquired at the date of the closing.

(In Thousands)

Fixed assets $3
Intangible assets – non-compete agreement 89
Intangible assets – customer relationships 223
Goodwill 172

Total fair value of assets acquired $487

In connection with the application of purchase accounting, the
Company recorded its identifiable intangible assets at fair value. Fair

value for the intangible assets was determined primarily through the use
of a discounted cash flow analysis. The discounted cash flow analysis

projected the estimated future cash flows to be generated by the
underlying assets and discounted these at a rate reflecting perceived

business and financial risks. The projected cash flow estimates used in
the discounted cash flow analysis are based on management’s best

estimate and actual results may differ. The valuation approach used to
value these intangible assets for purchase accounting is based

predominately on Level 3 inputs. The levels of the fair value hierarchy
are described below:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible
at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly,

included quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets;
quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that
are not active; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for
the asset or liability; and inputs that are derived principally from or

corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3: Inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable.

The results of operations of On-Site are included in the Company’s
statement of operations from the date of the acquisition.

The following unaudited pro forma information represents the
Company’s results of operations as if the acquisition had occurred at the

beginning of each of the respective periods:

Fiscal Year Ended
September 30

(In Thousands, Except Per Share) 2010 2009
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Net sales $20,443 $22,058
Net loss (1,422 ) (4,041 )

Basic and diluted loss per share $(0.10 ) $(0.46 )

D-18

Edgar Filing: UNUMPROVIDENT CORP - Form 424B5

Table of Contents 136



Placement Service Revenues

The provision for falloffs and refunds, reflected in the consolidated
statement of operations as a reduction of placement service revenues,
was $393,000 in fiscal 2010 and $412,000 in fiscal 2009.

Investment Income (Loss)

The components of investment income (loss) are as follows:

(In Thousands) 2010 2009

Interest income $3 $40
Loss on investments (11 ) (90 )

Investment income (loss) $(8 ) $(50 )

The losses on investments include unrealized holding gains and losses
on trading securities.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company’s primary objective for its investment portfolio is to
provide maximum protection of principal and high liquidity.  By
investing in high-quality securities having relatively short maturity
periods, or in money market funds having similar objectives, the
Company reduces its exposure to the risks associated with interest rate
fluctuations. A summary of cash and cash equivalents as of September
30 is as follows:

(In Thousands) 2010 2009

Cash $945 $510
Certificate of deposit — 2,300

Total cash and cash equivalents $945 $2,810

In November 2009, the Company discovered that it did not receive the
proceeds from a bank for a $2,300,000 certificate of deposit that was
scheduled to mature in October 2009.  Although the Company made a
formal inquiry of the bank, it did not receive an adequate explanation
for the bank’s non-performance related to the deposit.   In December

2009, the Company entered into an agreement to assign its interests in
the certificate of deposit, without recourse, to an unrelated party that

has other business interests with the bank, and the Company was
reimbursed for the face value of the deposit.

The Company maintains deposits in financial institutions in excess of
amounts guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.  As
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of September 30, 2010, the balance of cash and cash equivalents in
excess of the insured limits was $243,000.
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Income Taxes

The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows:
Year Ending
September 30

(In Thousands) 2010 2009

Current tax provision $— $—
Deferred tax provision (credit) related to:
Temporary differences 2 (170 )
Loss carryforwards (590 ) (1,381)
Valuation allowances 588 1,551

Provision for income taxes $— $—

The differences between income taxes calculated at the 34% statutory
U.S. federal income tax rate and the Company’s provision for income

taxes are as follows:

Year Ended
September 30

(In Thousands) 2010 2009

Income tax provision (credit) at statutory federal tax
rate $(529 ) $(1,438)
Federal valuation allowance 529 1,437
Other — 1

Provision for income taxes $— $—

The net deferred income tax asset balance as of September 30 related to
the following:

(In Thousands) 2010 2009

Temporary differences $ 511 $ 513
Net operating loss carryforwards 3,470 2,880
Valuation allowances (3,981) (3,393)

Net deferred income tax asset $ — $ —

As of September 30, 2010 there were approximately $8,900,000 of
losses available to reduce federal taxable income in future years
through 2030, and there were approximately $7,000,000 of losses
available to reduce state taxable income in future years, expiring from
2011 through 2030. Due to the sale of shares of common stock to PSQ,
LLC (“PSQ”) during fiscal 2009, it is likely that the Company will be
limited by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code as to the amount
of net operating losses that may be used in future years.  The Company
is currently evaluating the effects of any such limitation.
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Future realization of the tax benefits of existing temporary differences
and net operating loss carryforwards ultimately depends on the
existence of sufficient taxable income within the carryforward period.
As of September 30, 2010, the Company performed an evaluation to
determine whether a valuation allowance was needed.  The Company
considered all available evidence, both positive and negative, which
included the results of operations for the current and preceding years.
The Company also considered whether there was any currently
available information about future years. Because long-term contracts
are not a significant part of the Company’s business, future results
cannot be reliably predicted by considering past trends or by
extrapolating past results. Moreover, the Company’s earnings are
strongly influenced by national economic conditions and have been
volatile in the past. Considering these factors, the Company determined
that it was not possible to reasonably quantify future taxable income.
Based on the weight of available evidence, the Company determined
that it is more likely than not that all of the deferred tax assets will not
be realized. Accordingly, the Company maintained a full valuation
allowance as of September 30, 2010.
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As of September 30, 2010, the Company’s federal income tax returns for
fiscal 2007 and subsequent years were subject to examination.  The
Company’s policy is to recognize penalties and interest in income tax
expense; however, no penalties or interest were recognized in fiscal
2010 or 2009.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following as of September 30:
(In Thousands) 2010 2009

Computer software $1,447 $1,447
Office equipment, furniture and fixtures 1,886 2,019

Total property and equipment, at cost 3,333 3,466
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (2,950) (2,896)

Property and equipment, net $383 $570

Disposals of property and equipment, consisting primarily of
fully-depreciated office furniture and equipment, had an original cost of
$136,000 and $190,000 in fiscal 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Intangible Assets – finite life

As of September 30, 2010

(In Thousands) Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Book
Value

Non-Compete $89 $ 10 $79
Customer Relationships 223 $ 43 $180

$312 $ 53 $259

Finite life intangible assets are comprised of a non-compete agreement
and customer relationships.  The non-compete agreement is amortized
on a straight – line basis over its estimated life of 5 years.  The customer
relationships are amortized based on the future undiscounted cash flows
over the next four years.  Over the next five years amortization expense
for these finite life intangible assets will be $98,000 for 2011, $78,000
in 2012, $56,000 in 2013, $33,000 in 2014 and $12,000 in 2015.
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Other Current Liabilities

Other current liabilities consisted of the following as of September 30:

(In Thousands) 2010 2009

Accrued expenses $ 110 $ 113
Accrued rent 110 213
Deferred rent 275 148

Total other current liabilities $ 495 $ 474

Office Closings

During fiscal 2009, the Company consolidated ten branch offices in
four metropolitan areas and closed six of them.  As a result, the
Company recorded a $281,000 provision covering the remaining lease
obligations of the closed offices and a $49,000 adjustment of the book
value of the related office furniture and equipment.  The total provision
for the cost of closing branch offices, included in selling, general and
administrative expenses, was $330,000 in 2009.  The rent liability,
included in other current liabilities, was as follows as of September 30:

(In Thousands) 2010 2009

Balance at beginning of year $ 213 $ 47
Provision for office closings — 281
Payments (103 ) (115 )

Balance at end of year $ 110 $ 213

Line of Credit

The Company had a loan and security agreement with Crestmark Bank
for financing of its accounts receivable.  Under the terms, the Company
may borrow up to 85% of its eligible accounts receivable, not to exceed
$3,500,000. The loan is secured by accounts receivable and other
property of the Company.  Interest is charged at the rate of 1% above
the prime rate (3.25% as of September 30, 2010).  In addition, the
agreement requires a maintenance fee of $3,500 per month and an
annual loan fee of 1% of the maximum borrowing amount under the
agreement. The term is for three years (twenty six months remaining as
of September 30, 2010) or earlier upon demand by Crestmark, and will
be renewed automatically for consecutive two year terms unless
terminated by either party.  As of September 30, 2010, there were no
outstanding borrowings under the line of credit.

The loan and security agreement with Crestmark Bank includes
financial covenants which require compliance until termination of the
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agreement.  As of September 30, 2010, the Company was in
compliance with all such covenants.  The borrowing base availability
under this agreement was approximately $610,000 as of September 30,
2010.

The Company incurred $77,000 of fees related to this agreement during
the year ended September 30, 2010.

In December 2010, the Company terminated its agreement with
Crestmark Bank in connection with the execution of an account
purchase agreement with Wells Fargo Bank N.A.
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Lease Obligations

The Company leases space for all of its branch offices, which are
located either in downtown or suburban business centers, and space for
its corporate headquarters. Branch offices are generally leased over
periods from three to five years. The corporate office lease expires in
2015, but it may be cancelled by the Company in 2012 under certain
conditions. The leases generally provide for payment of basic rent plus
a share of building real estate taxes, maintenance costs and utilities.

Rent expense was $583,000 in fiscal 2010 and $802,000 in fiscal 2009.
As of September 30, 2010 future minimum lease payments under
non-cancelable lease agreements having initial terms in excess of one
year , including the closed offices, totaled $1,673,540, as follows: fiscal
2011 - $434,781, fiscal 2012 - $389,981, fiscal 2013 - $346,896, fiscal
2014 - $320,971 and fiscal 2015 - $180,911.

Commitments

As of September 30, 2010, the Company had contractual obligations to
purchase approximately $446,000 of recruitment advertising through
December 2011.

Long-Term Obligations

In connection with the completion of the sale of shares of common
stock to PSQ in fiscal 2009, the Company’s Chairman, Chief Executive
Officer and President (the “former CEO”) resigned from those positions
and his employment agreement with the Company was replaced by a

new consulting agreement.  Under the consulting agreement, the
Company became obligated to pay an annual consulting fee of
$180,000 over a five-year period and to issue 500,000 shares of

common stock to the former CEO for no additional
consideration.  During fiscal 2009, the Company recorded a provision
for additional compensation expense under the consulting agreement in

the amount of $1,070,000, which is included in selling, general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations.  Of
that amount, the Company recorded a liability for the net present value

of the future payments in the amount of $790,000 and recorded
additional common stock in the amount of $280,000 based on a quoted

market price of $.56 per share on the date of the award.  As of
September 30, 2010, the liability for future payments was reflected on
the consolidated balance sheet as accrued compensation of $180,000

and long-term obligations of $431,000. As of September 30, 2009, the
liability for future payments was reflected on the consolidated balance
sheet as accrued compensation of $180,000 and a long-term obligation

of $575,000.

Common Stock
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As of June 30, 2009, the Company recorded the sale of 7,700,000
newly-issued shares of common stock to PSQ for $1,925,000 in cash,
pursuant to a Securities Purchase and Tender Offer Agreement that had
been entered into by the Company on March 30, 2009.  The net
proceeds to the Company from the share issuance, after deducting
related costs, were $1,384,000. As further described in “Long-Term
Obligations,” under a consulting agreement with the former CEO, the
Company became obligated during fiscal 2009 to issue 500,000 shares
of common stock to the former CEO for no additional consideration.

In fiscal 2010, the Company issued 1,476,000 shares of its common
stock in connection with the acquisition of On-Site.

During fiscal 2010, the majority shareholder of the Company paid
$47,000 of compensation to an executive of the Company on behalf of
the Company. As a result, the Company recorded this amount as a
capital contribution with the compensation expense recorded in its
statement of operations for the year ended September 30, 2010
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 Stock Option Plans

As of September 30, 2010, there were stock options outstanding under
the Company’s 1995 Stock Option Plan, Second Amended and Restated
1997 Stock Option Plan and 1999 Stock Option Plan. All three plans
were approved by the shareholders. The 1995 Stock Option Plan and
the 1999 Stock Option Plan have expired, and no further options may
be granted under those plans.  During fiscal 2009, the Second Amended
and Restated 1997 Stock Option Plan was amended to make an
additional 592,000 options available for granting. The plans granted
specified numbers of options to non-employee directors, and they
authorized the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors to
grant either incentive or non-statutory stock options to
employees.  Vesting periods are established by the Compensation
Committee at the time of grant.  All stock options outstanding as of
September 30, 2010 were non-statutory stock options, had exercise
prices equal to the market price on the date of grant, and had expiration
dates ten years from the date of grant.

A summary of stock option activity is as follows:
Year Ended

September 30
 (Number of Options in Thousands) 2010 2009

Number of options outstanding:
Beginning of year 630 603
Granted 10 318
Exercised — (15 )
Terminated (253 ) (276 )

End of year 388 630

Number of options exercisable at end of year 318 530
Number of options available for grant at end of year 686 493

Weighted average option prices per share:
Granted during the year $.31 $.57
Exercised during the year — .30
Terminated during the year .83 1.43
Outstanding at end of year .99 .94
Exercisable at end of year 1.06 .99

Stock options outstanding as of September 30, 2010 were as follows
(number of options in thousands):

Range of
Exercise
Prices

Number
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Price

Number
Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Price

Average
Remaining
Life
(Years)
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Under
$1.00 277 $ .75 207 $ .65 5.63
$1.25 to
2.39 111 1.42 111 1.42 5.15

As of September 30, 2010, the aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding
stock options and exercisable stock options was zero.
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The average fair value of stock options granted was estimated to be
$0.17 and $0.30 per share in fiscal 2010 and 2009, respectively.  This
estimate was made using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and

the following weighted average assumptions:

2010 2009
Expected option life (years) 5.0 5.0
Expected stock price volatility 65 % 59 %
Expected dividend yield — % — %
Risk-free interest rate 1.5 % 2.4 %

Stock-based compensation expense attributable to stock options was
$11,000 in fiscal 2010 and $86,000 in fiscal 2009.  As of September 30,
2010, there was $25,000 of unrecognized compensation expense related
to unvested stock options outstanding, and the weighted average vesting

period for those options was 4 years.

Segment Data

During 2010, the Company had a change in executive management and
acquired On-Site. As a result of these events, the Company’s internal
reporting was adjusted and as a result, the Company re-assessed its

segment presentation. Accordingly, the Company’s segment disclosures
were revised in the current year.

The Company provides the following distinctive services: (a) placement
services (b) temporary professional services staffing in the fields of
information technology, engineering, and accounting and (c ) temporary
staffing in the agricultural industry. The accounting policies of these
segments are the same as those described in the Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies.  Intersegment net service revenues are not
significant.  Revenues generated from the temporary professional
services staffing and temporary staffing in the agricultural industry are
classified as contract revenues in the statement of operations. Selling
and general and administrative expenses are not separately allocated
among the agricultural and professional services staffing segments for
internal reporting purposes.

Year Ended
September 30

(In Thousands) 2010 2009

Placement Services
Revenue $2,897 $4,114
Operating income (loss) (1,293) (3,280)
Depreciation & amortization 181 178
Accounts receivable – Net 297 390

Contract Services
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Agricultural Services Revenue 2,803 —
Professional Services Revenue $6,217 $6,280
Agricultural Services Gross Margin 3.5 % —
Professional Services Gross Margin 29.1 % 30.4 %
Operating Income (loss) $(263 ) $(960 )
Depreciation and amortization 57 19
Accounts receivable - agricultural services 274 —
Accounts receivable - professional services 848 648

Corporate
Operating income (loss) (1,556) (4,228)
Depreciation and amortization $238 $197
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Subsequent Events

Acquisition & Management Agreement with RFFG, LLC

In November 2010, the Company purchased certain assets of RFFG of
Cleveland and DMCC Staffing, LLC (“DMCC”) and entered into a
management agreement with RFFG, LLC (the previous parent company
of RFFG of Cleveland and DMCC Staffing, LLC) to provide services to
RFFG to operate its day-to-day business, including services related to
accounting, sales, finance, workers compensation, benefits, physical
locations, IT, and employees. Thomas J. Bean, a 10% shareholder of
the Company (prior to consideration of common shares issued in this
transaction), is the owner of RFFG.  RFFG of Cleveland and DMCC
have annual revenue of approximately $7 million.

In consideration of the services provided under the management
agreement, RFFG will pay the Company approximately 6% of its gross
revenues. Gross revenues of RFFG are expected to approximate $18
million on an annual basis, resulting in an expected management fee of
approximately $1 million per year. The Company will need to add
employees to provide the services required under the management
agreement. The assets purchased related to RFFG of Cleveland and
DMCC Staffing , LLC constitute businesses and as such the acquisition
of these assets will be accounted for as a business combination. In
consideration for the assets acquired and the rights under the
management contract, the Company paid $2.4 million through the
issuance of its common stock. In addition, the purchase agreement
requires the Company to make additional payments of up to $2.4
million over the next four years if certain performance targets are
achieved.

Wells Fargo Bank N.A. Financing Agreement

In December 2010, the Company terminated its agreement with
Crestmark Bank & entered into a 2 year $3 million account purchase
agreement (“AR Credit Facility”) with Wells Fargo Bank N.A. (“Wells
Fargo”). The AR Credit Facility provides for borrowings on a revolving
basis, of up to 85% of the Company’s eligible accounts receivable less
than 90 days old and bears interest at a rate equal to the three month
LIBOR plus 5.25%. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions in the
agreement, Wells Fargo may determine which receivables are eligible
receivables, may determine the amount it will advance on any such
receivables, and may require the Company to repay advances made on
receivables and thereby repay amounts outstanding under the AR Credit
Facility. Wells Fargo also has the right to require the Company to
repurchase receivables that remain outstanding 90 days past their
invoice date. The Company continues to be responsible for the
servicing and administration of the receivables purchased. The
Company will carry the receivables and any outstanding borrowings on
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its consolidated balance sheet.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
General Employment Enterprises, Inc.
Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of
General Employment Enterprises, Inc. as of September 30, 2010 and
2009 and the related consolidated statements of operations,
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal
control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of General Employment Enterprises, Inc. at September 30,
2010 and 2009, and the consolidated results of its operations and its
cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP

Chicago, Illinois
December 22, 2010
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Item 9, Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting
and Financial Disclosure.

Not applicable.

Item 9A(T), Controls and Procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of September 30, 2010, the Company’s management evaluated, with
the participation of its principal executive officer and its principal
financial officer, the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act”). Based on that
evaluation, the Company’s principal executive officer and its principal
financial officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of September 30, 2010 to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted by the
Company under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and
Exchange Commission’s rules and forms.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate
internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act rule 13a-15(f).

Internal control over financial reporting is a process to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Because
of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may
not prevent or detect misstatements.

Under the supervision and with the participation of the chief executive
officer and the chief financial officer, management conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control -
Integrated Framework,” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  Based on this evaluation,
management concluded that the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of September 30,
2010.  Management’s assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness
of internal controls over financial reporting did not include the controls
of On-Site Services, Inc. which the Company acquired on June 1, 2010,
and whose financial statements reflect total assets and net revenues of
8% and 24%, respectively, of the related consolidated balances as of
and for the year ended September 30, 2010.
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This annual report does not include an attestation report of the
Company's registered public accounting firm regarding internal control
over financial reporting. Management's report was not subject to
attestation by the Company's registered public accounting firm pursuant
to temporary rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that
permit the Company to provide only management's report in this annual
report.

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the Company’s most recent fiscal quarter
that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B, Other Information.

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10, Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Information set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2010
annual meeting of shareholders under the headings “Election of
Directors,” “Directors and Executive Officers” and “Corporate Governance”
are incorporated herein by reference.

The Company has a code of ethics that applies to all of its directors and
employees, including its principal executive officer, principal financial
officer and principal accounting officer. The code of ethics is filed as an
exhibit to this annual report.

Item 11, Executive Compensation.

Information set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2011
annual meeting of shareholders under the heading “Executive
Compensation” is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12, Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management.

Information set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2010
annual meeting of shareholders under the heading “Security Ownership
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” is incorporated herein
by reference.

Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans
were as follows as of September 30, 2010
(number of shares in thousands):

Plan category

Number of
securities to
be issued
upon

exercise of
outstanding
options,
warrants
and rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding

options, warrants
and rights

Number of
securities
remaining
available for
future
issuance
under equity
compensation
plans
(excluding
securities
reflected in
first column 

Equity
compensation
plans approved by

388 $.99 686
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security holders
-

Equity
compensation
plans not
approved by
security holders — — —

Total 388 $.99 686

Item 13, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director
Independence.

Information set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2011
annual meeting of shareholders under the heading “Director
Independence” is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 14, Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Information set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2011
annual meeting of shareholders under the heading “Principal Accountant
Fees” is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

Item 15, Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

Documents Filed

The following documents are filed as part of this report:

Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 27

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2010 and
September 30, 2009

11

Consolidated Statement of Operations for the years
ended September 30, 2010 and September 30, 2009

12

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the years
ended September 30, 2010 and September 30, 2009

13

Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity for the years
ended September 30, 2010 and September 30, 2009

14

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 15

All other financial statements schedules are omitted because they are
not applicable.

Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of this report:

No. Description of Exhibit

2.01 Securities Purchase and Tender Offer Agreement, dated March
30, 2009, by and among General Employment Enterprises, Inc.
and PSQ, LLC.  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 30, 2009,
Commission File No. 1-05707.

2.02 Acquisition of Assets of On-Site Services dated June 2. 2010.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current
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Report on Form 8-K dated June 8, 2010, File No. 1-05707.

2.03 Financial Statements of On-Site Services dated August 16, 2010,
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1, Exhibit 99.2 and
Exhibit 99.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
August 16, 2010, File No. 1-05707.
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3.01 Articles of Incorporation and amendments thereto. Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-QSB for the quarter ended March 31, 1996,
Commission File No. 1-05707.

3.02 By-Laws of General Employment Enterprises, Inc., as amended
June 30, 2009.  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 30, 2009,
Commission File No. 1-05707

4.01 Rights Agreement dated as of February 4, 2000, between
General Employment Enterprises, Inc. and Continental Stock
Transfer and Trust Company, as Rights Agent. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form 8-A filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on February 7, 2000, Commission File No.
1-05707.

4.02 Amendment No. 1 to Rights Agreement, dated as of March 30,
2009, by and between General Employment Enterprises, Inc.
and Continental Stock Transfer and Trust Company, as Rights
Agent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form 8-A/A filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on March 31, 2009, Commission
File No. 1-05707.

10.01*Key Manager Plan, adopted May 22, 1990. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10(h) to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 1990,
Commission File No. 1-05707.

10.02*General Employment Enterprises, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form
S-8 Registration Statement dated April 25, 1995, Registration
No. 33-91550.

10.03*Second Amended and Restated General Employment
Enterprises, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan.

10.04*General Employment Enterprises, Inc. 1999 Stock Option Plan.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 of the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
1999, Commission File No. 1-05707.

10.05*Chief Executive Officer Bonus Plan, adopted September 24,
2001. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2001, Commission File No. 1-05707.
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10.06*Operational Vice President Bonus Plan effective for fiscal years
beginning on or after October 1, 2004. Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.01 to the Company’s Quarterly Report of Form
10-QSB for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2004,
Commission File No. 1-05707.

10.07*Form of stock option agreement under the General Employment
Enterprises, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.01 to the Company’s current report on
Form 8-K dated September 25, 2006, Commission File No.
1-05707.

10.08*Chief Executive Officer Bonus Plan Amendment 1, effective for
fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2006. Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.01 to the Company’s quarterly report
on Form 10-QSB for the quarterly period ended December 31,
2006, Commission File No. 1-05707.

10.09*Form of director stock option agreement under the Amended and
Restated General Employment Enterprises, Inc. 1997 Stock
Option Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2007, Commission File No. 1-05707.

10.10*Form of stock option agreement under the General Employment
Enterprises, Inc. 1999 Stock Option Plan. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2007,
Commission File No. 1-05707.

10.11*Form of indemnity agreement with directors and officers,
adopted November 19, 2007. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2007, Commission File
No. 1-05707.
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10.12*Escrow Agreement, dated as of March 30, 2009, by and among
General Employment Enterprises, Inc., PSQ, LLC and Park
Avenue Bank, as escrow agent.  Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
dated March 30, 2009, Commission File No. 1-05707.

10.13*Consulting Agreement, dated as of March 30, 2009, by and
among Herbert F. Imhoff, Jr., General Employment Enterprises,
Inc. and PSQ LLC.  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 30,
2009, Commission File No. 1-05707.

10.14*Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 30, 2009, by
and between General Employment Enterprises, Inc., PSQ, LLC
and Herbert F. Imhoff, Jr.  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March
30, 2009, Commission File No. 1-05707.

10.15*Amendment No. 1, dated as of June 22, 2009, to Consulting
Agreement, dated as of March 30, 2009, by and among Herbert
F. Imhoff, Jr., General Employment Enterprises, Inc. and PSQ
LLC.  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 22, 2009,
Commission File No. 1-05707.

10.16*Employment Agreement between General Employment
Enterprises, Inc. and Kent M. Yauch, dated June 26,
2009.  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 22, 2009,
Commission File No. 1-05707.

10.17*Employment Agreement between General Employment
Enterprises, Inc. and Marilyn L. White, dated June 26,
2009.  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 22, 2009,
Commission File No. 1-05707.

10.18*Form of director stock option under the Second Amended and
Restated General Employment Enterprises, Inc. 1997 Stock
Option Plan.

10.19*Form of employee stock option under the Second Amended and
Restated General Employment Enterprises, Inc. 1997 Stock
Option Plan.

10.20*Amendment No. 4 dated as of February 5, 2010 to Statement of
Acquisition of Beneficial Ownership by Herbert F. Imhoff, Jr.
Incorporated by reference to Form SC 13D dated February 5,
2010, Commission File No. 5-40677
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14.01 General Employment Enterprises, Inc. Code of Ethics for
Directors, Officers and Employees, adopted as of August 16,
2004. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.01 to the
Company’s Form 8-K Current Report dated August 16, 2004,
Commission File No. 1-05707.

23.01 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

31.01 Certification of the principal executive officer required by Rule
13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act.

31.02 Certification of the principal financial officer required by Rule
13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act.

32.01 Certifications of the principal executive officer required by Rule
13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act and Section
1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

32.02 Certifications for the principal financial officer required by Rule
13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act and Section
1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

GENERAL EMPLOYMENT ENTERPRISES, INC.
 (Registrant)

Date: April 15, 2011 By: /s/ Salvatore J. Zizza
Salvatore J. Zizza
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date: April 15, 2011 By: /s/ Salvatore J. Zizza
Salvatore J. Zizza
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal executive officer)

Date: April 15, 2011 By: /s/ James R. Harlan
James R. Harlan
Chief Financial  Officer
(Principal financial and accounting
officer)

Date: April 15, 2011 By: /s/ Dennis W. Baker
Dennis W. Baker, Director

Date: April 15, 2011 By:/s/ Herbert F. Imhoff, Jr.
Herbert F. Imhoff, Jr., Director

Date: April 15, 2011 By: /s/Charles W. B. Wardell III
Charles W. B. Wardell III, Director

Date: April 15, 2011 By: /s/ Thomas C. Williams
Thomas C. Williams, Director
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EXHIBIT E
QUARTERLY REPORT ON FORM 10-Q FOR THE QUARTERLY

PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, DC  20549

FORM 10-Q

xQUARTERLY REPORT UNDER SECTION  13 or 15(D) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended December 31, 2010

or

oTRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(D)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number 1-05707

GENERAL EMPLOYMENT ENTERPRISES, INC
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Illinois 36-6097429
(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer Identification
Number)

One Tower Lane, Suite 2200, Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois 60181
(Address of principal executive offices)

(630) 954-0400
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports
required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period
that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.
Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted
electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every
Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to
Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (Section 232.405 of this chapter) during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to submit and post such files).
Yes o No o

Edgar Filing: UNUMPROVIDENT CORP - Form 424B5

Table of Contents 164



Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated
filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting
company.  See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer”
and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large
accelerated filer o

Accelerated
filer o

Non-accelerated
filer o

Smaller
reporting
company

x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as
defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Yes o No x

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant’s common stock as of
December 31, 2010 was 20,437,675.
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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

GENERAL EMPLOYMENT ENTERPRISES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December
31
 2010

September
30

2010
(In Thousands)  (unaudited)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 243 $ 945
Accounts receivable, less
allowances (December - 2010 - $ 99;
September - 2010 - $86) 3,143 1,419
Other 221 216

Total current assets 3,607 2,580
Property and equipment, net 340 383
Goodwill 1,256 172
Intangible assets, net 3,674 259

Total assets $ 8,877 $ 3,394

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 696 $ 107
Accrued compensation 857 769
Short-Term Debt 264 -
Other 841 495

Total current liabilities 2,658 1,371

Long-term obligations 2,210 431

Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock; authorized - 100 shares; issued
and outstanding - none — —
Common stock, no-par value; authorized
- 50,000 shares; issued and outstanding
– 20,437, shares in 2011 and 14,856 in 2010 9,689 7,287
Accumulated deficit (5,680 ) (5,695 )

Total shareholders’ equity 4,009 1,592

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 8,877 $ 3,394
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See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL EMPLOYMENT ENTERPRISES,
INC.                                                                                                 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited) 

Three Months
Ended December

31
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts) 2010 2009

Net revenues:
Contract services $4,887 $1,402
Placement services 923 570
Management Services 162 —
Net revenues 5,972 1,972

Cost of contract services 4,115 996
Selling, general and administrative expenses 1,735 1,547
Amortization of intangible assets 94 —

Income/(loss) from operations 28 (571 )
Other expense, net 13 18

Net income/(loss) $15 $(589 )

Average number of shares - basic 14,917 13,380
Average number of shares - diluted 14,921 13,380
Net loss per share - basic and diluted $— $(.04 )

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL EMPLOYMENT ENTERPRISES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

Three Months
Ended December 31

(In Thousands) 2010 2009

Operating activities:
Net Income (loss) $ 15 $ (589 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
used in operating activities -
Depreciation and amortization 141 50
Stock compensation expense 2 3
Other non-cash items 9 10
Changes in current assets and current
liabilities -
Accounts receivable (1,723) 237
Accounts payable 589 (47 )
Accrued compensation 88 (205 )
Other current items, net (42 ) 23
Long-term obligations (45 ) (45 )

Net cash used in operating activities (966 ) (563 )

Financing activities:
Short-term debt 264 —

Net cash provided by financing activities 264 —

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (702 ) (563 )
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
period 945 2,810

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 243 $ 2,247

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow
Information:
Interest Paid $ 15 $ —

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investing Activities:
In November 2010, the Company purchased certain assets of DMCC
Staffing, LLC and RFFG of Cleveland, LLC in exchange for the
issuance of 5,581 shares of common stock.

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL EMPLOYMENT ENTERPRISES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
(Unaudited)

Three Months
Ended December 31

(In Thousands) 2010 2009

Common shares outstanding:
Number at beginning of period 14,856 13,380
Issuance of common stock for acquisition 5,581 -

Number at end of period 20,437 13,380

Common stock:
Balance at beginning of period $ 7,287 $ 6,743
Issuance of common stock for acquisition 2,400 -
Stock compensation expense 2 3

Balance at end of period $ 9,689 $ 6,746

Accumulated deficit:
Balance at beginning of period $ (5,695 ) $ (4,139 )
Net income (loss) 15 (589 )

Balance at end of period $ (5,680 ) $ (4,728 )

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America and the rules of the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission.  In the opinion of management, all adjustments
(consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) necessary for a fair
presentation of the financial statements have been included.  Interim
results are not necessarily indicative of results for a full year.  These
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the financial
statements included in the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for
the year ended September 30, 2010.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued
authoritative guidance which amended the existing guidance for the
consolidation of variable interest entities, to address the elimination of
the concept of a qualifying special purpose entity. The guidance also
replaces the quantitative-based risks and rewards calculation for
determining which enterprise has a controlling financial interest in a
variable interest entity with an approach focused on identifying which
enterprise has the power to direct the activities of a variable interest
entity, and the obligation to absorb losses of the entity or the right to
receive benefits from the entity. Additionally, the guidance requires any
enterprise that holds a variable interest in a variable interest entity to
provide enhanced disclosures that will provide users of financial
statements with more transparent information about an enterprise's
involvement in a variable interest entity. The Company adopted this
guidance on October 1, 2010 but the adoption did not have a material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued guidance which amends the
disclosures regarding fair value guidance.  This guidance was issued in
response to requests from financial statement users for additional
information about fair value measurements.  Under the new guidance,

A reporting entity is now required to disclose separately the amounts of,
and reasons for, significant transfers (1) between Level 1 and Level 2 of
the fair value hierarchy and (2) into and out of Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy for the reconciliation of Level 3 measurements.

A reporting entity is no longer permitted to adopt a policy recognizing
transfers into Level 3 as of the beginning of the reporting period and
transfers out of Level 3 as of the end of the reporting period.  Rather, an
entity must disclose and follow a consistent policy for determining
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when transfers between levels are recognized.

This guidance became effective for the Company on October 1, 2010,
except the required disclosures regarding the Level 3 investments,
which will not become effective for the Company until October 1,
2011.  The adoption did not have a material impact on the consolidated
financial statements and the Company does not expect the adoption of
the guidance regarding additional disclosures of Level 3 investments to
have an impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Entry into Asset Purchase Agreements

 Acquisition of DMCC Staffing, LLC and RFFG of Cleveland,LLC

Effective November 1, 2010, the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Triad Personnel Services, Inc., entered into an asset
purchase agreement, dated as of October 29, 2010, with DMCC
Staffing, LLC, (“DMCC”), RFFG of Cleveland, LLC, (“RFFG of
Cleveland”), and Thomas J. Bean (the “Asset Purchase Agreement”), for
the purchase of certain assets of DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland,
including customer lists, comprising DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland’s
services business.  Thomas Bean was the beneficial owner of
approximately 9.9% of the Company’s outstanding shares prior to
acquisition.  DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland’s services business is
operated from offices in Ohio and provides labor and human resource
solutions, including temporary staffing, human resources and payroll
outsourcing services, labor and employment consulting and workforce
solutions..  Currently, RFFG of Cleveland has one customer.
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The closing of the Asset Purchase Agreement was subject to certain
conditions, including entry into a definitive management and services
agreement for the management by the Company of the businesses of
certain affiliates of DMCC, RFFG of Cleveland and Mr. Bean (the

“Management Agreement”).  On November 30, 2010, Business
Management Personnel, Inc. (“BMP”), an indirect wholly-owned

subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Management Agreement,
effective as of November 1, 2010, with RFFG, LLC (“RFFG”). (Refer to

Entry into Management Agreement footnote below for further
description).

The assets purchased related to RFFG of Cleveland and DMCC
constitute businesses and as such the acquisition of these assets were
accounted for as a business combination. Pursuant to the Asset
Purchase Agreement, the Company will issue $2,400,000 in shares of
its common stock to DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland upon receipt of (a)
stockholder approval of the transaction and of an increase to the
Company’s authorized Common Stock and (b) approval of an additional
listing application by the NYSE Amex Stock Exchange (5,581,395
shares based on the December 30, 2010 closing date).

In addition, commencing in 2011, if the aggregate EBITDA of the
business acquired. including any management fees earned by the
Company under the Management Agreement meets certain targets
(each, an “EBITDA Target”) over a four-year period ending December
31, 2014 (the “Earnout Period”), the Company will be required to make
earn-out payments to DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland, each payable in
three equal installments.   In the event that an EBITDA Target for a
certain period is not met, the earn-out payment in respect of such period
will be reduced proportionately.  The EBITDA Targets will be
$300,000, $600,000, $900,000 and $1,200,000 for each of the three-,
six-, nine- and twelve-month periods, respectively, in the fiscal year
ending December 31, 2011, and earn-out payments will consist of
quarterly payments of $150,000, payable in three equal monthly
installments, if the relevant EBITDA Targets are met. Starting in the
fiscal year ending December 31, 2012, the EBITDA Targets will be
adjusted annually to reflect the EBITDA for the twelve-month period
ending on December 31st of the most recently completed fiscal year
(each, an “Annual EBITDA Target”) and earn-out payments for the year
will be adjusted to equal 50% of the relevant Annual EBITDA Target
divided by four. At the end of each fiscal year during the Earnout
Period, if the aggregate EBITDA for the 12-month period then ended is
greater than the Annual EBITDA Target for such year, then the
Company will pay to DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland the amount of
such excess, 50% in cash and 50% in shares of common stock.

The accounting guidance requires that contingent consideration be
added to the purchase price and the resultant liability be recorded at fair
value.  Given the terms of the earn-out provisions of the Asset Purchase
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Agreement , the Company believes that the earn-out will be paid and
accordingly, has included the fair value of the projected total earn-out
payments in the total consideration paid for the acquisition.  The total
consideration paid is summarized as follows:

In Thousands

Stock consideration $2,400
Earn-out consideration 2,198

Total consideration for acquisition $4,598

E-7
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The following table summarizes the approximate fair value of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of closing.

In Thousands

Fixed assets $5
Intangible assets - management agreement 1,396
Intangible assets - customer relationships 2,113
Goodwill 1,084

Total fair value of assets acquired $4,598

The purchase price allocation is preliminary and subject to further
refinement based upon completion of asset valuations.  The results of

operations of DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland are included in the
Company’s statement of operations from the effective date of the

acquisition, November 1, 2010.

In connection with the application of purchase accounting, the
Company recorded its identifiable intangible assets at fair value. Fair

value of the intangible assets was determined primarily through the use
of a discounted cash flow analysis. The discounted cash flow analysis

projected the estimated future cash flows to be generated by the
underlying assets and discounted these at a rate reflecting perceived

business and financial risks. The projected cash flow estimates used in
the discounted cash flow analysis are based on management’s best

estimate and actual results may differ. The valuation of these intangible
assets is based predominately on Level 3 inputs. The levels of the fair

value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible
at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly,

included quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets;
quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that
are not active; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for
the asset or liability; and inputs that are derived principally from or

corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3: Inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable.

Acquisition of On-Site Services, Inc.

On June 1, 2010, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary
Triad Personnel Services, Inc., entered into an Asset Purchase
Agreement (the “On-Site Asset Purchase Agreement”) with On-Site
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Services, Inc. (“On-Site”) and Thomas J. Bean..  On-Site is located in
Florida and provides labor and human resource solutions, including
temporary staffing, human resources, labor and employment consulting
and workforce solutions to the agricultural industry. Pursuant to the
On-Site Asset Purchase Agreement, upon On-Site’s direction, the
Company issued  1,476,015 shares of its common stock (no par value)
to Big Red Investments Partnership, Ltd, an affiliate of On-Site (based
on a stated value of $600,000  divided by the average share price of the
20 consecutive trading days prior to the second trading day prior to the
closing of the On-Site Asset Purchase Agreement).  For accounting
purposes, the common stock issued were valued at approximately
$487,000 based on the quoted market price on the closing date.  Under
the On-Site Asset Purchase Agreement, if the aggregate EBITDA of the
business acquired meets certain targets over a period of four years, the
Company will be required to make earn-out payments to On-Site
totaling up to $1,020,000, $600,000 of which is payable in cash and
$420,000 of which is payable in cash or common stock, or any
combination thereof, in the Company’s sole discretion. The Company
has determined the fair value of the contingent consideration that could
be paid under the earn-out  provisions of the On-Site Asset Purchase
Agreement is zero based on the estimated probability of any payment
being made under this earn-out arrangement. Therefore, at the date of
the acquisition, no value has been assigned to the contingent
consideration. Any subsequent changes in the estimated fair value of
this contingent consideration will be recorded in the Company’s
statement of operations.  Through December 31, 2010, there have been
no changes in the estimated fair value of the potential earn-out
consideration.  In addition, the Company also provided the seller,
Thomas J Bean, of On-Site, Inc. a non-interest bearing advance of
$300,000 on June 1, 2010 which was fully repaid by June 30, 2010.
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The following table summarizes the approximate fair value of the assets
acquired at the date of the closing.

In Thousands

Fixed assets $ 2
Intangible assets - non-compete agreement 89
Intangible assets - customer relationships 223
Goodwill 173

Total fair value of assets acquired $ 487

The results of operations of On-Site are included in the Company’s
statement of operations from the date of the acquisition.

Pro Forma Information

The following unaudited pro forma information represents the
Company’s results of operations as if the acquisitions described above
had occurred on the first day of the earliest period presented.

Three months
ended

December 31
(In thousands) 2010 2009

Net sales $ 6,563 $ 5,590
Net income (loss) $ 26 $ (747)

Basic and diluted loss per share $ 0.00 $ (0.04)

Entry into Management Service Agreement.

In conjunction with the Asset Purchase Agreement for DMCC and
RFFG of Cleveland, Business Management Personnel, Inc. (“BMP”), an
Ohio corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of General
Employment Enterprises Inc., (the “Company”).  BMP entered into the
Management Agreement with RFFG.  The Management Agreement
became effective on November 1, 2010.

Pursuant to the Management Agreement, BMP agreed to provide
services to RFFG to operate its day-to-day business, including services
related to accounting, sales, finance, workers’ compensation, benefits,
physical locations, IT and employees.  The Management Agreement
provides that additional services may be added if BMP and RFFG
mutually agree to the cost to be charged by BMP for such services and
as long as BMP has the resources to provide such services.
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In consideration of the services provided under the Management
Agreement, RFFG will pay BMP monthly fees that will approximate
6% of its gross revenues on an annual basis. Fees may be adjusted up or
down by mutual agreement of the parties to accommodate seasonal
trends in revenues of RFFG.  The Management Agreement may be
terminated by either BMP or RFFG upon 180 days’ prior written
notice.  The Company will need to add employees to provide the
services required under the Management Agreement.

For the quarter ending December 31, 2010, the Company recorded
approximately $162,000 of revenue related to this agreement.
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Segment Data

As a result of the acquisition of DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland during
the period and entry into the Management Agreement discussed above,
the Company’s internal reporting was adjusted and as a result, the
Company re-assessed its segment presentation. Accordingly, the
Company’s segment disclosures were revised in the current year.

The Company provides the following distinctive services: (a) placement
services (b) temporary professional services staffing in the fields of
information technology, engineering, and accounting (c ) temporary
staffing in the agricultural industry (d) temporary light industrial
staffing and (e) management services. Intersegment net service
revenues are not significant.  Revenues generated from the temporary
professional services staffing, temporary staffing in the agricultural
industry and light industrial staffing are classified as contract revenues
in the statement of operations. Selling and general and administrative
expenses are not separately allocated among the agricultural,
professional services, or industrial staffing segments for internal
reporting purposes.

Three Months
 Ended December

31
(In Thousands) 2010 2009

Placement Services
Revenue $923 $570
Operating loss (152 ) (429 )
Depreciation & amortization 47 43
Accounts receivable – Net 477 228

Management Services Revenue
Revenue $162 $—
Fee Receivable $162

Contract Services
Agricultural Services Revenue $2,377 $—
Professional Services Revenue 1,575 1,402
Industrial Services Revenue 935
Agricultural Services Gross Margin 3.9 % —
Industrial Services Gross Margin 17.4 %
Professional Services Gross Margin 32.9 % 28.9 %
Operating Income (loss) $16 $(160 )
Depreciation and amortization 95 7
Accounts receivable - agricultural services 932 —
Accounts receivable - industrial services 676
Accounts receivable - professional services 898 572
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Consolidated
Operating income (loss) 28 (589 )
Depreciation and amortization $142 $50

Placement Service Revenues

The provision for falloffs and refunds, reflected in the consolidated
statement of operations as a reduction of placement service revenue,
was $192,000 for the three-month period ended December 31, 2010 and
$67,000 for the three-month period ended December 31, 2009.
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Customer Concentration

The portion of consolidated net revenues derived from the Company’s
largest customer was approximately 13.7 % for the quarter ending
December 31, 2010 and 0% for the quarter ending December 31, 2009.
This customer accounted for 11.3% of the consolidated accounts
receivable as of December 31, 2010.   No other customer accounted for
more than 10% of net revenues during the quarter ending December 31,
2009.

Other Expense, Net

The components of other expense, net are as follows:

Three Months
Ended December

31
(In Thousands) 2010 2009

Interest expense $13 $10
Interest income — (3 )
Loss on investments — 11

Other expense, net $13 $18

The loss on investments includes realized and unrealized holding gains
and losses on trading securities.

Income Taxes

There were no credits for income taxes as a result of the pretax losses
during the periods, because there was not sufficient assurance that a
future tax benefit would be realized.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:
December

31
September

30
(In Thousands) 2010 2010

Computer software $ 1,447 $ 1,447
Office equipment, furniture and fixtures 1,874 1,886

Total property and equipment, at cost 3,321 3,333
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (2,981) (2,950 )

Property and equipment, net $ 340 $ 383
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Intangible Assets – finite life

As of December 31, 2010

(In Thousands) Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Book
Value

Non-Compete Agreement $ 89 $ 11 $ 78
Customer Relationships 2,336 82 2,254
Management Agreement 1,396 54 1,342

$ 3,821 $ 147 $ 3,674

Finite life intangible assets are comprised of a non-compete agreement,
the Management Agreement and customer relationships.  The
non-compete agreement is amortized on a straight – line basis over its
estimated life of 5 years.  The customer relationships are amortized
based on the future undiscounted cash flows over the next ten
years.  The Management Agreement is amortized over the next four
years based on the future undiscounted cash flows.  The future
amortization expense for these finite life intangibles is as
follows:  $503,000 for 2011, $615,000 in 2012, $615,000 in 2013,
$616,000 in 2014, $222,000 in 2015, and $1,103,000 thereafter.

Commitments

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had contractual obligations to
purchase approximately $381,000 of recruitment advertising through
December 31, 2011.

Line of Credit

Through December 2010, the Company had a loan and security
agreement with Crestmark Bank for financing of its accounts
receivable.  Under the terms, the Company could borrow up to 85% of
its eligible accounts receivable, not to exceed $3,500,000. The loan was
secured by accounts receivable and other property of the
Company.  Interest was charged at the rate of 1% above the prime
rate.  Interest expense under this agreement was $4,500 for the quarter
ended December 31, 2010.  In addition, the agreement required a
maintenance fee of $3,500 per month and an annual loan fee of 1% of
the maximum borrowing amount under the agreement. The Company
incurred $29,000 of fees related to this agreement during the quarter
ended December 31, 2010.  The term of the agreement was for three
years or earlier upon demand by Crestmark, and was to be renewed
automatically for consecutive two year terms unless terminated by
either party.
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In December 2010, the Company terminated its agreement with
Crestmark Bank and entered into a two year $3 million account
purchase agreement (“AR Credit Facility”) with Wells Fargo Bank N.A.
(“Wells Fargo”). The AR Credit Facility provides for borrowings on a
revolving basis, of up to 85% of the Company’s eligible accounts
receivable less than 90 days old and bears interest at a rate equal to the
three month LIBOR plus 5.25% (effective rate was 5.55% as of
December 31, 2010. Under the terms and subject to the conditions in
the agreement, Wells Fargo may determine which receivables are
eligible receivables, may determine the amount it will advance on any
such receivables, and may require the Company to repay advances
made on receivables and thereby repay amounts outstanding under the
AR Credit Facility. Wells Fargo also has the right to require the
Company to repurchase receivables that remain outstanding 90 days
past their invoice date. The Company continues to be responsible for
the servicing and administration of the receivables purchased. The
Company will carry the receivables and any outstanding borrowings on
its consolidated balance sheet.

The Company believes that the borrowing availability provided by the
Wells Fargo agreement will be adequate to fund the increase in working
capital needs resulting from the acquisitions of current assets of
On-Site, RFFG of Cleveland, and DMCC.
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As of December 31, 2010, the borrowing base availability under this
agreement was $419,000 and the outstanding borrowings approximated
$264,000.  Total interest expense for the quarter ending December 31,

2010 approximated $285 and $1,600 in fees.

The loan and security agreement with Wells Fargo Bank includes
certain covenants which require compliance until termination of the
agreement.  As of December 31, 2010, the Company was in compliance
with all such covenants.

Item 2.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations.

Overview

General Employment Enterprises, Inc. (the “Company”) provides contract
and placement staffing services for business and industry, primarily
specializing in the placement of information technology, engineering
and accounting professionals.  With the acquisition of certain of the
assets of On-Site Services, Inc. (“On-Site”) in June 2010, the Company
also began to provide contract staffing services for the agricultural
industry. This business is located in Florida and provides labor and
human resource solutions, including temporary staffing, to the
agricultural industry.  On November 1, 2010, the Company and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Triad Personnel Services, Inc., an Illinois
corporation, entered into an asset purchase agreement, dated as of
October 29, 2010, with DMCC Staffing, LLC, an Ohio limited liability
company (“DMCC”), RFFG of Cleveland, LLC, an Ohio limited liability
company (“RFFG of Cleveland”), and Thomas J. Bean (the “Asset
Purchase Agreement”), for the purchase of certain assets of DMCC and
RFFG of Cleveland, including customer lists, comprising DMCC and
RFFG of Cleveland’s services business.  DMCC and RFFG of
Cleveland’s services business is operated from offices in Ohio and
provides labor and human resource solutions, including temporary
staffing, human resources and payroll outsourcing services, labor and
employment consulting and workforce solutions. Currently, RFFG of
Cleveland has one customer.

The closing of the Asset Purchase Agreement was subject to certain
conditions, including entry into a definitive management and services
agreement for the management by the Company of the businesses of
certain affiliates of DMCC, RFFG of Cleveland and Mr. Bean (the
“Management Agreement”).  On November 30, 2010, Business
Management Personnel, Inc. (“BMP”), an Ohio corporation and an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
Management Agreement, effective as of November 1, 2010, with
RFFG, LLC (“RFFG”).
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As of December 31, 2010, the Company operated fourteen offices
located in eight states.

Results of Operations

Net Revenues

Consolidated net revenues are comprised of the following:
Quarter Ended
December 31

(In thousands) 2010 2009
Placement Services $923 $570
Management Services 162 —
Professional Contract Services 1,575 1,402
Agricultural Contract Services 2,377 —
Industrial Contract Services 935 —
Consolidated Net Revenues $5,972 $1,972

E-13

Edgar Filing: UNUMPROVIDENT CORP - Form 424B5

Table of Contents 186



Consolidated net revenues increased by $4,000,000 (203%) from the
same period last year and was primarily due to the acquisition of certain
assets of On-Site ($2,377,000), RFFG of Cleveland ($485,000), DMCC

($450,000) and  fees paid under the Management Agreement
($162,000), which contributed $3,474,000 in revenue for the period.
Professional contract and placement services increased by $173,000

(12.3%) and $353,000 (61.9%) from the same period last year,
respectively.

Cost of Services
The cost of services includes wages and the related payroll taxes and
employee benefits of the Company’s employees while they work on
contract assignments.  The cost of contract services for the three months
ended December 31, 2010 increased by $3,118,000 (313%) due to the
acquisition of certain assets of On-Site ($2,284,000), RFFG of
Cleveland ($401,000), and DMCC ($372,000) which contributed
$3,057,000 in cost of services for the period.  Due to competitive
pricing pressures during the prior year, the gross profit margin on the
professional contract services business increased from 29% in the
quarter ended December 31, 2009 to 32.9% in the current year.  The
gross profit margin of the On-Site business was 3.9%, RFFG of
Cleveland (17.3%), and DMCC (17.3%) for the three months ended
December 31, 2010.  The lower margin of the On-Site business was the
primary reason for the decrease in the consolidated contract service
gross profit margin from 29% in the quarter ended December 31, 2009
to 15.8% during the quarter ended December 31, 2010.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses include the following
categories:

• Compensation in the operating divisions, which includes
commissions earned by the Company’s employment
consultants and branch managers on permanent and
temporary placements.  It also includes salaries, wages,
unrecovered advances against commissions, payroll taxes
and employee benefits associated with the management
and operation of the Company’s staffing offices.

•Administrative compensation, which includes salaries, wages, payroll
taxes and employee benefits associated with general management and
the operation of the finance, legal, human resources and information
technology functions.

•Occupancy costs, which includes office rent, depreciation and
amortization, and other office operating expenses.

•Recruitment advertising, which includes the cost of identifying job
applicants.

•Other selling, general and administrative expenses, which includes
travel, bad debt expense, fees for outside professional services and
other corporate-level expenses such as business insurance and taxes.
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The Company’s largest selling, general and administrative expense is for
compensation in the operating divisions.  Most of the Company’s
employment consultants are paid on a commission basis and receive
advances against future commissions.  Advances are expensed when
paid.  When commissions are earned, prior advances are applied against
them and the consultant is paid the net amount.  At that time, the
Company recognizes the full amount as commission expense, and
advance expense is reduced by the amount recovered.  Thus, the
Company’s advance expense represents the net amount of advances
paid, less amounts applied against commissions.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the three months ended
December 31, 2010 increased $188,000 (12.1%) compared to the same
period last year.  Compensation in the operating divisions increased by
$167,000 (61.6%) from the same period last year, reflecting a higher
commission on greater volume of placement business.  Administrative
compensation increased by $263,000 (90.4)% from the same period last
year, reflecting the addition of On-Site,  RFFG of Cleveland and
DMCC offices.  Branch occupancy costs decreased by $18,000 (12.7%)
for the period because of operating fewer branch offices and more
favorable lease agreements than last year.  Recruitment advertising also
increased $31,000 (34.4)% due to higher utilization of job board
posting services.  The results also include a $94,000 (46.8%) decrease
in professional fees.  Legal and accounting fees decreased by $91,000
(61.1%) over the same period last year due to less professional fees
related to both the GT Systems and other acquisitions and the Park Ave
bank inquiry.

Amortization
The amortization expense of $94,000 recorded for the three months
ended December 31, 2010 includes the amortization associated with the
identifiable intangibles recorded for the Company’s acquisitions of
certain assets of On-Site, RFFG of Cleveland, and DMCC.  As these
acquisitions were consummated in June 2010 and November 2010,
there was no amortization expense associated with identifiable
intangible assets in the three months ended December 31, 2009.
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Other
Other expense, net for the three months ended December 31, 2010 was
down 28% from the same period last year due to a reduction in
investment losses.

There were no credits for income taxes as a result of the pretax losses
during the periods, because there was not sufficient assurance that
future tax benefits would be realized.

Interest expense was $13,000 for the three months ending December
31, 2010.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had cash and cash equivalents
of $243,000, which was a decrease of $702,000 from September 30,
2010.  Net working capital at December 31, 2010 was $949,000, which
was a decrease of $260,000 from September 30, 2010, and the current
ratio was 1.36 to 1.  Shareholders’ equity as of December 31, 2010 was
$4,009,000 which represented 45.2% of total assets.

During the three months ended December 31, 2010, net cash used by
operating activities was $966,000.  The net income for the period,
adjusted for depreciation and other non-cash charges, was $167,000,
while working capital items used was $1,133,000 and financing
activities provided an additional $264,000 from borrowings under the
Company’s new AR Credit Facility.

Information about future minimum lease payments, purchase
commitments and long-term obligations is presented in the notes to
consolidated financial statements contained in the Company’s annual
report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010.

In November 2010, the Company purchased certain assets of RFFG of
Cleveland and DMCC and entered into the Management Agreement
with RFFG (the  parent company of RFFG of Cleveland and DMCC) to
provide services to RFFG to operate its day-to-day business, including
services related to accounting, sales, finance, workers compensation,
benefits, physical locations, IT, and employees.

In consideration of the services provided under the Management
Agreement, RFFG will pay the Company approximately 6% of its gross
revenues. Gross revenues of RFFG are expected to approximate $18
million on an annual basis, resulting in an expected management fee of
approximately $1 million per year. The Company will need to add
employees to provide the services required under the Management
Agreement.
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The assets purchased related to RFFG of Cleveland and DMCC
constitute businesses and as such the acquisition of these assets were
accounted for as a business combination.  Pursuant to the Asset
Purchase Agreement, the Company will issue $2,400,000 in shares of
its Common Stock to DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland upon receipt of
(a) stockholder approval of the transaction and of an increase to the
Company’s authorized Common Stock and (b) approval of an additional
listing application by the NYSE Amex Stock Exchange.

In addition, commencing in 2011, if the aggregate EBITDA of the
business acquired. including any management fees earned by the
Company under the Management Agreement meets certain targets
(each, an “EBITDA Target”) over a four-year period ending December
31, 2014 (the “Earnout Period”), the Company will be required to make
earn-out payments to DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland, each payable in
three equal installments.   In the event that an EBITDA Target for a
certain period is not met, the earn-out payment in respect of such period
will be reduced proportionately.  The EBITDA Targets will be
$300,000, $600,000, $900,000 and $1,200,000 for each of the three-,
six-, nine- and twelve-month periods, respectively, in the fiscal year
ending December 31, 2011, and earn-out payments will consist of
quarterly payments of $150,000, payable in three equal monthly
installments, if the relevant EBITDA Targets are met. Starting in the
fiscal year ending December 31, 2012, the EBITDA Targets will be
adjusted annually to reflect the EBITDA for the twelve-month period
ending on December 31st of the most recently completed fiscal year
(each, an “Annual EBITDA Target”) and earn-out payments for the year
will be adjusted to equal 50% of the relevant Annual EBITDA Target
divided by four. At the end of each fiscal year during the Earnout
Period, if the aggregate EBITDA for the 12-month period then ended is
greater than the Annual EBITDA Target for such year, then the
Company will pay to DMCC and RFFG of Cleveland the amount of
such excess, 50% in cash and 50% in shares of common stock.
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In connection with the completion of the sale of shares of common
stock to PSQ, LLC (“PSQ”) in fiscal 2009, the Company’s Chairman,

Chief Executive Officer and President (the “former CEO”) resigned from
those positions and his employment agreement with the Company was

replaced by a new consulting agreement.  Under the consulting
agreement, the Company became obligated to pay an annual consulting
fee of $180,000 over a five-year period and to issue 500,000 shares of
common stock to the former CEO for no additional consideration, and
the Company recorded a liability for the net present value of the future
fee payments in the amount of $790,000.  As of December 31, 2010,
$394,000 remains payable under this agreement and is included in

accrued expenses on the Company’s balance sheet.

In December 2010, the Company terminated its agreement with
Crestmark Bank and entered into a two year $3 million account
purchase agreement (“AR Credit Facility”) with Wells Fargo Bank N.A.
(“Wells Fargo”). The AR Credit Facility provides for borrowings on a
revolving basis, of up to 85% of the Company’s eligible accounts
receivable less than 90 days old and bears interest at a rate equal to the
three month LIBOR plus 5.25%. Under the terms and subject to the
conditions in the agreement, Wells Fargo may determine which
receivables are eligible receivables, may determine the amount it will
advance on any such receivables, and may require the Company to
repay advances made on receivables and thereby repay amounts
outstanding under the AR Credit Facility. Wells Fargo also has the right
to require the Company to repurchase receivables that remain
outstanding 90 days past their invoice date. The Company continues to
be responsible for the servicing and administration of the receivables
purchased. The Company will carry the receivables and any outstanding
borrowings on its consolidated balance sheet.

The Company believes that the borrowing availability under the Wells
Fargo agreement will be adequate to fund the increase in working
capital needs resulting from the acquisitions of certain assets of
On-Site, RFFG of Cleveland, and DMCC.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2010, there were no transactions, agreements or
other contractual arrangements to which an unconsolidated entity was a
party, under which the Company (a) had any direct or contingent
obligation under a guarantee contract, derivative instrument or variable
interest in the unconsolidated entity, or (b) had a retained or contingent
interest in assets transferred to the unconsolidated entity.

Forward-Looking Statements

As a matter of policy, the Company does not provide forecasts of future
financial performance.  The statements made in this Form 10-Q
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Quarterly Report which are not historical facts are forward-looking
statements.  Such forward-looking statements often contain or are
prefaced by words such as “will” and “expect.” As a result of a number of
factors, our actual results could differ materially from those set forth in
the forward-looking statements. Certain factors that might cause our
actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking
statements include, without limitation, general business conditions, the
demand for the Company’s services, competitive market pressures, the
ability of the Company to attract and retain qualified personnel for
regular full-time placement and contract assignments, the possibility of
incurring liability for the Company’s business activities, including the
activities of its contract employees and events affecting its contract
employees on client premises, and the ability to attract and retain
qualified corporate and branch management.  The Company is under no
obligation to (and expressly disclaims any such obligation to) and does
not intend to update or alter its forward-looking statements whether as a
result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Not applicable.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company’s management evaluated, with
the participation of its principal executive officer and its principal
financial officer, the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act”).
Based on that evaluation, the Company’s principal executive officer and
its principal financial officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2010 to
ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or
submitted by the Company under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified
in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting or in any other factors that could significantly affect these
controls, during the Company’s first quarter ended December 31, 2010,
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

None.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

None.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.

Item 3.  Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4.  (Removed and Reserved).

Item 5.  Other Information

None.

Item 6. Exhibits.

The following exhibits are filed as a part of Part I of this report:

No. Description of Exhibit

31.01Certifications of the principal executive officer required by Rule
13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act.

31.02Certifications of the principal financial officer required by Rule
13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act.

32.01Certifications of the principal executive officer required by Rule
13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act and Section
1350 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

32.02Certifications of the principal financial officer required by Rule
13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act and Section
1350 of Title 18 of the United States Code..
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

GENERAL EMPLOYMENT
ENTERPRISES, INC.
(Registrant)

Date: February 22 , 2011 By: /s/ James R. Harlan
James R. Harlan
Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer (Principal financial and
accounting officer and duly
authorized officer)
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EXHIBIT F
ARTICLES AMENDMENT

The first paragraph of Article Five of the Articles of Incorporation of
the Company will be amended and restated as follows:

Article Five

PARAGRAPH 1: The aggregate number of shares which the
corporation is authorized to issue is 50,100,000, divided into two

classes.  The designation of each class, the number of shares of each
class, and the par value, if any, of the shares of each class, or a

statement that the shares of any class are without par value, are as
follows:

Class Series (if any)Number of
Shares

Par value per share or
statement that shares are
without value

Preferred To be issued
in series

100,000 Without par value

Common None 50,000,000 Without par value

F-1
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